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Net Sales
$2.04 billion
73% North America
20% International
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*Excluding restructuring and other charges. See table on page 20.
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O U R S T R AT E G I E S

Gro, Excel, Win
Since 1868, our success at The Scotts Company has been rooted in an
unwavering commitment to helping homeowners create healthy, weed-free
lawns and beautiful gardens. Their trust in our brands has helped us grow
the overall lawn and garden category and capture most of that growth.
As we look to the future, we strive to take Scotts to the next level of performance. We will do that by executing a strategy captured in just three
words: Gro, Excel, Win.
We will Gro by …
• Focusing on our core business
• Extending our reach into new markets
• Providing products for garden-inspired lifestyles
• Using knowledge about consumers to better serve their needs
We will Excel by…
• Developing a high-performance culture
• Driving innovation in all areas
• Forging stronger relationships with our retail partners
• Strengthening our infrastructure
• Demonstrating corporate responsibility
We will Win by …
• Creating a dynamic, productive workplace
• Increasing our market share
• Enhancing shareholder value
• Making a positive difference in our communities
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Dear Shareholder,
Gathering my thoughts to write this letter has never been more gratifying than it is this year – one in which
The Scotts Company continued to demonstrate the power of its brands, the passion of its people and the
prospects for its long-term growth. Like any year,fiscal 2004 presented a series of challenges for our business,
but we overcame them to report records in sales, adjusted earnings, free cash flow and customer service.

We also crossed a major milestone. Ten years after the merger

the theme of this year’s Annual Report. At The Scotts

of Scotts and Miracle-Gro, sales exceeded $2 billion for the

Company, we strive to “GroExcellence” in everything we do.

first time. Today we are nearly three times larger, five times
more profitable and enjoy a market capitalization that is 400
percent higher than a decade ago.

We will continue leveraging our strengths to further grow
our core business in North America, which has never been
stronger. We will extend our reach with Scotts LawnService.

During the past decade, we also invested significantly in

We also will expand into new categories with our entry into the

expanding our infrastructure, improving our technology

patio living segment of the lawn and garden industry, a move

systems, strengthening our sales force and supporting our

made possible by our recent acquisition of Smith & Hawken.

brands with advertising.
Indeed, Scotts is stronger than ever and better positioned to
We remain on the march.

succeed, which gives me confidence in our prospects for 2005
and beyond. Before providing details, let me share a brief

As one of the architects of the merger and as a major share-

overview of our results in 2004.

holder, I believe that the next decade holds even greater promise.
Our focus on making good on this promise is summarized in

2004 – The Year in Review
Fiscal 2004 was an outstanding year in most areas of our
business, and one in which the strength of our team and the
diversity our business – both in terms of products and
geography – were critical to our success.
Our record results were driven mainly by the strength of our
core North American business, which saw an increase in
consumer purchases at major retailers of 7 percent. Every
business unit posted strong growth, led by Ortho where
response to new product offerings and marketing programs
resulted in a 16 percent improvement in consumer purchases.
Purchases of lawn fertilizers increased 5 percent, although the
results were even stronger in fast-growing Southern markets.
We continued to see the strength of the Miracle-Gro brand in
the growing media category as consumer purchases of
premium products increased 25 percent.
Scotts LawnService® also regained its momentum with an
unwavering focus on customer service. That focus resulted in
record levels of customer retention as well as a 22 percent
increase in revenue and a 56 percent improvement in
operating income.
In both North America and Scotts LawnService, we completed
our efforts to establish both deeper and stronger management
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teams. That leadership not only was important in 2004, but

value-added growing media products like Miracle-Gro®

will be key to our ongoing success as well.

Garden Soil and Scotts LawnSoil®

Performance in our International business fell short of

• Maintaining the momentum in Scotts LawnService®.

expectations. Implementation of a new technology platform

Acquisitions will again be part of our strategy. Also, we

and a SKU rationalization effort led to product availability

expect our improved marketing efforts and dedication to

problems early in the year, which were compounded by a late

customer service will result in further growth in 2005.

break to the gardening season. We remain focused on

• Improved profitability in Europe. As we complete our

improving our International business but are taking a

three-year International Growth and Integration Plan,

conservative approach to setting future expectations. Scotts is

which included the installation of a new enterprise resource

currently reviewing all of its strategic options related to the

planning system, we expect to take costs out of the oper-

future of this business in our portfolio.

ation and achieve synergies in supply chain and elsewhere.

Our 2004 efforts resulted in a company-wide sales increase of

These efforts will help us achieve results that are consistent with

8 percent. Adjusted net income, which excludes $45 million

our long-term goal to grow company-wide sales 5 to 7 percent

in refinancing fees as well as other restructuring costs,

and to grow adjusted net income by 10 to 12 percent.

improved by 18 percent, well above our initial projections.
Return on invested capital improved once again and stood at

GroExcellence…Our Commitment

9.5 percent at year-end.

As we said on Page 1 of this report, our strategy at Scotts is

Additionally, we had significant improvements in free cash
flow, allowing us to accelerate the repayment of debt in an
ongoing effort to continue strengthening our financial

summarized by three powerful words – Gro, Excel and Win.
We are driven to succeed every day, and the passion of our
associates is apparent to anyone who meets us.

position. In fact, we reduced our average net debt by over

The theme of this report – GroExcellence – is the same message

$100 million, leading to improvement in both our leverage

being conveyed to each of our 7,000 associates. Each of us is

and interest coverage ratios.

encouraged to think like owners in our daily jobs, and we are
providing new incentives to our associates that makes it

Building on Our Success

easier for them to be owners as well.

Scotts’ overall success in 2004 gives the Company tremendous
momentum. We have built a strong team whose experience in

Why? Because we take seriously the ‘contract’ we have with

consumer products is driving positive change. We are leveraging

our shareholders. We are committed to running our business

investments in technology and infrastructure that provides an

with a constant eye toward improving economic value and

unrivaled competitive advantage in the marketplace.

driving return on invested capital.

The strength of our retail partnerships also continues to

We have come a long way since Scotts and Miracle-Gro

improve. The combination of our industry-leading sales force,

joined forces. But Scotts is not a company that dwells on past

marketing team and supply chain is helping our retail

success. Our success going forward will be based on what we

partners experience continued growth in their lawn and

do tomorrow, not what we accomplished yesterday.

garden departments and at higher margins.

Can we do more? Can we continue GroExcellence in a way

There are several initiatives that will be the focus of our
attention in 2005 that I believe will result in another year of

that drives value for our shareholders?
Yes. Just watch and see.

record results. Among them:
• Continued improvement in the Ortho® brand driven by

Sincerely,

improved packaging and support for our Home Defense®
and Weed B Gon® products.
• Innovative and region-specific product offerings in our
lawn fertilizer and grass seed businesses – such as Turf
Builder® plus Fire Ant Killer – that are designed to meet

James Hagedorn
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
The Scotts Company
December 10, 2004

the specific needs of homeowners in those geographies.
• Increased advertising and in-store focus on high-margin,
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Gro the Core
Scotts has earned the trust of millions of consumers when it
comes to creating a healthy, weed-free lawn and a beautiful
garden. That translates into brands that are industry-leading in
their categories. We are proud of the success we have had in
our core business and our track record of enhancing shareholder
value. But with creative advertising, improved marketing,
innovative products and a sound strategic plan, we believe we
have just begun to tap the potential of these powerful brands.
North America Sales
(in millions of dollars)
1,483
1,389
1,312
1,271

01

02

03

04

The core North America
portfolio of brands has
historically achieved
consistent growth.
Products in this business
include lawn fertilizers,
grass seed, plant food,
soils, weed and insect
controls and durables.

Scotts Associate Jeff Kwiatkowski
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In overwhelming numbers, consumers turn to The Scotts Company when they
consider which products to use for their lawn and garden needs. Consumer awareness
of our brands is as high as most other consumer brands in America and significantly
higher than our competitors.
We drive that awareness with an annual investment in advertising of nearly $100
million. More than just knowing us, consumers trust us. They know we offer the

Eugene Sung
SVP and
General Manager,
Marketing
“The success we had
in 2004 shows what can
happen by combining
powerful brands with
insightful marketing.
By more clearly
communicating with
consumers and leveraging
our brands, we achieved
a 16 percent increase
in our Ortho® business.
Was it a fluke? We think
we have just scratched
the surface.”

best solutions available to help them create thick, green lawns and beautiful
gardens. And they know that Scotts shares their commitment to maintaining a
healthy environment.
Our recipe for ongoing success relies on our ability to leverage our ever-stronger
relationship with homeowners to achieve three primary goals:
1. Increase household penetration. Even with our industry-leading market
shares, our products are used in fewer than 25 percent of households.
Some of our effort will be focused on developing region-specific products
and marketing programs in areas where we have the greatest potential to
expand our reach.
2. Move consumers up the value chain. We will continue to develop and
market products that make lawn and garden care simpler. Improving sales
of value-added products provides benefits for our consumers, for our retail
partners and, of course, for Scotts.
3. Intensify use of our products. Homeowners enter each spring intent on
creating the best lawn or garden possible. Many start the process but don’t
follow through. Our marketing efforts will work to encourage and educate
homeowners to use products throughout the season – consistent with best
management practices for lawn and garden care – in order to achieve the
results they really want.
The Scotts Company 5

A Sharper Focus in Ortho®
Helping consumers create pest-free lawns and gardens is the foundation of our Controls
business. The Ortho® and Roundup® brands are market leaders in their respective categories.
However, consumer confusion is high in this category, which is populated with dozens of
products on the retail shelf, some with non-descriptive names. Our success is based on
overcoming that confusion with a strategy based on easy-to-understand messages about
easy-to-use products.
This strategy was evident in 2004 when we reported a 16 percent increase in consumer
purchases of Ortho® products.
Our marketing efforts behind Ortho® Season-Long Weed and Grass Killer and Ortho®
Bug B Gon® Max™ conveyed simple and powerful messages. The packaging of these
products was attractive and stood out on the shelf.
In 2005, we will continue to introduce a new look for the rest of the Ortho line. New
packaging for our Home Defense® and Weed B Gon® products will distinguish them from
competitive products on the retail shelf. We also plan to introduce new packaging for
Roundup. Messages for all three products also will convey clear consumer
benefits about both efficacy and ease of use. In addition, we are working
with our retail partners to create point-of-sale displays that help drive sales.

®Roundup is a registered trademark of
Monsanto Technology, LLC.

Continued Growth in Lawns
The Scotts® brand has been trusted by generations of consumers. That trust has propelled
our growth and helped make the Lawns business the largest and most profitable segment
of our product portfolio. But, with all of our success, we know more is possible.
Targeting consumers with geographically specific lawn care needs will be a key
part of our growth strategy. In 2005, we will reach out to consumers in the
southeastern U.S., where lawns are more difficult to maintain and pests pose a
significant problem. New products, including Turf Builder® plus Fire Ant Killer,
Southern Turf Builder® and Scotts Pure Premium® Heat-Tolerant Blue™– a new
variety of grass seed – will be supported with in-store marketing and regional
advertising to drive sales.

6 The Scotts Company

Regardless of geography, timing is often critical in lawn care. Throughout
the country, we will continue to refine the timing of our advertising
messages based on seasonal, geographic and weather-related buying
patterns in a specific area.
Our efforts will also include reminding consumers that feeding their lawn throughout
the season is key to maintaining healthy turf. Communicating the benefits of regular
feeding not only will help consumers create the lawn they want but will be key to
driving our growth.

Growing the Garden Market
Helping homeowners create beautiful gardens is the guiding
principle of the Miracle-Gro® brand. We succeed against this goal
by providing consumers with value-added solutions that help
them create the garden they desire.
Products like Miracle-Gro Potting Mix help them grow bigger,
healthier plants. In 2004, we began to more proactively
communicate the benefits of a recent product offering – Miracle-Gro Potting
Mix with Moisture Control®. By “taking the guesswork out of watering,”
we’ve made it easier than ever to grow a beautiful and healthy plant.
These types of “super value-added” products will continue to be key in
improving our profitability. In 2005, we will be even more proactive in communicating
the benefits of Miracle-Gro Garden Soil as well as Scotts LawnSoil®.
We also remain focused on growing our plant food business with an
emphasis on easy-to-use products. We continue to see double-digit growth
from Miracle-Gro Shake ‘N Feed®, a continuous release plant food that
works for three months. We will broaden our Shake ‘N Feed product
offering in 2005 while continuing to support our water soluble product,
which remains a favorite with millions of dedicated gardeners.
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Extending Our Reach
with Scotts LawnService®
The Scotts name is synonymous with trusted brands and
exceptional results in lawn and garden care. We will harness the
power and recognition of our brands to fuel future growth.
Scotts LawnService is a good example. In just six years since it
was created, Scotts LawnService has grown to the No. 2 player in
its industry, with significant potential for long-term growth.

Scotts LawnService
Historical Growth
Revenue (in millions of dollars)
135
110
76
41
14
99

21

00

01

02

03

04

(reported net sales excludes franchise revenue)

In just six years, Scotts
LawnService has grown
to a $135 million business
and the No. 2 player in
the lawn service industry.

Scotts LawnService Associate Quinton Sellers
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The success of Scotts LawnService starts with the premise of forming a true
partnership with each homeowner to help them achieve a beautiful lawn. Since its
inception in 1998, Scotts LawnService has grown to a $135 million business and is
now the No. 2 player in the $3.6 billion lawn service industry, servicing customers
in more than 140 markets, including 73 of the top 100 lawn service markets.
By communicating the promise of a great lawn and leveraging the power of the
Scotts brand, the award-winning direct marketing efforts at Scotts LawnService
resulted in record increases in the number of new customers in 2004. Once we
attracted new customers, we did a better job of retaining them for the entire
lawn care season.
New compensation programs provided associates at all levels with financial
incentives directly linked to delivering the best customer service possible, not
just driving growth. That focus resulted in record customer retention levels in
fiscal 2004. As a result, revenue increased 22 percent during the year, and
operating profits improved 56 percent.

Tim Portland
SVP,
Scotts LawnService
“We don’t want customers
to view us only as a
service provider but as
a partner dedicated to
helping them achieve
what they really

Nearly anyone can service a lawn. It takes a serious
commitment, however, to help homeowners create
the lawn they really want. Our emphasis on customer
service led to success in this high-margin business
during 2004 and demonstrates why we believe
Scotts LawnService is poised to be an engine for
long-term growth.

want – an outstanding
lawn and landscape. By
establishing this
partnership with each of
our customers, operating
profits and retention
rates can continue to
climb. That is how we
will deliver long-term
success in our business.”
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The addition of the Smith
& Hawken brand is a foray
into the $25 billion Outdoor
Living market, providing
potential for Scotts to

Providing Products for
Garden-inspired Lifestyles

expand into adjacent lawn
and garden categories.

At Scotts, our goal is to provide products that help our consumers

Today’s Core

Lawn & Garden Consumables
$4.4 billion

enjoy a “garden-inspired lifestyle.” We know a healthy lawn and
B

A

successful garden do more than just look good – they instill a sense
of pride and well-being into our everyday lives. Smith & Hawken®,
the newest addition to our portfolio of brands, offers an

C
D
A
B
C
D

Controls
Lawns
Growing Media
Plant Food

opportunity for Scotts to continue moving toward this goal … and
inspire gardeners everywhere.

Future: Core + Adjacencies
Outdoor Living
$25 billion

Today’s
Core
(Above)

Smith & Hawken Categories
include: Hoses/Watering,
Pottery, Outdoor Furniture,
Water Gardening, Live Goods,
Garden Tools, Wild Bird and
Outdoor Accessories
Other Categories include:
Grilling, Outdoor Heating and
Outdoor Lighting
• Source: 2003 National Gardening Survey
and Internal Estimates.

Smith & Hawken Associate Kristie Moore
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Gardening today is about much more than tending to flowers and maintaining a
beautiful lawn – it’s about a lifestyle. Consumers are embracing “patio living” by
incorporating gardening themes into their everyday lives, both indoors and outdoors.
Our recent acquisition of Smith & Hawken has Scotts well-positioned to take
advantage of this growing trend.
With an upscale offering of outdoor furniture, pottery, live goods, garden tools and

Barry Gilbert
SVP and
General Manager,
Smith & Hawken
“Patio living is an
emerging trend that will
continue to become more
popular. We will create
a winning formula by
combining our exciting
and innovative Smith &
Hawken products with
Scotts expertise in
marketing and distribution.
This combination will
allow us to take this
brand to new heights.”

watering accessories, Smith & Hawken is the premier brand in the fast-growing

patio-living category. Today, Smith & Hawken products are sold through its network
of 58 retail stores as well as its catalog and Internet businesses. Our long-term goal
is to expand the reach of the Smith & Hawken brand, taking it to more consumers
through additional channels of retail.
Our retail partners know that patio living has the potential to be a significant segment
for them. To maximize that potential, they are looking for a partner with a strong
brand as well as the supply chain and sales force to support it. We offer that potential.
Strategically, Smith & Hawken is a perfect match with Scotts’ broader long-term
strategy to expand beyond our core business into adjacent categories of lawn and
garden. We will continue to explore adjacent categories that offer us
the chance to leverage our competitive strengths.
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Strengthening
Our Infrastructure
Our ability to help our retail partners maximize their lawn
and garden departments is unrivaled in our industry. Scotts
has invested hundreds of millions of dollars in supply chain
improvements, technology and sales support to become uniquely
qualified to meet that challenge. These significant investments
have created a competitive advantage that we will continue to
leverage to increase retailers’ returns as well as our own.
Product Fill Rate
97.5% 97.6%

98.2%

92.5%

01

02

03

04

Fill rates have increased
substantially as Scotts
continues to evolve into
a world-class supplier.

Scotts Associate Jose Araica
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One of our greatest competitive
advantages is the relationship we enjoy
with our retail partners. The strength of
those relationships is not an accident. Scotts has invested hundreds of millions of
dollars in supply chain improvements and other technology that give us better
insight into our business. We invested in expanded manufacturing capacity that
gives us flexibility to meet peak seasonal demands.
As a result of our investments, Scotts continues to increase its inventory turns
with even more improvements on the horizon. Our retail partners also have more
effectively managed their inventory – and improved their overall returns – thanks
to our investments.
Our sales force and in-store counselors are also competitive advantages for Scotts.
Scotts associates provide consumer support on weekends during the peak season in
more than 2,600 stores owned by some of our largest retail partners. They provide a
unique opportunity to listen to the consumer and drive profitability.

Barry Sanders
SVP and General
Manager, Business
Operations/Global
Supply Chain
“Our ability to leverage
our sales force and
supply chain – to serve
our retail partners better

Customer support occurs outside of the stores as well. Scotts has established
business development teams in the headquarter city of each major retail partner we
serve. These offices are staffed by marketing, finance, sales and supply chain experts
who provide support in helping our retailers improve the productivity of their
overall lawn and garden department.

than anyone else – is a
significant competitive
advantage. It has
made us a leader in
the industry. We will
continue to use that
advantage to strengthen
our retail relationships
and increase returns.”
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Living a
High-performance Culture
Scotts associates are passionate about what they do. We are
continuing to win in the marketplace by channeling that passion
into a common goal. By reinforcing a high-performance
culture, our team is aligned with our long-term strategic
vision. By working together we are focused on making sure
that everyone wins … associates, retailers, customers and
shareholders alike.

Demonstrating
GroExcellence, Scotts
associates proudly
work together to
outperform the
competition and
lead the lawn and
garden industry.

Scotts Associates Angie Gray-Edwards, Scott Thompson, Kathleen Lee and Jeff VanDeursen
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Every Scotts associate plays an important role in helping us achieve our strategic
goals. We are working to reinforce the attributes we believe are necessary to sustain
a high-performance culture and ensure our long-term success.
There are few companies anywhere with a heritage as rich as ours. The evolution of
Scotts, from a tiny seed grower in 1868 to a $2 billion international marketer of
industry-leading brands, is the result of a commitment to innovation and customer
service that is unmatched in our industry.

Denise Stump
EVP, Global Human
Resources
“A good company cannot
evolve into a great one
without supporting a
high-performance culture.
We have such a culture
at Scotts – one that is
aligned with our strategic
imperative to think like
owners, grow our
business and enhance
shareholder value.”

By combining the passion of our associates and the power of our brands, we believe
Scotts can continue winning in the marketplace for years to come. But to succeed, it
is critical that all associates work toward a common goal and shared vision. We also
must personify the culture we have created as we all strive to be:
Passionate

Flexible

Innovative

Collaborative

Accountable

Ethical

These attributes not only define who we are, but are
incorporated in everything we do. And they are core to our

The STAR Award logo (left)

constant desire to GroExcellence in everything we do.

This award recognizes associates who
go above and beyond their normal job
responsibilities to create value for The
Scotts Company. This award is one part
of how we recognize high performance
in our GroExcellence culture.

The Scotts Company 15

Leadership Team

Board of Directors

James Hagedorn

Mark R. Baker

Karen G. Mills

President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board

President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director,
Gander Mountain Company
Outdoor retailer

Managing Director and Founder,
Solera Capital
Private equity firm

Joined Scotts in 1995
Present office since 2001

Michael P. Kelty, Ph.D.
Vice Chairman and
Executive Vice President
Joined Scotts in 1979
Present office since 2001

David M. Aronowitz
Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary
Joined Scotts in 1998
Present office since 2001

Robert F. Bernstock
Executive Vice President and
President, North America
Joined Scotts in 2003
Present office since 2003

Christopher L. Nagel
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Joined Scotts in 1998
Present office since 2003

Denise S. Stump
Executive Vice President
Global Human Resources
Joined Scotts in 2000
Present office since 2002

Member of both Governance and Nominating and
Compensation and Organization Committees
Board member since 2004

Lynn J. Beasley
President and Chief Operating Officer,
R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company
Cigarette manufacturer
Member of both Governance and Nominating
and Compensation and Organization Committees
Board member since 2003

Patrick J. Norton
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer (retired),
The Scotts Company
Member of Finance Committee
Board member since 1998

Stephanie M. Shern
Gordon F. Brunner
Chief Technology Officer (retired),
The Procter & Gamble Company
Manufacturer of family, personal and
household care products
Chair of Innovation & Technology Committee

Founder,
Shern Associates LLC
Retail consulting and business
advisory firm
Chair of Audit Committee
Board member since 2003

and Member of Audit Committee
Board member since 2003

John M. Sullivan

Arnold W. Donald

Independent director for
several companies

Chairman,
Merisant Company
Seller of health, nutritional
and lifestyle products
Member of both Finance and
Compensation and Organization Committees
Board member since 2000

Joseph P. Flannery
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board,
Uniroyal Holding, Inc.
Investment management company
Chair of Compensation and
Organization Committee
Board member since 1987

James Hagedorn
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board,
The Scotts Company
Board member since 1995

Katherine Hagedorn Littlefield
Chair,
Hagedorn Partnership, L.P.
Private investment partnership
Member of both Finance and
Innovation & Technology Committees
Board member since 2000
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Chair of Governance and Nominating
Committee and Member of Compensation
and Organization Committee
Board member since 1994

Member of both Audit and Governance
and Nominating Committees
Board member since 1994

John Walker, Ph.D.
Chairman,
Advent International plc, Europe
Private equity management company
Chair of Finance Committee
Board member since 1998
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Five Year Summary
For the fiscal year ended September 30,
(in millions, except per share amounts)

OPERATING RESULTS:
Net sales
Gross proﬁt(2)
Income from operations(2)
Net income from continuing operations(3)
Income applicable to common
shareholders
Depreciation and amortization
FINANCIAL POSITION:
Working capital
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total assets
Total debt
Total shareholders’ equity
CASH FLOWS:
Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Investments in property, plant and
equipment
Cash invested in acquisitions, including
payments on seller notes
RATIOS:
Operating margin
Current ratio
Total debt to total book capitalization
Return on average shareholders’ equity
(book value)
PER SHARE DATA:
Basic earnings per common share(4)
Diluted earnings per common share(4)
Stock price to diluted earnings per share,
end of period
Stock price at year-end
Stock price range — High
Stock price range — Low
OTHER:
EBITDA(5)
EBITDA margin(5)
Interest coverage (EBITDA/interest
expense)(5)
Average common shares outstanding
Common shares used in diluted earnings
per common share calculation
Dividends on Class A Convertible Preferred
Stock

2004

2003

2002

2001(1)

2000

$ 2,037.9
769.7
252.8
100.5

$1,887.7
688.9
231.6
103.2

$ 1,723.7
633.2
238.4
100.5

$1,644.8
592.8
113.4
13.9

$1,630.3
598.0
204.9
69.8

100.9
57.7

103.8
52.2

82.5
43.5

15.5
63.6

66.7
61.0

396.7
328.0
2,047.8
630.6
874.6

364.4
338.2
2,030.3
757.6
728.2

278.3
329.2
1,914.1
829.4
593.9

249.1
310.7
1,854.8
887.8
506.2

234.1
290.5
1,771.0
862.8
477.9

214.2

216.1

238.9

65.7

171.5

35.1

51.8

57.0

63.4

72.5

20.5

57.1

63.0

37.6

19.3

12.4%
1.9
41.9%

12.3%
1.8
51.0%

13.8%
1.6
58.3%

6.9%
1.5
63.7%

12.6%
1.6
64.3%

12.6%

15.7%

15.0%

3.1%

14.5%

$

$

3.12
3.03

$

3.36
3.23

$

2.81
2.61

$

0.55
0.51

$

2.39
2.25

21.2
64.15
68.55
55.25

16.9
54.70
57.70
43.54

16.0
41.69
50.35
34.45

66.9
34.10
47.10
28.88

14.9
33.50
42.00
29.44

310.5
15.2%

283.8
15.0%

281.9
16.4%

177.0
10.8%

265.9
16.3%

3.3
32.3

4.1
30.9

3.7
29.3

2.0
28.4

2.8
27.9

33.3

32.1

31.7

30.4

29.6

0.0

$

0.0

$

0.0

$

0.0

$

6.4

NOTE: Prior year presentations have been changed to conform to ﬁscal 2004 presentation; these changes
did not impact net income.
(1) Includes Substral˛ brand acquired from Henkel KGaA from January 2001.
(2) Income from operations for ﬁscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 includes $9.7, $17.1, $8.1 and $75.7 of
restructuring and other charges, respectively. Gross proﬁt for ﬁscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001
includes $0.6, $9.1, $1.7 and $7.3 of restructuring and other charges, respectively.
(3) Includes costs related to reﬁnancings of $45.5 million.

18

(4) Basic and diluted earnings per share would have been as follows if the accounting change for
intangible assets adopted in the ﬁscal year beginning October 1, 2001, had been adopted as of
October 1, 1999:
For the ﬁscal
year ended
September 30,
2001
2000
Income available to common shareholders
$32.1
$83.4
Basic earnings per share
1.13
2.98
Diluted earnings per share
1.05
2.81
(5) EBITDA is deﬁned as income from operations, plus depreciation and amortization. We believe that
EBITDA provides additional information for determining our ability to meet debt service requirements.
EBITDA does not represent and should not be considered as an alternative to net income or cash ﬂow
from operations as determined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, and EBITDA does not necessarily indicate whether cash ﬂow will be sufﬁcient to meet cash
requirements. EBITDA margin is calculated as EBITDA divided into net sales. Our measure of EBITDA,
which may not be similar to other similarly titled captions used by other companies, excludes
$24.9 million of cash expenses related to the reﬁnancings of the Company’s credit facility and
redemption of the Company’s 85/8% subordinated notes in ﬁscal 2004. These expenses have been
excluded since they are deemed to be ﬁnancing related costs that are typically excluded from the
presentation of EBITDA and the deﬁnitions used by our lenders to evaluate the Company’s compliance
with its debt agreements. A numeric reconciliation of EBITDA to income from operations is as follows:
For the ﬁscal year ended September 30,
2004
2003
2002
2001
2000
Income from operations
Depreciation and amortization

$252.8
57.7

$ 231.6
52.2

$238.4
43.5

$ 113.4
63.6

$204.9
61.0

EBITDA

$310.5

$283.8

$281.9

$177.0

$265.9

19

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Disclosure Items

This table is part of The Scotts Company 2004 Annual Report (the ‘‘Annual Report’’). The Annual
Report includes ﬁnancial charts and a letter from James Hagedorn, President, Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and
Chairman of the Board, to The Scotts Company’s shareholders. Some of the charts and Mr. Hagedorn’s
letter include non-GAAP ﬁnancial measures, as deﬁned in SEC Regulation G, of adjusted net income and
adjusted diluted earnings per share excluding costs or gains for discrete projects or transactions related to
the closure, downsizing or divestiture of certain operations that are apart from and not indicative of the
results of operations of the business, costs incurred to reﬁnance the long-term debt of The Scotts
Company, peat bog income, environmental charge, and impairment write-off, net of tax. The comparable
GAAP measures are reported net income and reported diluted earnings per share. A reconciliation of the
GAAP to the non-GAAP measures for the applicable years follows:

The Scotts Company
Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Disclosure Items for the Twelve
Months Ended September 30, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(in millions, except per share data)

Twelve Months Ended September 30,
2004
2003
2002
2001
Net income (loss) *****************************************
Restructuring and other charges, net of tax *****************
Debt reﬁnancing charges, net of tax ***********************
Other charges, net of tax ********************************

$100.9
6.1
28.3

Adjusted net income **************************************

$ 135.3

$ 114.7

$104.3

$ 63.7

Diluted earnings per share *********************************
Restructuring and other charges, net of tax *****************
Debt reﬁnancing charges, net of tax ***********************
Other charges, net of tax ********************************

$ 3.03
0.18
0.85

$ 3.23
0.34
—

$ 2.61
0.15

$ 0.51
1.59
—

Adjusted diluted earnings per share *************************

$ 4.06
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$103.8
10.9
—

$ 82.5
4.9

$ 15.5
48.2

16.9

0.53
$ 3.57

$ 3.29

$ 2.10

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Executive Summary
Scotts is the leading manufacturer and marketer of consumer branded products for lawn and garden
care and professional horticulture in the United States and Europe. We also have a presence in Canada,
Australia, the Far East, Latin America and South America. Also, in the United States, we operate the
second largest residential lawn service business, Scotts LawnService˛. In ﬁscal 2004, our operations were
divided into three business segments: North America, Scotts LawnService˛, and International. The North
America segment includes the Lawns, Gardening Products, Ortho˛, North America Professional and
Canadian business groups. We are also Monsanto’s exclusive agent for the marketing and distribution of
consumer Roundup˛ non-selective herbicide within the United States and other contractually speciﬁed
countries.
In ﬁscal 2004, we continued the rapid expansion of our Scotts LawnService˛ business. Through
acquisitions and internal growth, revenues increased from approximately $42 million in ﬁscal 2001 to over
$135 million in ﬁscal 2004. We invested approximately $4 million of capital in lawn care acquisitions in
ﬁscal 2004 and expect to continue to make selective acquisitions in ﬁscal 2005 and beyond. In addition,
we invested approximately $5.2 million to buyout the minority owners in the Scotts LawnService˛
business.
As a leading consumer branded lawn and garden company, we focus our consumer marketing efforts,
including advertising and consumer research, on creating consumer demand to pull products through the
retail distribution channels. In the past three years, we have spent approximately 5% of our net sales
annually on media advertising to support and promote our products and brands. We have applied this
consumer marketing focus for the past several years, and we believe that Scotts receives a signiﬁcant
return on these marketing expenditures. We expect that we will continue to focus our marketing efforts
toward the consumer and make additional targeted investments in consumer marketing expenditures in the
future to continue to drive market share and sales growth. In ﬁscal 2005, we expect to increase advertising
spending as we deliver a new media message for Ortho˛, lawns, Miracle-Gro˛, and Roundup˛ on new
products.
Our sales are susceptible to global weather conditions. For instance, periods of wet weather like we
experienced in the spring of 2003 in the United States could adversely impact sales of certain products,
while increasing demand for other products. We believe that our past acquisitions have somewhat
diversiﬁed both our product line risk and geographic risk to weather conditions.
Historically, the majority of our shipments to retailers have occurred in the second and third ﬁscal
quarters. However, over the past few years, retailers have reduced their pre-season inventories by relying
on Scotts to deliver products ‘‘in season’’ when consumers seek to buy our products. This change in
retailer purchasing patterns and the increasing importance of Scotts LawnService˛ revenues has caused a
sales shift from our second ﬁscal quarter to the third and fourth ﬁscal quarters. Net sales by quarter were
8.9%, 35.5%, 37.7%, and 17.9%, respectively, of ﬁscal 2004 net sales. Concurrent with this sales shift,
and because of the expansion of Scotts LawnService˛, the Company has experienced a shift in proﬁtability
from the second to third and fourth ﬁscal quarters, with the third ﬁscal quarter now more proﬁtable than
the second ﬁscal quarter. The Company’s fourth ﬁscal quarter, historically a loss making quarter, improved
in ﬁscal 2004.
Beginning in ﬁscal 2003, the Company began expensing prospective grants of employee stock-based
compensation awards in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’’, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an Amendment of
SFAS No. 123’’. The fair value of future awards is being expensed ratably over the vesting period, which
has historically been three years, except for grants to directors, which have a six-month vesting period. The
related compensation expense recorded in ﬁscal 2004 and 2003 was $7.8 million and $4.8 million,
respectively.
In ﬁscal 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.’’ This standard eliminates the requirement to amortize indeﬁnite-lived assets and
goodwill. It also requires an initial impairment test on all indeﬁnite-lived assets as of the date of adoption
of this standard and impairment tests done at least annually thereafter. We completed our initial
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impairment analysis in the second quarter of ﬁscal 2002, taking into account additional guidance provided
by EITF 02-07, ‘‘Unit of Measure for Testing Impairment of Indeﬁnite-Lived Intangible Assets.’’ As a result, a
pre-tax impairment charge related to the value of tradenames in our German, French and United Kingdom
consumer businesses of $29.8 million was recorded as of October 1, 2001. After income taxes, the net
charge was $18.5 million which was recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
There was no goodwill impairment as of the date of adoption. Upon completing the annual impairment
analysis in the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2004, it was determined that a charge for impairment was not
required.
In ﬁscal 2002, we announced the International Proﬁt Improvement Plan (the ‘‘Plan’’) to improve the
operations and proﬁtability of our European-based consumer and professional businesses. By the end of
2005, we anticipate spending between $45 million and $50 million in the aggregate on various projects
related to this plan, approximately 25% of which will be capital expenditures. Approximately 75% of the
total spending relates to the reorganization and rationalization of our European supply chain, increased
sales force productivity, and a shift to pan-European category management of our product portfolio. As
part of this initiative, restructuring and other charges will be incurred at various times.
Under the Plan, proﬁtability has improved, but the International business continues to perform below
expectations. As such, we are exploring all options for our International business, with the goal of
improving shareholder value. For further information concerning the restructuring charges incurred in ﬁscal
years 2004, 2003 and 2002, see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following discussion and analysis of the consolidated results of operations and ﬁnancial position
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.
Our discussion and analysis of our ﬁnancial condition and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated ﬁnancial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these ﬁnancial statements requires
us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate
our estimates, including those related to customer programs and incentives, product returns, bad debts,
inventories, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring, environmental matters, contingencies and
litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. The estimates that we believe are most critical to our reporting of
results of operations and ﬁnancial position are as follows:
) We have signiﬁcant investments in property and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill.
Whenever changing conditions warrant, we review the realizability of the assets that may be
affected. At least annually, we review indeﬁnite-lived intangible assets for impairment. The review
for impairment of long-lived assets, intangibles and goodwill takes into account estimates of future
cash ﬂows. Our estimates of future cash ﬂows are based upon budgets and longer-range plans.
These budgets and plans are used for internal purposes and are also the basis for communication
with outside parties about future business trends. While we believe the assumptions we use to
estimate future cash ﬂows are reasonable, there can be no assurance that the expected future cash
ﬂows will be realized. As a result, impairment charges that possibly should have been recognized in
earlier periods may not be recognized until later periods if actual results deviate unfavorably from
earlier estimates.
) We continually assess the adequacy of our reserves for uncollectible accounts due from customers.
However, future changes in our customers’ operating performance and cash ﬂows or in general
economic conditions could have an impact on their ability to fully pay these amounts which could
have a material impact on our operating results.
) Reserves for product returns are based upon historical data and current program terms and
conditions with our customers. Changes in economic conditions, regulatory actions or defective
products could result in actual returns being materially different than the amounts provided for in
our interim or annual results of operations.
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) Reserves for excess and obsolete inventory are based on a variety of factors, including product
changes and improvements, changes in active ingredient availability and regulatory acceptance, new
product introductions and estimated future demand. The adequacy of our reserves could be
materially affected by changes in the demand for our products or regulatory actions.
) As described more fully in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we are involved in
signiﬁcant environmental and legal matters which have a high degree of uncertainty associated with
them. We continually assess the likely outcomes of these matters and the adequacy of amounts, if
any, provided for these matters. There can be no assurance that the ultimate outcomes will not
differ materially from our assessment of them. There can also be no assurance that all matters that
may be brought against us or that we may bring against other parties are known to us at any point
in time.
) We accrue for the estimated costs of customer volume rebates, cooperative advertising, consumer
coupons and other trade programs as the related sales occur during the year. These accruals
involve the use of estimates as to the total expected program costs and the expected sales levels.
Historical results are also used to evaluate the accuracy and adequacy of amounts provided at
interim dates and year end. There can be no assurance that actual amounts paid for these trade
programs will not differ from estimated amounts accrued.
) We record income tax liabilities utilizing known obligations and estimates of potential obligations. A
deferred tax asset or liability is recognized whenever there are future tax effects from existing
temporary differences and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Valuation allowances are
used to reduce deferred tax assets to the balance that is more likely than not to be realized. We
must make estimates and judgments on future taxable income, considering feasible tax planning
strategies and taking into account existing facts and circumstances, to determine the proper
valuation allowance. When we determine that deferred tax assets could be realized in greater or
lesser amounts than recorded, the asset balance and income statement reﬂects the change in the
period such determination is made. Due to changes in facts and circumstances and the estimates
and judgments that are involved in determining the proper valuation allowance, differences between
actual future events and prior estimates and judgments could result in adjustments to this
valuation allowance. The Company uses an estimate of its annual effective tax rate at each interim
period based on the facts and circumstances available at that time, while the actual effective tax
rate is calculated at year-end.
) As described more fully in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have not accrued
the deferred contribution under the Roundup˛ marketing agreement with Monsanto or the per
annum charges thereon. We consider this method of accounting for the contribution payments to be
appropriate after consideration of the likely term of the agreement, our ability to terminate the
agreement without paying the deferred amounts, and the fact that a signiﬁcant portion of the
deferred amount is never paid, even if the agreement is not terminated prior to 2018, unless
signiﬁcant earnings targets are exceeded. At September 30, 2004, contribution payments and
related per annum charges of approximately $47.6 million had been deferred under the agreement.
) The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements provide information about our retirement plans
including information regarding costs and assumptions for employee retirement beneﬁts. The
measurement of our pension obligations and costs is dependent on a variety of assumptions used
in the actuarial valuations. These assumptions include estimates of the present value of projected
future pension payments to all plan participants, taking into consideration the likelihood of
potential future events such as salary increases and demographic experience. The assumptions
used in developing the required estimates include the following key factors:
) Discount rates
) Salary growth
) Retirement and termination rates
) Expected return on plan assets
) Mortality rates
Assumptions are reviewed annually for appropriateness and updated as necessary. We base the
discount rate assumption on investment yields available at year-end on corporate long-term bonds
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rated AA or the equivalent. The salary growth assumption reﬂects our long-term actual experience,
the near-term outlook and assumed inﬂation. The expected return on plan assets assumption
reﬂects asset allocation, investment strategy and the views of investment managers regarding the
market. Retirement and mortality rates are based primarily on actual and expected plan experience.
The effects of actual results differing from our assumptions are accumulated and amortized over
future periods and, therefore, generally affect our recognized expense in such future periods.
Changes in the discount rate and investment returns can have a signiﬁcant effect on the funded
status of our pension plans and shareholders’ equity. As stated above, we base the discount rate
assumption on investment yields available at year-end on corporate long-term bonds rated AA or
the equivalent. We cannot predict these bond yields or investment returns and, therefore, cannot
reasonably estimate whether adjustments to our shareholders’ equity for minimum pension liability
in subsequent years will be signiﬁcant.
) The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provide information about medical beneﬁts
provided to our retired associates and their dependents including information regarding costs and
assumptions for other postretirement beneﬁts. The measurement of our obligations, costs and
liabilities associated with other postretirement beneﬁts (i.e., retiree health care) requires that we
make use of estimates of the present value of the projected future payments to all participants,
taking into consideration the likelihood of potential future events such as health care cost
increases, and demographic experience, which may have an effect on the amount and timing of
future payments.
The assumptions used in developing the required estimates include the following key factors:
) Health care cost trends
) Discount rates
) Retirement rates
) Inﬂation
) Mortality rates
) Turnover
) Participation rates
Our health care cost trend assumptions are developed based on historical cost data, the near-term
outlook, efﬁciencies and other cost-mitigation actions (including further employee cost sharing,
administrative improvements and other efﬁciencies) and an assessment of likely long-term trends.
We base the discount rate assumption on investment yields available at year-end on corporate longterm bonds rated AA. Our inﬂation assumption is based on an evaluation of external market
indicators. Retirement and mortality rates are based primarily on actual plan experience. The effects
of actual results differing from our assumptions are accumulated and amortized over future periods
and, therefore, generally affect our recognized expense in such future periods.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the components of income and expense as a percentage of net sales for
the three years ended September 30, 2004:

Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring and other charges
Gross proﬁt
Commission earned from marketing
agreement, net
Selling, general and administrative
Selling, general and administrative —
lawn service business
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring and other charges
Advertising
Amortization of goodwill and other
intangibles
Other income, net
Income from operations
Costs related to reﬁnancings
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued
operations
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting for intangible assets, net
of tax
Net income

2004

2003

2002

100.0%
62.2
0.0
37.8

100.0%
63.0
0.5
36.5

100.0%
63.2
0.1
36.7

(1.4)
18.1

(0.9)
17.0

(0.9)
17.2

2.8
0.4
0.4
5.2

2.4
0.2
0.4
5.2

1.8
0.4
4.8

0.4
(0.5)
12.4
2.2
2.4
7.8
2.8
5.0

0.5
(0.6)
12.3

0.3
(0.7)
13.8

3.7
8.6
3.1
5.5

4.4
9.4
3.6
5.8

5.5%

(1.0)
4.8%

5.0%

The following table sets forth net sales by reportable segment for the three years ended
September 30, 2004 (in millions):

North America
Scotts LawnService˛
International
Consolidated

2004

2003

2002

$1,483.2
135.2
419.5
$2,037.9

$1,388.9
110.4
388.4
$1,887.7

$ 1,311.9
75.6
336.2
$1,723.7

Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003

Net sales for ﬁscal 2004 increased 8.0% to $2,037.9 million from $1,887.7 million in ﬁscal 2003.
North America segment net sales were $1,483.2 million in ﬁscal 2004, an increase of $94.3 million, or
6.8%, from net sales for ﬁscal 2003 of $1,388.9 million. Within the North America segment, Lawns net
sales in ﬁscal 2004 increased 4.6% due to continued strong sales of value-added combination products,
such as Turf Builder˛ Fertilizer with Halts˛ Crab Grass Preventer, Turf Builder˛ with Plus 2˛ Weed Control
and Bonus S˛, offset by spreader and grass seed sales which were especially ﬂat year-over-year.
Gardening Products sales, which include growing media and garden fertilizers, increased 3.1% with higher
sales of value-added Miracle-Gro˛ potting mix and garden soils partially offset by lower sales of
commodity growing media products. Net sales of Ortho˛ products increased a robust 16.1% in ﬁscal 2004,
driven largely by the successful launches of Bug B Gon˛ MaxTM, Ortho˛ Season-LongTM Grass and Weed
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Killer and a new range of opening price point weed and insect control products under the Ortho˛ Basic
Solutions label at a major retailer.
Scotts LawnService˛ net sales increased 22.5% from $110.4 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $135.2 million in
ﬁscal 2004. The growth in net sales has been largely fueled by increased customer retention, higher new
customer sales during the peak spring selling season, and the full year impact of ﬁscal 2003 acquisitions.
Net sales for the International segment were $419.5 million in ﬁscal 2004, an increase of
$31.1 million, or 8.0%, compared to ﬁscal 2003. Excluding the effects of currency ﬂuctuations and the
impact of discontinuing the sale of certain low margin professional products, net sales were essentially
unchanged in ﬁscal 2004 versus prior year. Sales increases in the United Kingdom and the International
professional business were offset by lower sales in Central Europe and the Benelux countries, due largely
to unusually cold and wet spring weather conditions, and in Asia Paciﬁc, primarily due to continuing
drought conditions in Australia which decreased fertilizer demand.
Selling price changes were not material to net sales in ﬁscal 2004 or ﬁscal 2003.
Gross proﬁt increased $80.8 million in ﬁscal 2004 compared to ﬁscal 2003. As a percentage of net
sales, gross proﬁt was 37.8% of net sales in ﬁscal 2004 compared to 36.5% in ﬁscal 2003. Gross margins
were higher in all three business segments. Favorable product mix, coupled with warehousing and material
handling efﬁciency gains, more than offset the impact of higher fuel costs and inﬂationary pressure on key
raw material inputs such as urea. Lastly, restructuring and other expenses, included in cost of sales,
primarily related to International supply chain initiatives, decreased from $9.1 million in ﬁscal 2003 to
$0.6 million in ﬁscal 2004, increasing gross proﬁt as a percentage of net sales by approximately 50 basis
points.
The net commission earned from the Roundup˛ marketing agreement in ﬁscal 2004 was $28.5 million
compared to $17.6 million in ﬁscal 2003. This strong growth in the commission as compared to the prior
year is primarily due to strong underlying growth in Roundup˛ sales and improved product mix, partially
offset by a $1.4 million increase in the contribution payment due to Monsanto, which increased from
$25.0 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $26.4 million in ﬁscal 2004.
Advertising expenses in ﬁscal 2004 were $105.0 million, an increase of $7.3 million from ﬁscal 2003.
Excluding the effects of currency ﬂuctuations, advertising expenditures increased $4.6 million or 4.7% for
the year, roughly in line with the growth in sales. The increase was primarily due to television media
support for the Ortho˛ line, the launch of a new television advertising campaign for Evergreen˛ lawn
fertilizer in the United Kingdom and increased media support in Canada.
Selling, general and administrative (‘‘SG&A’’) expenses in ﬁscal 2004 were $442.3 million compared
to $379.4 million in ﬁscal 2003. Excluding the expensing of stock-based compensation, infrastructure
investments in Scotts LawnService˛ and restructuring and other charges, the Company’s SG&A expenses
increased $48.2 million, or 15.0%, compared to 2003. This increase was primarily due to investments in
marketing research and in-store merchandising to support growth in the home center channel, increased
sales and management incentives, higher legal expenses and foreign currency ﬂuctuations. SG&A expenses
for Scotts LawnService˛ increased approximately 23% from $46.2 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $56.8 million in
ﬁscal 2004, primarily due to higher ﬁeld labor expenses to support growth in customer counts and service
infrastructure investments. Compensation expense related to the expensing of employee stock-based
compensation awards was $7.8 million and $4.8 million, respectively, in ﬁscal 2004 and ﬁscal 2003.
SG&A restructuring and other expenses increased from $8.0 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $9.1 million in 2004,
primarily due to charges related to outsourcing of the Company’s data center and application software
functions.
Income from operations in ﬁscal 2004 was $252.8 million, compared to $231.6 million in ﬁscal 2003.
This increase in income from operations reﬂects higher net sales and gross proﬁt margins and signiﬁcantly
higher net commission earned from the Roundup˛ marketing agreement, partially offset by investments in
media advertising and higher SG&A expenses as described above.
For segment reporting purposes, earnings before interest, taxes and amortization is used as the
measure for operating income. On that basis, operating income in the North America segment increased
from $282.8 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $308.9 million in ﬁscal 2004, on an increase in net sales from
$1,388.9 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $1,483.2 million in ﬁscal 2004. Higher sales volume (primarily in the
Ortho˛ and Lawns businesses), favorable product mix, largely due to new product introductions within the
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Ortho˛ line, a continued shift to value-added Growing Media sales, increased penetration of value added
lawn combination products and warehousing and distribution efﬁciencies more than offset higher urea and
freight costs and increased advertising and SG&A expenses.
Scotts LawnService˛ operating income increased from $6.2 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $9.8 million in
ﬁscal 2004 due to signiﬁcant improved gross proﬁt margins, largely due to higher customer counts (as
discussed above) and ﬁeld productivity gains and supply chain savings realized during the year.
International operating income was $27.3 million in ﬁscal 2004, compared to $23.9 million in ﬁscal
2003. This increase in ﬁscal 2004 operating earnings was largely attributable to favorable foreign currency
ﬂuctuations and a reduction in restructuring expenses, as the majority of the initiatives to reorganize and
rationalize the European Supply Chain were completed during 2003.
Interest expense decreased from $69.2 million in ﬁscal 2003 to $48.8 million in ﬁscal 2004. Costs
related to the reﬁnancings of the Company’s credit facility and redemption of the Company’s 85/8% Senior
Subordinated Notes in ﬁscal 2004 totaled $45.5 million. The decrease in interest expense is due to a
reduction of $107.0 million in average borrowings coupled with a reduction in the Company’s weighted
average interest rate (from 7.42% in ﬁscal 2003 to 5.92% in ﬁscal 2004) resulting from more favorable
terms under the New Credit Agreement discussed below under ‘‘Liquidity and Capital Resources,’’ and a
favorable interest rate environment.
Income tax expense for ﬁscal 2004 was $58.0 million, compared to $59.2 million in ﬁscal 2003. The
effective tax rate for ﬁscal 2004 was 36.6% as compared to 36.4% in ﬁscal 2003. In ﬁscal 2004, the
Company’s effective income tax rate beneﬁted from an adjustment to federal deferred income taxes after a
detailed review of prior tax exposures. In ﬁscal 2003, the Company’s effective tax rate beneﬁted from an
adjustment of state deferred income taxes resulting from a detailed review of state effective tax rates, and
increased utilization of foreign tax credits.
The Company reported net income from continuing operations of $100.5 million in ﬁscal 2004,
compared to $103.2 million in ﬁscal 2003. Income from discontinued operations pertains to the disposal
of the Company’s professional growing media business at the end of ﬁscal 2004. Reported net income,
including income from discontinued operations, decreased from $103.8 million or $3.23 per share in ﬁscal
2003 to $100.9 million or $3.03 per share in ﬁscal 2004.
Average diluted shares outstanding increased from 32.1 million in ﬁscal 2003 to 33.3 million in ﬁscal
2004, due to option exercises and the impact on common stock equivalents of a higher average share
price.
Fiscal 2003 Compared to Fiscal 2002

Net sales for ﬁscal 2003 increased 9.5% to $1,887.7 million from $1,723.7 million in ﬁscal 2002.
North America segment net sales were $1,388.9 million in ﬁscal 2003, an increase of $77.0 million, or
5.9%, from net sales for ﬁscal 2002 of $1,311.9 million. Within the North America segment, Lawns net
sales in ﬁscal 2003 increased a robust 11.2% due to strong acceptance of the new Miracle-Gro˛ lawn
fertilizer line at Wal*Mart and continued strong sales of Turf Builder˛ lawn fertilizer, control products and
grass seed. Gardening Products sales, which include growing media and garden fertilizers, were essentially
ﬂat year-over-year with higher sales of value-added Miracle-Gro˛ potting mix and garden soils mainly offset
by lower sales of commodity growing media products. Ortho˛ branded products net sales increased 2.1%
in ﬁscal 2003, driven largely by strong sales of selective and non-selective weed control products and
continued growth of the Ortho˛ Home Defense˛ indoor and perimeter pest control product line, partially
offset by lower outdoor insect control sales.
Scotts LawnService˛ net sales increased 46.0% from $75.6 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $110.4 million in
ﬁscal 2003. The growth in net sales has been largely fueled by geographic expansion and acquisitions.
Spending on acquisitions, including seller-ﬁnancing, reached $30.6 million in ﬁscal 2003 versus
$54.8 million in ﬁscal 2002. Fiscal 2002 was affected by a major acquisition late in the year, representing
nearly one-half of ﬁscal 2002 acquisition spending and favorably impacting ﬁscal 2003 net sales.
Net sales for the International segment were $388.4 million in ﬁscal 2003, an increase of
$52.2 million, or 15.5%, compared to ﬁscal 2002. Sales increased in all major countries except Germany
which experienced lower sales due to increased regulatory restrictions. Excluding the effects of currency
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ﬂuctuations and non-recurring sales from previous supply agreements, net sales decreased approximately
$2.0 million, or 0.6%, in ﬁscal 2003.
Selling price changes were not material to net sales in ﬁscal 2003 or ﬁscal 2002.
Gross proﬁt increased $55.7 million in ﬁscal 2003 compared to ﬁscal 2002. As a percentage of net
sales, gross proﬁt was 36.5% of net sales in ﬁscal 2003 compared to 36.7% in ﬁscal 2002. Favorable
impacts were realized from certain supply chain initiatives and higher volume. These beneﬁts were offset
by unfavorable warehousing and material handling costs and product mix, particularly in our Lawns
business, which was also impacted by higher urea costs. Lastly, restructuring and other expenses,
included in cost of sales, primarily related to International supply chain initiatives, increased from
$1.7 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $9.1 million in ﬁscal 2003, reducing gross proﬁt as a percentage of net sales
by 40 basis points.
The net commission earned from the Roundup˛ marketing agreement in ﬁscal 2003 was $17.6 million
compared to $16.2 million in ﬁscal 2002. The increase from the prior year is primarily due to strong
underlying growth in Roundup˛ sales, which drove the gross commission higher, partially offset by a
$5.0 million increase in the contribution payment due to Monsanto, which increased from $20.0 million in
ﬁscal 2002 to $25.0 million in ﬁscal 2003.
Advertising expenses in ﬁscal 2003 were $97.7 million, an increase of $15.5 million from ﬁscal 2002.
The increase in advertising expenses is primarily due to the re-launch of television media support for the
Ortho˛ line and media support for new product launches such as Miracle-Gro˛ Shake N’ Feed˛. Foreign
currency ﬂuctuations also increased reported advertising expenses by $2.7 million.
Selling, general and administrative (‘‘SG&A’’) expenses in ﬁscal 2003 were $379.4 million compared
to $335.1 million for ﬁscal 2002. Excluding the expensing of stock-based compensation, infrastructure
investment in the Scotts LawnService˛ and restructuring and other charges, the Company’s SG&A expenses
increased $22.5 million, or 7.6%, compared to 2002. This increase is primarily due to investments to
support our expansion into adjacent categories and channels, investments to expand the functionality and
capability of our business development ofﬁces at our largest retailers, and foreign exchange ﬂuctuations.
SG&A expenses for Scotts LawnService˛ increased 50% from $30.8 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $46.2 million
in ﬁscal 2003, primarily due to growth in the branch service network, supporting our plan to rapidly
expand to a national platform. SG&A restructuring and other expenses increased from $6.4 million in ﬁscal
2002 to $8.0 million in ﬁscal 2003, primarily related to the implementation of the International Proﬁt
Improvement Plan.
Amortization of intangibles increased from $5.7 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $8.6 million in ﬁscal 2003,
primarily due to foreign currency ﬂuctuations and higher expenses related to the amortization of certain
intangibles, primarily related to customer lists acquired by Scotts LawnService˛.
Other income, net was $10.8 million in ﬁscal 2003, compared to $12.0 million in ﬁscal 2002. The
Company realized a net reduction of approximately $4 million from an agreement to cease peat extraction
in the United Kingdom. Increased Scotts LawnService˛ franchise fees and royalty income recorded in ﬁscal
2003 partially off-set the reduction related to peat extraction.
Income from operations in ﬁscal 2003 was $231.6 million, compared to $238.4 million in ﬁscal 2002.
This decrease in income from operations reﬂects higher net sales and gross proﬁt, offset by greater
investments in media advertising and higher SG&A expenses, higher restructuring spending in Europe (to
support our International Proﬁt Improvement Plan) and the adoption of an accounting change to expense
stock-based compensation awards.
For segment reporting purposes, earnings before interest, taxes and amortization is used as the
measure for operating income. On that basis, operating income in the North America segment increased
from $277.2 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $282.8 million in ﬁscal 2003, on an increase in net sales from
$1,311.9 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $1,388.9 million in ﬁscal 2003. Higher sales volume (primarily in the
Lawns business) and favorable volume-related manufacturing cost absorption were largely offset by a
decrease in gross proﬁt margin as a percentage of net sales (due to product mix and increased urea and
warehousing costs), and higher media and SG&A expenses.
Scotts LawnService˛ operating income decreased from $8.8 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $6.2 million in
ﬁscal 2003 due to planned infrastructure investments and higher ﬁeld labor and truck costs, largely the
result of poor spring weather that delayed the start of the spring treatment season. These higher costs
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more than offset increased margin resulting from higher net sales, which were driven by geographic
expansion and acquisitions.
International operating income was $23.9 million in ﬁscal 2003, compared to $25.3 million in ﬁscal
2002. The decrease in ﬁscal 2003 operating income is largely due to planned restructuring expenses, as
outlined in the Company’s International Proﬁt Improvement Plan, and a non-recurring peat transaction gain
recognized in ﬁscal 2002. Foreign currency ﬂuctuations also favorably impacted operating income.
Interest expense decreased from $76.3 million in ﬁscal 2002 to $69.2 million in ﬁscal 2003. The
decrease in interest expense was primarily due to debt repayments and strong operating cash ﬂow, which
resulted in lower average borrowing levels as compared to the prior year, and lower interest rates on our
credit revolver and variable rate term loans. The weighted average cost of debt was 7.42% in ﬁscal 2003
compared to 8.30% in ﬁscal 2002.
Income tax expense for ﬁscal 2003 was $59.2 million, compared to $61.6 million in ﬁscal 2002. This
decrease in income tax expense as compared to the prior year primarily was the result of a reduction in
the Company’s effective tax rate from 38.0% in 2002 to 36.4% in 2003, due to an adjustment of state
deferred income taxes resulting from a detailed review of state effective tax rates, and increased utilization
of foreign tax credits in ﬁscal 2003.
The Company reported net income from continuing operations of $103.2 million for ﬁscal 2003,
compared to $100.5 million in ﬁscal 2002. Results of operations for both ﬁscal 2003 and 2002 were
adjusted to display the results of the Company’s professional growing media business as discontinued
operations due to the disposal of that business at the end of ﬁscal 2004. A charge of $29.8 million
($18.5 million, net of tax) for the impairment of trade names in our German, French and United Kingdom
businesses was taken in ﬁscal 2002 as a result of the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’’. Net income for ﬁscal 2002 was $82.5 million,
or $2.61 per diluted share, compared to net income of $103.8 million, or $3.23 per diluted share, in ﬁscal
2003.
Average diluted shares outstanding increased from 31.7 million in ﬁscal 2002 to 32.1 million in ﬁscal
2003, due to option and warrant exercises and the impact on common stock equivalents of a higher
average share price in ﬁscal 2003 compared to ﬁscal 2002.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided from operating activities was $214.2 million for ﬁscal 2004, compared to
$216.1 million for ﬁscal 2003. This strong cash ﬂow performance was fueled by increased proﬁtability
(excluding the non-cash costs related to the reﬁnancing of our credit facility and redemption of our 85/8%
Senior Subordinated Notes) and higher payroll and miscellaneous accrued liabilities. Despite a strong 8%
growth in top line sales, accounts receivable and inventory levels increased only modestly over the prior
year. Net cash provided from operating activities in ﬁscal 2003 beneﬁted from a reduction in taxes paid
due to a change in the tax treatment of costs related to trade programs from a cash to accrual basis. This
one-time cash ﬂow beneﬁt did not repeat itself in ﬁscal 2004. Net cash provided from operating activities
reached record levels in ﬁscal 2002 due largely to a one-time reduction in inventories and other cash ﬂow
initiatives.
The seasonal nature of our operations generally requires cash to fund signiﬁcant increases in working
capital (primarily inventory) during the ﬁrst half of the year. Receivables and payables also build
substantially in the second quarter of the year in line with the timing of sales as the spring selling season
begins. These balances liquidate during the June through September period as the lawn and garden
season unwinds. Unlike our core retail business, Scotts LawnService˛ typically has its highest receivables
balances in the September quarter because of the seasonal timing of customer applications and extra
services revenues, which are strongest in the fourth ﬁscal quarter of the year.
Net cash used in investing activities was $112.8 million in ﬁscal 2004 compared to $108.9 million in
ﬁscal 2003. While reported net cash used in investing activities was essentially unchanged versus prior
year, cash requirements actually decreased by $53.3 million in ﬁscal 2004, excluding the impact of
investments in adjustable rate notes (‘‘Notes’’) which were made in lieu of investing excess cash in
overnight funds. These Notes, which the Company believes are essentially equivalent to cash, have been
accounted for as ‘‘available for sale securities’’ in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards No. 115,
‘‘Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.’’ The Notes, which were redeemed and
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converted into cash on October 1, 2004, permitted the Company to put the Notes back to a remarketing
agent at any time at 100% of par value and were secured by an irrevocable, direct pay letter of credit.
Proceeds from the Notes were used to partially fund the acquisition of Smith and Hawken˛.
Reduced capital expenditures were responsible for $16.7 million of the decrease in cash requirements
between the periods, as fewer signiﬁcant capital projects were undertaken in ﬁscal 2004. We anticipate
capital expenditures to be somewhat higher in ﬁscal 2005, likely in the range of $50 million, consistent
with historical trends and approved spending levels. In ﬁscal 2003, major capital investments were made
in the information systems area (principally supply chain related) and the Company completed a signiﬁcant
capacity expansion project at its Charleston, South Carolina professional fertilizer plant to support the
consolidation of production from another manufacturing facility that was subsequently closed. Principal
payments due on seller notes issued in conjunction with prior Scotts LawnService˛ acquisitions were
$12.3 million in ﬁscal 2004 compared to $36.7 million in ﬁscal 2003. This reduction in payments on seller
notes was directly attributable to fewer acquisitions being completed during the second half of ﬁscal 2003
and throughout ﬁscal 2004.
Financing activities used cash of $133.0 million in ﬁscal 2004, compared to a cash usage of
$59.0 million the prior year. During the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2004, we restructured our borrowing
arrangements through the reﬁnancing of our former Credit Agreement and the redemption of our
85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes, which were replaced by the issuance of our 65/8% Senior Subordinated
Notes. On October 22, 2003, the Company consummated a series of transactions which included the
repayment of the term loans outstanding under the former Credit Agreement, the termination of the Credit
Agreement, the execution of the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (‘‘New Credit
Agreement’’), and the borrowing of $500 million in the form of term loans under the New Credit
Agreement. On June 24, 2004, the Company repaid $100 million of the $499 million term loans then
outstanding under the New Credit Agreement. On August 13, 2004, the Company reﬁnanced its existing
term loan facility with a new term loan facility (‘‘New Term Loans’’) consisting of a $250 million Tranche A
Loan and a $150 million Tranche B Loan. The New Term Loans carry a variable interest rate based on prime
or LIBOR at the Company’s option (currently LIBOR) plus a spread which is approximately 66 basis points
lower than we were required to pay under the terms of the former Term Loan Facility. For further details
concerning the reﬁnancing of our former Credit Agreement and redemption of our 85/8% Senior
Subordinated Notes, please see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated by operations and borrowings under our New
Credit Agreement. The New Credit Agreement consists of a $700 million multi-currency revolving credit
commitment and a term loan facility that was initially $500 million subsequently reduced as a result of a
voluntary $100 million prepayment on June 24, 2004. Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
provides additional information pertaining to the reﬁnancing of our former Credit Agreement, the
establishment of our New Credit Agreement (including a description of ﬁnancial covenants and crossdefault provisions) the redemption of our 85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes, the issuance of our
65/8% Senior Subordinated Notes and New Term Loans. At September 30, 2004, we were in compliance
with our debt covenants.
Total cash and cash equivalents were $115.6 million at September 30, 2004, a decrease of
$40.3 million from September 30, 2003. We elected not to use cash on hand at September 30, 2004 and
September 30, 2003 to pay down indebtedness since voluntary repayments permanently reduce the total
borrowing commitments under the terms of the credit facility. Under the terms of the former Credit
Agreement, a mandatory excess cash ﬂow prepayment of $24.4 million was made in early ﬁscal 2003
based on ﬁscal 2002’s results of operations and cash ﬂow. While this mandatory excess cash ﬂow
prepayment requirement was also in effect during ﬁscal 2004, we were not required to fund this payment
since the Company’s leverage ratios were well below levels triggering a mandatory prepayment.
Our year-end cash effectively serves to reduce our average indebtedness by reducing seasonal
borrowings made under our revolving credit facility to fund seasonal working capital needs. We have not
paid dividends on our common shares in the past. However, given our rapidly improving ﬁnancial
condition and levels of cash generated by the business, we are currently evaluating various capital
structure strategies and the use of capital for cash generated in the future. These uses may include
continued debt repayment, funding of selective acquisitions to support future growth, payment of
dividends and share repurchases. On October 2, 2004, Scotts acquired all outstanding shares of Smith &
Hawken˛ for a total cost of $74.9 million including prepayment of existing debt obligations.
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The payment of future dividends and share repurchases, if any, will be determined by our Board of
Directors in light of conditions then existing, including our earnings, ﬁnancial condition, capital
requirements, restrictions in ﬁnancing agreements, business conditions and other factors. We did not
repurchase any treasury shares in ﬁscal 2004 or 2003.
The funded status of our pension plans improved $11.5 million in ﬁscal 2004 due to $15.8 million in
employer contributions and better than anticipated investment returns on the plans assets, which together
more than offset higher beneﬁt obligations, required beneﬁt payments and the impact of foreign currency
translation on our International plans. The unfunded status of our curtailed deﬁned beneﬁt plans in the
United States decreased from a deﬁcit of $29.5 million at September 30, 2003 to a deﬁcit of $22.5 million
at September 30, 2004. Our International plans’ deﬁcit was reduced from $55.4 million in ﬁscal 2003 to
$50.9 million in ﬁscal 2004. Employer contributions to the plans in ﬁscal 2005 are not expected to
increase versus 2004.
The Company’s off-balance sheet ﬁnancing arrangements are in the form of operating leases that are
disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. As of September 30, 2004, we had
$13.2 million of outstanding guarantees, primarily related to deferred purchase obligations on Scotts
LawnService˛ acquisitions. During the second quarter of ﬁscal 2004, we took ﬁnal delivery on a used
aircraft under the terms of a synthetic operating lease agreement as disclosed in Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
We are party to various pending judicial and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course
of business. These include, among others, proceedings based on accidents or product liability claims and
alleged violations of environmental laws. We have reviewed our pending environmental and legal
proceedings, including the probable outcomes, reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, reviewed the
availability and limits of our insurance coverage and have established what we believe to be appropriate
reserves. We do not believe that any liabilities that may result from these proceedings are reasonably
likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, ﬁnancial condition or results of operations.
The following table summarizes our future cash outﬂows for contractual obligations as of
September 30, 2004 (in millions):
Payments Due by Period
Total

Less than 1 year

1-3 years

4-5 years

More than
5 years

Long-term debt obligations
Operating lease obligations
Purchase obligations
Smith & Hawken˛ acquisition
Annual contribution payment under
Roundup˛ marketing agreement

$ 617.4
63.0
178.3
74.9

$ 15.5
16.3
89.4
74.9

$ 17.5
26.0
69.8

$236.8
15.4
18.5

$347.6
5.3
0.6

350.0

25.0

50.0

50.0

225.0

Total contractual cash obligations

$1,283.6

$221.1

$163.3

$320.7

$578.5

Contractual Cash Obligations

In our opinion, cash ﬂows from operations and capital resources will be sufﬁcient to meet debt
service and working capital needs during ﬁscal 2004, and thereafter for the foreseeable future. However,
we cannot ensure that our business will generate sufﬁcient cash ﬂow from operations or that future
borrowings will be available under our credit facilities in amounts sufﬁcient to pay indebtedness or fund
other liquidity needs. Actual results of operations will depend on numerous factors, many of which are
beyond our control.
Environmental Matters

We are subject to local, state, federal and foreign environmental protection laws and regulations with
respect to our business operations and believe we are operating in substantial compliance with, or taking
actions aimed at ensuring compliance with, such laws and regulations. We are involved in several legal
actions with various governmental agencies related to environmental matters. While it is difﬁcult to
quantify the potential ﬁnancial impact of actions involving environmental matters, particularly remediation
costs at waste disposal sites and future capital expenditures for environmental control equipment, in the
opinion of management, the ultimate liability arising from such environmental matters, taking into account
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established reserves, should not have a material adverse effect on our ﬁnancial position. However, there
can be no assurance that the resolution of these matters will not materially affect future quarterly or
annual results of operations, ﬁnancial condition or cash ﬂows of the Company.
Management’s Outlook

We are very pleased with the Company’s performance in ﬁscal 2004. Despite upward pressure on
commodity raw material costs, execution issues and poor spring weather conditions in Europe, the
Company delivered record net sales and income from operations for the year. Our sales results were driven
by strong point of sales growth in our North America business, particularly lawn fertilizer and control
products and continued rapid expansion of our Scotts LawnService˛ business.
We set challenging growth targets for ﬁscal 2004, including aggressive sales growth and share gains
within the North American consumer lawn and garden categories. We also undertook a signiﬁcant
Enterprise Resource Planning (‘‘ERP’’) project in our major European countries with installations in the
United Kingdom and France, which followed installations in Germany and Austria the year before. We also
continued to strive to improve customer service levels throughout the core consumer retail business and in
Scotts LawnService˛. We were successful at strengthening our relationships with key accounts by
continuing to improve in-season execution and moving to ‘‘just in time’’ replenishment of store inventory
levels. As a result, order ﬁll levels reached all time highs in our North American business. Similarly, we
made signiﬁcant strides to improve customer service throughout Scotts LawnService˛ by restructuring ﬁeld
incentives to focus more on customer retention and by spending more time and money training technicians
pre and in-season on customer service. Our consumer businesses in the United Kingdom and France
experienced challenges in converting their existing ‘‘Legacy’’ systems to SAP while also implementing
aggressive supply chain rationalization plans. As a result, these businesses experienced some product
availability shortages, particularly early in the season, and manufacturing cost overruns which we do not
expect to repeat in ﬁscal 2005.
Our strong results in ﬁscal 2004 set the stage for another successful year in 2005. We are committed
to improving the results of our International business and have aggressively addressed the supply chain
challenges we faced in ﬁscal 2004. Our focus is to improve gross proﬁt margins in each business segment
by continuing to improve product mix and strengthening our Global Supply Chain organization while
aggressively seeking cost reduction initiatives throughout the purchasing, logistics and manufacturing
areas. We will continue to invest aggressively in media advertising, marketing research and in-store
merchandising programs to drive category growth and margin expansion. Our strategy is also to continue
to develop new distribution channels and to leverage our strong brands to enter proﬁtable adjacent
product categories. We will also further expand our research and development activities and expect to
introduce several new value-added products that will provide new features and beneﬁts to consumers
while improving both retailer and Company margins.
We believe ﬁscal 2005 will be another year of proﬁtable growth, with continued focus on improving
return on invested capital and strong cash ﬂow generation a priority.
Forward-Looking Statements

We have made and will make ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in our 2004 Annual Report,
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other contexts relating to future growth and proﬁtability targets
and strategies designed to increase total shareholder value. Forward-looking statements also include, but
are not limited to, information regarding our future economic and ﬁnancial condition, the plans and
objectives of our management and our assumptions regarding our performance and these plans and
objectives.
The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a ‘‘safe harbor’’ for forward-looking
statements to encourage companies to provide prospective information, so long as those statements are
identiﬁed as forward-looking and are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements identifying
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the forwardlooking statements. We desire to take advantage of the ‘‘safe harbor’’ provisions of that Act.
Some forward-looking statements that we make in our 2004 Annual Report, in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and in other contexts represent challenging goals for our company, and the achievement of
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these goals is subject to a variety of risks and assumptions and numerous factors beyond our control.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements
we make are described below. All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons working on our
behalf are expressly qualiﬁed in their entirety by the following cautionary statements.
) OUR SUBSTANTIAL INDEBTEDNESS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL HEALTH AND PREVENT
US FROM FULFILLING OUR OBLIGATIONS.
We have a signiﬁcant amount of debt. Our substantial indebtedness could have important
consequences. For example, it could:
) make it more difﬁcult for us to satisfy our obligations under outstanding indebtedness and
otherwise;
) increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
) require us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash ﬂows from operating activities to payments
on our indebtedness, which would reduce the cash ﬂows available to fund working capital,
capital expenditures, advertising, research and development efforts and other general corporate
requirements;
) limit our ﬂexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in
which we operate;
) place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt;
) limit our ability to borrow additional funds; and
) expose us to risks inherent in interest rate ﬂuctuations because some of our borrowings are at
variable rates of interest, which could result in higher interest expense in the event of
increases in interest rates.
Our ability to make payments on and to reﬁnance our indebtedness and to fund planned capital
expenditures and acquisitions will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. This, to
some extent, is subject to general economic, ﬁnancial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other
factors that are beyond our control.
We cannot provide assurance that our business will generate sufﬁcient cash ﬂow from operating
activities or that future borrowings will be available to us under our New Credit Agreement in
amounts sufﬁcient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs. We
may need to reﬁnance all or a portion of our indebtedness, on or before maturity. We cannot assure
you that we would be able to reﬁnance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms
or at all.
) RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT US.
The New Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our 65/8% Senior Subordinated Notes (the
‘‘New Indenture’’) contain restrictive covenants and cross default provisions that require us to
maintain specified financial ratios. Our ability to satisfy those financial ratios can be affected by
events beyond our control, and we cannot assure you that we will satisfy those ratios. A breach of
any of these financial ratio covenants or other covenants in the New Credit Agreement or the New
Indenture could result in a default under the New Credit Agreement and/or the New Indenture. Upon
the occurrence of an event of default under the New Credit Agreement and/or the New Indenture, the
lenders and/or noteholders could elect to declare the applicable outstanding indebtedness to be
immediately due and payable and, in the case of our lenders under the New Credit Agreement,
terminate all commitments to extend further credit. We cannot be sure that our lenders or the
noteholders would waive a default or that we could pay the indebtedness in full if it were accelerated.
) ADVERSE WEATHER CONDITIONS COULD ADVERSELY IMPACT FINANCIAL RESULTS.
Weather conditions in North America and Europe have a signiﬁcant impact on the timing of sales in
the spring selling season and overall annual sales. An abnormally cold spring throughout North
America and/or Europe could adversely affect both fertilizer and pesticide sales and, therefore, our
ﬁnancial results.
) OUR HISTORICAL SEASONALITY COULD IMPAIR OUR ABILITY TO PAY OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE
IN ADDITION TO OUR OPERATING EXPENSES.
Because our products are used primarily in the spring and summer, our business is highly
seasonal. For the past two ﬁscal years, more than 70% of our net sales have occurred in the
33

second and third ﬁscal quarters combined. Our working capital needs and our borrowings peak
near the middle of our second ﬁscal quarter because we are generating fewer revenues while
incurring expenditures in preparation for the spring selling season. If cash on hand is insufﬁcient to
pay our obligations as they come due, including interest payments on our indebtedness, or our
operating expenses, at a time when we are unable to draw on our credit facility, this seasonality
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business. Adverse weather
conditions could heighten this risk.
) PERCEPTIONS THAT THE PRODUCTS WE PRODUCE AND MARKET ARE NOT SAFE COULD ADVERSELY
AFFECT US.
We manufacture and market a number of complex chemical products, such as fertilizers, growing
media, herbicides and pesticides, bearing one of our brand names. On occasion, allegations are
made that some of our products have failed to perform up to expectations or have caused damage
or injury to individuals or property. Based on reports of contamination at a third party supplier’s
vermiculite mine, the public may perceive that some of our products manufactured in the past using
vermiculite are or may also be contaminated. Public perception that our products are not safe,
whether justiﬁed or not, could impair our reputation, involve us in litigation, damage our brand
names and have a material adverse affect our business.
) THE NATURE OF CERTAIN OF OUR PRODUCTS AND OUR BUSINESS SUCCESS CONTRIBUTE TO THE RISK
THAT THE COMPANY WILL BE SUBJECTED TO LAWSUITS.
The nature of certain of our products and our business success contribute to the risk that the
Company will be subjected to lawsuits. The following are among the factors that contribute to this
litigation risk:
) We manufacture and market a number of complex chemical products bearing our brand names,
including fertilizers, growing media, herbicides and pesticides. There is a portion of the
population that perceives all chemical products as potentially hazardous. This perception,
regardless of its merits, enhances the risk that the Company will be subjected to product
liability claims that allege harm from exposure to our products. Product liability claims are
brought against the Company from time to time.
) A third party vendor supplied contaminated vermiculite ore to the Company. Although our use
of vermiculite ore from the contaminated source ended over twenty years ago, our former
relationship with this supplier enhances the risk that the Company will be subjected to
personal injury and product liability claims relating to the use of vermiculite in some of our
products.
) We are a signiﬁcant competitor in many of the markets in which we compete. Our success in
our markets enhances the risk that the Company will be targeted by plaintiffs’ lawyers,
consumer groups, competitors and others asserting antitrust claims. Antitrust claims are
brought against the Company from time to time. The Company believes that the antitrust
claims of which it is aware are without merit.
) BECAUSE OF THE CONCENTRATION OF OUR SALES TO A SMALL NUMBER OF RETAIL CUSTOMERS, THE
LOSS OF ONE OR MORE OF, OR SIGNIFICANT DECLINE IN ORDERS FROM, OUR TOP CUSTOMERS
COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS.
North America net sales represent approximately 73% of our worldwide net sales in ﬁscal 2004. Our
top three North American retail customers together accounted for 67% of our North America ﬁscal
2004 net sales and 60% of our outstanding accounts receivable as of September 30, 2004. Home
Depot, Wal*Mart and Lowe’s represented approximately 36%, 18% and 13%, respectively, of our
ﬁscal 2004 North America net sales. The loss of, or reduction in orders from, Home Depot,
Wal*Mart, Lowe’s or any other signiﬁcant customer could have a material adverse effect on our
business and our ﬁnancial results, as could customer disputes regarding shipments, fees,
merchandise condition or related matters. Our inability to collect accounts receivable from any of
these customers could also have a material adverse affect.
We do not have long-term sales agreements or other contractual assurances as to future sales to
any of our major retail customers. In addition, continued consolidation in the retail industry has
resulted in an increasingly concentrated retail base. To the extent such concentration continues to
occur, our net sales and income from operations may be increasingly sensitive to a deterioration in
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the ﬁnancial condition of, or other adverse developments involving our relationship with, one or
more customers.
) THE HIGHLY COMPETITIVE NATURE OF THE COMPANY’S MARKETS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT THE
ABILITY OF THE COMPANY TO GROW OR MAINTAIN REVENUES.
Each of our segments participates in markets that are highly competitive. Many of our competitors
sell their products at prices lower than ours, and we compete primarily on the basis of product
quality, product performance, value, brand strength, supply chain competency and advertising.
Some of our competitors have signiﬁcant ﬁnancial resources. The strong competition that we face in
all of our markets may prevent us from achieving our revenue goals, which may have a material
adverse affect on our ﬁnancial condition and results of operations.
) IF MONSANTO WERE TO TERMINATE THE MARKETING AGREEMENT FOR CONSUMER ROUNDUP˛
PRODUCTS WITHOUT BEING REQUIRED TO PAY ANY TERMINATION FEE, WE WOULD LOSE A
SUBSTANTIAL SOURCE OF FUTURE EARNINGS.
If we were to commit a serious default under the marketing agreement with Monsanto for consumer
Roundup˛ products, Monsanto may have the right to terminate the agreement. If Monsanto were to
terminate the marketing agreement for cause, we would not be entitled to any termination fee, and
we would lose all, or a signiﬁcant portion, of the signiﬁcant source of earnings and overhead
expense absorption the marketing agreement provides. Monsanto may also be able to terminate the
marketing agreement within a given region, including North America, without paying us a
termination fee if sales to consumers in that region decline:
) over a cumulative three ﬁscal year period; or
) by more than 5% for each of two consecutive ﬁscal years.
) HAGEDORN PARTNERSHIP, L.P. BENEFICIALLY OWNS APPROXIMATELY 33% OF OUR OUTSTANDING
COMMON SHARES.
Hagedorn Partnership, L.P. beneﬁcially owned approximately 33% of our outstanding common
shares as of November 1, 2004, and has sufﬁcient voting power to signiﬁcantly inﬂuence the
election of directors and the approval of other actions requiring the approval of our shareholders.
) COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER PUBLIC HEALTH REGULATIONS COULD INCREASE
OUR COST OF DOING BUSINESS.
Local, state, federal and foreign laws and regulations relating to environmental matters affect us in
several ways. In the United States, all products containing pesticides must be registered with the
U.S. EPA (and similar state agencies) before they can be sold. The inability to obtain or the
cancellation of any such registration could have an adverse effect on our business, the severity of
which would depend on the products involved, whether another product could be substituted and
whether our competitors were similarly affected. We attempt to anticipate regulatory developments
and maintain registrations of, and access to, substitute active ingredients, but there can be no
assurance that we will continue to be able to avoid or minimize these risks.
The Food Quality Protection Act, enacted by the U.S. Congress in August 1996, establishes a
standard for food-use pesticides, which standard is the reasonable certainty that no harm will result
from the cumulative effect of pesticide exposures. Under this act, the U.S. EPA is evaluating the
cumulative risks from dietary and non-dietary exposures to pesticides. The pesticides in our
products, certain of which may be used on crops processed into various food products, are typically
manufactured by independent third parties and continue to be evaluated by the U.S. EPA as part of
this exposure risk assessment. The U.S. EPA or the third party registrant may decide that a
pesticide we use in our products will be limited or made unavailable to us. For example, in June
2000, DowAgroSciences, an active ingredient registrant, voluntarily agreed to a gradual phase-out of
residential uses of chlorpyrifos, an active ingredient used in our lawn and garden products. In
December 2000, the U.S. EPA reached agreement with various parties, including manufacturers of
the active ingredient diazinon, regarding a phased withdrawal from retailers by December 2004 of
residential uses of products containing diazinon, also used in our lawn and garden products. We
cannot predict the outcome or the severity of the effect of their continuing evaluations.
In addition, the use of certain pesticide and fertilizer products is regulated by various local, state,
federal and foreign environmental and public health agencies. These regulations may include
requirements that only certiﬁed or professional users apply the product or that certain products be
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used only on certain types of locations, may require users to post notices on properties to which
products have been or will be applied, may require notiﬁcation to individuals in the vicinity that
products will be applied in the future or may ban the use of certain ingredients. Even if we are able
to comply with all such regulations and obtain all necessary registrations, we cannot assure you
that our products, particularly pesticide products, will not cause injury to the environment or to
people under all circumstances. The costs of compliance, remediation or products liability have
adversely affected operating results in the past and could materially affect future quarterly or
annual operating results.
The harvesting of peat for our growing media business has come under increasing regulatory and
environmental scrutiny. In the United States, state regulations frequently require us to limit our
harvesting and to restore the property to an agreed-upon condition. In some locations, we have
been required to create water retention ponds to control the sediment content of discharged water.
In the United Kingdom, our peat extraction efforts are also the subject of legislation.
In addition to the regulations already described, local, state, federal and foreign agencies regulate
the disposal, handling and storage of waste, air and water discharges from our facilities. In June
1997, the Ohio EPA initiated an enforcement action against us with respect to alleged surface water
violations and inadequate treatment capabilities at our Marysville, Ohio facility and is seeking
corrective action under the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. We have met with the
Ohio EPA and the Ohio Attorney General’s ofﬁce to negotiate an amicable resolution of these
issues. On December 3, 2001, an agreed judicial Consent Order was submitted to the Union County
Common Pleas Court and was entered by the court on January 25, 2002.
During ﬁscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 we expensed approximately $3.3 million, $1.5 million, and
$5.4 million for environmental matters.
The adequacy of these estimated future expenditures is based on our operating in substantial
compliance with applicable environmental and public health laws and regulations and several
signiﬁcant assumptions:
) that we have identiﬁed all of the signiﬁcant sites that must be remediated;
) that there are no signiﬁcant conditions of potential contamination that are unknown to us; and
) that with respect to the agreed judicial Consent Order in Ohio, the potentially contaminated
soil can be remediated in place rather than having to be removed and only speciﬁc stream
segments will require remediation as opposed to the entire stream.
If there is a signiﬁcant change in the facts and circumstances surrounding these assumptions or if
we are found not to be in substantial compliance with applicable environmental and public health
laws and regulations, it could have a material impact on future environmental capital expenditures
and other environmental expenses and our results of operations, ﬁnancial position and cash ﬂows.
) OUR SIGNIFICANT INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS MAKE US SUSCEPTIBLE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATES AND TO THE COSTS OF INTERNATIONAL REGULATION.
We currently operate manufacturing, sales and service facilities outside of North America,
particularly in the United Kingdom, Germany, France and the Netherlands. In ﬁscal 2004,
international sales accounted for approximately 20% of our total sales. Accordingly, we are subject
to risks associated with operations in foreign countries, including:
)
)
)
)
)

ﬂuctuations in currency exchange rates;
limitations on the conversion of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars;
limitations on the remittance of dividends and other payments by foreign subsidiaries;
additional costs of compliance with local regulations; and
historically, in certain countries, higher rates of inﬂation than in the United States.

In addition, our operations outside the United States are subject to the risk of new and different
legal and regulatory requirements in local jurisdictions, potential difﬁculties in stafﬁng and
managing local operations and potentially adverse tax consequences. The costs related to our
international operations could adversely affect our operations and ﬁnancial results in the future.
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As part of our ongoing business, we are exposed to certain market risks, including ﬂuctuations in
interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. We use derivative ﬁnancial and other
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instruments, where appropriate, to manage these risks. We do not enter into transactions designed to
mitigate our market risks for trading or speculative purposes.
Interest Rate Risk

We have various debt instruments outstanding at September 30, 2004 and 2003 that are impacted by
changes in interest rates. As a means of managing our interest rate risk on these debt instruments, we
enter into interest rate swap agreements to effectively convert certain variable rate debt obligations to
ﬁxed rates.
At September 30, 2004 and 2003, we had outstanding nine and ﬁve interest rate swaps, respectively,
with major ﬁnancial institutions that effectively convert a portion of our variable-rate debt to a ﬁxed rate.
The swaps have notional amounts between $10 million and $50 million ($175 million and $75 million in
total, respectively at September 30, 2004 and 2003) with three to seven year terms commencing in
October 2001. Under the terms of these swaps, the Company pays rates ranging from 2.76% to 3.76% and
receives three-month LIBOR.
The following table summarizes information about our derivative ﬁnancial instruments and debt
instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates as of September 30, 2004 and 2003. For debt
instruments, the table presents principal cash ﬂows and related weighted-average interest rates by
expected maturity dates. For interest rate swaps, the table presents expected cash ﬂows based on notional
amounts and weighted-average interest rates by contractual maturity dates. Weighted-average variable
rates are based on implied forward rates in the yield curve at September 30, 2004 and 2003. A change in
our variable interest rate of 1% would have a $2.2 million impact on interest expense for the $224 million
of our variable rate debt that has not been hedged via an interest rate swap at September 30, 2004. The
information is presented in U.S. dollars (in millions):
2004
Long-term debt:
Fixed rate debt
Average rate
Variable rate debt
Average rate
Interest rate derivatives:
Interest rate swaps based on
US dollar LIBOR
Average rate

2003
Long-term debt:
Fixed rate debt
Average rate
Variable rate debt
Average rate
Interest rate derivatives:
Interest rate swaps based on
US dollar LIBOR
Average rate

2005

2006

Expected Maturity Date
2007
2008
2009

$ 4.0
3.98%

$ 4.0
3.98%

$ 12.8
3.98%

$43.4
3.98%

$192.7
3.98%

$ 1.6
3.53%

$ 0.3
3.43%

$ (0.4)
3.43%

$ (0.8)
3.53%

$ (0.2)
3.55%

2004

2005

Expected Maturity Date
2006
2007
2008

After
$200.0
6.625%
$ 142.1
3.98%

After
$400.0
8.625%

$38.6
4.97%

$49.2
4.97%

$ 0.5
5.18%

$ 1.6
3.76%

$ 0.9
4.59%
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$178.4
4.59%

$59.4
4.59%

Total

Fair
Value

$200.0
6.625%
$399.0
3.98%

$ 211.8

$

$

0.5
3.75%

Total

$399.0

0.5

Fair
Value

$400.0
8.625%
$ 326.5
4.70%

$424.0

$

$

2.1
4.22%

$326.5

2.1

Other Market Risks

Our market risk associated with foreign currency rates is not considered to be material. Through ﬁscal
2004, we had only minor amounts of transactions that were denominated in currencies other than the
currency of the country of origin. We are subject to market risk from ﬂuctuating market prices of certain
raw materials, including urea and other chemicals and paper and plastic products. Our objectives
surrounding the procurement of these materials are to ensure continuous supply and to minimize costs.
We seek to achieve these objectives through negotiation of contracts with favorable terms directly with
vendors. We do not enter into forward contracts or other market instruments as a means of achieving our
objectives or minimizing our risk exposures on these materials.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT
Management of The Scotts Company is responsible for the preparation, integrity and objectivity of the
ﬁnancial information presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The accompanying ﬁnancial statements
have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America appropriate in the circumstances and, accordingly, include some amounts that are based on
management’s best judgments and estimates.
Management is responsible for maintaining a system of accounting and internal controls which it
believes is adequate to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorized use or disposition and that the ﬁnancial records are reliable for preparing ﬁnancial
statements. The selection and training of qualiﬁed personnel, the establishment and communication of
accounting and administrative policies and procedures and a program of internal audits are important
elements of these control systems.
The ﬁnancial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, recommended by the
Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. The independent registered public accounting
ﬁrm conducts a review of internal accounting controls to the extent required by generally accepted auditing
standards and perform such tests and related procedures as they deem necessary to arrive at an opinion
on the fairness of the ﬁnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America.
The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee consisting solely of non-management directors,
meets periodically with management, internal audit personnel and the independent auditors to discuss
internal accounting controls and auditing and ﬁnancial reporting matters. The Audit Committee reviews
with the independent registered public accounting ﬁrm the scope and results of the audit effort. Both
internal audit personnel and the independent registered public accounting ﬁrm have access to the Audit
Committee with or without the presence of management.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
The Scotts Company:
In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income and cash ﬂows present fairly, in all material
respects, the ﬁnancial position of The Scotts Company at September 30, 2004 and September 30, 2003,
and the results of its operations and its cash ﬂows for each of the three years in the period ended
September 30, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These ﬁnancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these ﬁnancial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the ﬁnancial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and signiﬁcant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall ﬁnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 6 to the ﬁnancial statements, effective October 1, 2001, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, ‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’’. Also, as
discussed in Note 1 to the ﬁnancial statements, effective October 1, 2002, the Company adopted the
prospective method of recognizing the fair value of stock-based compensation in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’’.

/s/

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Columbus, OH
November 22, 2004

40

The Scotts Company
Consolidated Statements of Operations
for the ﬁscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in millions, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring and other charges
Gross proﬁt
Gross commission earned from marketing agreement
Amortization of deferred marketing fee
Contribution expenses under marketing agreement
Net commission earned from marketing agreement
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Selling, general and administrative – lawn service business
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring and other charges
Advertising
Amortization of intangible assets
Other income, net
Income from operations
Costs related to reﬁnancings
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for intangible assets, net
of tax
Net income

2004

2003

2002

$2,037.9
1,267.6
0.6
769.7
58.2
3.3
26.4
28.5

$1,887.7
1,189.7
9.1
688.9
45.9
3.3
25.0
17.6

$ 1,723.7
1,088.8
1.7
633.2
39.6
3.4
20.0
16.2

368.6
56.8
7.8
9.1
442.3
105.0
8.3
(10.2)
252.8
45.5
48.8
158.5
58.0
100.5
0.4

320.4
46.2
4.8
8.0
379.4
97.7
8.6
(10.8)
231.6

297.9
30.8

69.2
162.4
59.2
103.2
0.6

76.3
162.1
61.6
100.5
0.5

$ 100.9

$ 103.8

32.3

30.9

Basic earnings per share:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period
Basic earnings per common share:
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for intangible assets, net
of tax
Basic earnings per share

$

$

Diluted earnings per share:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period and
dilutive potential common shares
Diluted earnings per common share:
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for intangible assets, net
of tax
Diluted earnings per share
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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3.11
0.01

3.12

$

$

33.3
$

$

3.02
0.01

3.03

3.34
0.02

3.36

6.4
335.1
82.2
5.7
(12.0)
238.4

$

29.3
$

$

3.21
0.02

3.23

3.43
0.01

(0.63)
$ 2.81

32.1
$

(18.5)
82.5

31.7
$

3.18
0.01

(0.58)
$ 2.61

The Scotts Company
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the ﬁscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
intangible assets, pre-tax
Costs related to reﬁnancings
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation
Amortization
Deferred taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquired businesses:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes and liabilities
Restructuring reserves
Other assets
Other liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in available for sale securities
Redemption of available for sale securities
Investment in property, plant and equipment
Investments in acquired businesses, net of cash acquired
Payments on sellers notes
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving and
bank lines of credit
Repayment of term loans
Proceeds from issuance of term loans
Redemption of 85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes
Proceeds from issuance of 65/8% Senior Subordinated Notes
Issuance of 85/8% senior subordinated notes, net of issuance fees
Financing and issuance fees
Cash received from exercise of stock options
Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

2004

2003

2002

$ 100.9

$ 103.8

$ 82.5

29.8
45.5
7.8
46.1
11.6
17.6

4.8
40.3
11.9
48.3

34.4
9.1
21.2

(1.9)
(14.0)
(16.9)
(18.7)
29.5
0.8
0.5
(6.3)
11.7

(27.3)
(5.3)
3.7
26.3
6.6
(7.1)
3.7
(3.4)
9.8

(28.9)
99.4
(3.6)
(22.0)
17.5
(27.9)
(4.5)
33.6
(1.7)

214.2

216.1

238.9

(121.4)
64.2
(35.1)
(8.2)
(12.3)

(51.8)
(20.4)
(36.7)

(57.0)
(31.0)
(32.0)
7.0

(112.8)

(108.9)

(113.0)

2.0
(827.5)
900.0
(418.0)
200.0

(17.6)
(62.4)

(97.6)
(31.9)

(13.0)
23.5

(0.4)
21.4

70.2
(2.2)
19.7

(133.0)
(8.7)

(59.0)
8.0

(41.8)
(3.1)

(40.3)
155.9

56.2
99.7

81.0
18.7

$ 155.9

$ 99.7

$ 115.6

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Scotts Company
Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 30, 2004 and 2003
(in millions except per share data)

2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable, less allowance for uncollectible accounts
of $29.0 in 2004 and $29.0 in 2003
Inventories, net
Current deferred tax asset
Prepaid and other assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current portion of debt
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 15 and 16)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares, no par value per share, $.01 stated value per
share, shares issued and outstanding of 32.8 in 2004 and
32.0 in 2003
Deferred compensation — stock awards
Capital in excess of stated value
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

43

$

115.6
57.2

2003

$

155.9

292.4
290.1
24.9
50.1
830.3
328.0
417.9
431.0
40.6
$2,047.8

290.5
276.1
56.9
33.2
812.6
338.2
406.5
429.0
44.0
$2,030.3

$

$

22.1
130.3
261.9
19.3
433.6
608.5
131.1
1,173.2

0.3
(10.4)
443.0
499.5
(57.8)
874.6
$2,047.8

55.4
149.0
234.3
9.5
448.2
702.2
151.7
1,302.1

0.3
(8.3)
398.4
398.6
(60.8)
728.2
$2,030.3

The Scotts Company
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
for the ﬁscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in millions)

Common Shares
Shares Amount
Balance, September 30, 2001

31.3

Deferred
Compensation

$0.3

Capital in
Excess of
Stated Value

Retained
Earnings

$398.3

$ 212.3

Net income

82.5

Foreign currency translation
Unrecognized loss on derivatives
Minimum pension liability
Comprehensive income
Issuance of common shares held in treasury
Balance, September 30, 2002

0.3
31.3

0.3

398.6

Net income

294.8
103.8

Stock-based compensation awarded

$ (13.1)

Stock-based compensation expense

13.1

4.8

Foreign currency translation
Unrecognized gain on derivatives
Minimum pension liability
Comprehensive income
Issuance of common shares

0.7

(13.3)

Issuance of common shares held in treasury
Balance, September 30, 2003

32.0

0.3

(8.3)

398.4

Stock-based compensation awarded

(11.0)

11.0

Stock-based compensation expense

8.9

Net income

398.6
100.9

Foreign currency translation
Unrecognized gain on derivatives
Minimum pension liability
Comprehensive income
Issuance of common shares
Balance, September 30, 2004

0.8
32.8
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33.6
$0.3

$(10.4)

$443.0

$499.5

The Scotts Company
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (continued)
for the ﬁscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in millions)

Treasury Stock
Shares Amount
Balance, September 30, 2001

(2.6)

$(70.0)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Minimum Pension
Foreign
Liability
Currency
Derivatives
Adjustment
Translation
$ (1.5)

$ (13.3)

$(19.9)

Net income
1.7

Unrecognized loss on derivatives

(0.6)(b)

Minimum pension liability

1.7
(0.6)

(24.4)(a)

(24.4)

Comprehensive income

Balance, September 30, 2002

$506.2
82.5

Foreign currency translation

Issuance of common shares held in
treasury

Total

59.2
1.4

28.2

(1.2)

(41.8)

28.5
(2.1)

(37.7)

(18.2)

Net income

593.9
103.8

Stock-based compensation awarded
Stock-based compensation expense

4.8

Foreign currency translation

(2.8)

Unrecognized gain on derivatives

0.8(b)

Minimum pension liability

(2.8)
0.8

(0.8)(a)

(0.8)

Comprehensive income

101.0

Issuance of common shares

(13.3)

Issuance of common shares held in
treasury

1.2

41.8

Balance, September 30, 2003

0.0

0.0

41.8
(1.3)

(38.5)

(21.0)

Net income

728.2
100.9

Stock-based compensation awarded
Stock-based compensation expense

8.9

Foreign currency translation

(0.9)

Unrecognized gain on derivatives

1.0(b)

Minimum pension liability

(0.9)
1.0

2.9(a)

2.9

Comprehensive income

103.9

Issuance of common shares

33.6

Balance, September 30, 2004

0.0

$ 0.0

$ (0.3)

$(35.6)

$(21.9)

$874.6

(a) Net of tax (expense) beneﬁts of $(2.0), $1.3, and $14.8 for ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
(b) Net of tax (expense) beneﬁts of $(0.3), $(0.6) and $0.3 for ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Scotts Company
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

The Scotts Company and its subsidiaries (collectively ‘‘Scotts’’ or the ‘‘Company’’) are engaged in the
manufacture, marketing and sale of lawn and garden care products. The Company’s major customers
include home improvement centers, mass merchandisers, warehouse clubs, large hardware chains,
independent hardware stores, nurseries, garden centers, food and drug stores, and distributors who serve
commercial nurseries and greenhouses, specialty crop growers, and small retail accounts. The Company’s
products are sold primarily in North America and the European Union. We also operate the Scotts
LawnService˛ business which provides lawn and tree and shrub fertilization, insect control and other
related services in the United States. Effective October 2, 2004, Scotts acquired Smith & Hawken˛, a
leading brand in the outdoor living and gardening lifestyle category. Smith & Hawken˛ products are sold in
the United States through its 58 retail stores as well as through catalog and internet sales.
Organization and Basis of Presentation

The Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements are presented in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The consolidated ﬁnancial statements
include the accounts of The Scotts Company and all wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany transactions and accounts are eliminated in consolidation. The Company’s criteria for
consolidating entities is based on majority ownership (as evidenced by a majority voting interest in the
entity) and an objective evaluation and determination of effective management control.
Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when products are shipped and when title and risk of loss transfer to the
customer. Provisions for estimated returns and allowances are recorded at the time of shipment based on
historical rates of returns as a percentage of sales and are periodically adjusted for known changes in
return levels. Scotts LawnService˛ revenues are recognized at the time service is provided to the customer.
Under the terms of the Marketing Agreement between The Scotts Company and Monsanto, the
Company in its role as exclusive agent performs certain functions, such as sales support, merchandising,
distribution and logistics on behalf of Monsanto, and incurs certain costs in support of the consumer
Roundup˛ business. The actual costs incurred by Scotts on behalf of Roundup˛ are recovered from
Monsanto through the terms of the Agency Agreement and are treated solely as a recovery of incurred
costs. Revenue is not recognized in the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements for the recovery of
these costs since the services rendered are solely in support of the agency arrangement and not a part of
any principal line of business.
Promotional Allowances

The Company promotes its branded products through cooperative advertising programs with retailers.
Retailers also are offered in-store promotional allowances and rebates based on sales volumes. Certain
products are promoted with direct consumer rebate programs and special purchasing incentives. Promotion
costs (including allowances and rebates) incurred during the year are expensed to interim periods in
relation to revenues and are recorded as a reduction of net sales.
Advertising

The Company advertises its branded products through national and regional media. All advertising
costs, except for external production costs, are expensed within the ﬁscal year in which such costs are
incurred. External production costs for advertising programs are deferred until the period in which the
advertising is ﬁrst aired.
Scotts LawnService˛ promotes its service offerings through direct response mail campaigns. The
external costs associated with these campaigns are deferred and recognized ratably as advertising expense
in proportion to revenues as advertising costs over a period not in excess of one year. The costs deferred
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at September 30, 2004 and 2003 were $1.6 million and $1.0 million, respectively.
Franchise Operations

The Company’s Scotts LawnService˛ segment consists of 68 company-operated locations serving
49 metropolitan markets, with an additional 74 independent franchise locations operating primarily in
secondary markets at September 30, 2004. In ﬁscal 2003, there were 68 company-operated and 70
franchised locations. Franchise fee income and royalties are not material to total income from continuing
operations.
Research and Development

All costs associated with research and development are charged to expense as incurred. Expense for
ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $34.4 million, $30.4 million and $26.2 million, respectively.
Environmental Costs

The Company recognizes environmental liabilities when conditions requiring remediation are identiﬁed.
The Company determines its liability on a site by site basis and records a liability when it is probable and
can be reasonably estimated. Expenditures which extend the life of the related property or mitigate or
prevent future environmental contamination are capitalized. Environmental liabilities are not discounted or
reduced for possible recoveries from insurance carriers.
Internal Use Software

The Company accounts for the costs of internal use software in accordance with Statement of Position
98-1, ‘‘Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use’’.
Accordingly, costs are expensed or capitalized depending on whether they are incurred in the preliminary
project stage, application development stage or the post-implementation/operation stage. As of
September 30, 2004 and 2003, the Company had $40.2 million and $43.3 million, respectively, in
unamortized capitalized internal use computer software costs. Amortization of these costs was
$8.7 million, $9.0 million and $5.8 million during ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Earnings per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is based on the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding each period. Diluted earnings per common share is based on the weighted-average number of
common shares and dilutive potential common shares (stock options, stock appreciation rights and
warrants) outstanding each period.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid ﬁnancial instruments with original maturities of three months
or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash deposits in banks which from time to time
exceed the amount of deposit insurance available. Management periodically assesses the ﬁnancial
condition of the institutions and believes that any potential credit loss is minimal.
Investments

Investments consist of adjustable rate notes issued by a variety of borrowers (the ‘‘Notes’’). The Notes
have been accounted for as ‘‘available for sale securities’’ in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 115, ‘‘Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.’’ Cost is
equivalent to fair value at the balance sheet date as the Notes can be put back to a remarketing agent at
any time at 100% of par value. The Notes are secured by an irrevocable, direct pay letter of credit. The
Notes held at September 30, 2004, in the amount of $57.2 million, were redeemed on October 1, 2004.
The proceeds from the Notes were used to partially fund the acquisition of Smith & Hawken as discussed
in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable losses in our existing
accounts receivable. We determine the allowance based on customer risk assessment and historical writeoff experience. We review our allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Past due balances over 90 days
and in excess of a speciﬁed amount are reviewed individually for collectibility. All other balances are
reviewed on a pooled basis by type of receivable. Account balances are charged off against the allowance
when we feel it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. We do not have any off-balance-sheet
credit exposure related to our customers.
Receivables consist of the following at September 30, 2004 and 2003 (in millions):
2004

2003

Trade
Other

$317.4
4.0

$308.3
11.2

Total receivables

$321.4

$319.5

Following are the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended
September 30, 2004, 2003, and 2002 (in millions):

September 30, 2004
September 30, 2003
September 30, 2002

Balance at
Beginning of Year

Additions

$29.0
$ 33.2
$ 27.4

3.4
3.2
12.0

Write-offs
net of
recoveries
(3.4)
(7.4)
(6.2)

Balance at
end of Year
$29.0
$29.0
$ 33.2

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, principally determined by the FIFO method.
Certain growing media inventories are accounted for by the LIFO method. At September 30, 2004 and
2003, approximately 6% of inventories, are valued at the lower of LIFO cost or market. Inventories include
the cost of raw materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. The Company makes provisions for obsolete
or slow-moving inventories as necessary to properly reﬂect inventory at the lower of cost or market value.
Reserves for excess and obsolete inventories were $21.3 million and $22.0 million at September 30, 2004
and 2003, respectively.
Long-lived Assets

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred. When properties are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost of the
asset and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with the resulting gain or
loss being reﬂected in income from operations.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided on the straight-line method and is based
on the estimated useful economic lives of the assets as follows:
Land improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and ﬁxtures
Software

10 – 25
10 – 40
3 – 15
6 – 10
3–8

years
years
years
years
years

Interest capitalized on capital projects amounted to $1.4 million and $1.1 million during ﬁscal 2003
and 2002, respectively. There was no capitalized interest in ﬁscal 2004.
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Management assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets being amortized whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable from its
future undiscounted cash ﬂows. If it is determined that an impairment has occurred, an impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated fair value.
Management also assesses the recoverability of goodwill and intangible assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable from its
discounted future cash ﬂows. Goodwill and intangible assets not being amortized are reviewed for
impairment at least annually during the ﬁrst ﬁscal quarter. If it is determined that an impairment of
intangible assets has occurred, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying
value of the asset exceeds its estimated fair value.
Foreign Exchange Instruments

Gains and losses on foreign currency transaction hedges are recognized in income and offset the
foreign exchange gains and losses on the underlying transactions. Gains and losses on foreign currency
ﬁrm commitment hedges are deferred and included in the basis of the transactions underlying the
commitments.
All assets and liabilities in the balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is
other than the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollar equivalents at ﬁscal year-end exchange rates.
Translation gains and losses are accumulated as a separate component of other comprehensive income
and included in shareholders’ equity. Income and expense items are translated at the twelve month
average of the month end exchange rates. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in
the determination of net income.
Derivative Instruments

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to ﬂuctuations in interest rates and the
value of foreign currencies. The Company has established policies and procedures that govern the
management of these exposures through the use of a variety of ﬁnancial instruments. The Company
employs various ﬁnancial instruments, including forward exchange contracts and swap agreements, to
manage certain of the exposures when practical. By policy, the Company does not enter into such
contracts for the purpose of speculation or use leveraged ﬁnancial instruments. The Company’s derivative
activities are managed by the Chief Financial Ofﬁcer and other senior management of the Company in
consultation with the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors. These activities include establishing a
risk-management philosophy and objectives, providing guidelines for derivative-instrument usage and
establishing procedures for control and valuation, counterparty credit approval and the monitoring and
reporting of derivative activity.
The Company’s objective in managing its exposure to ﬂuctuations in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates is to decrease the volatility of earnings and cash ﬂows associated with changes in
the applicable rates and prices. To achieve this objective, the Company primarily enters into forward
exchange contracts and swap agreements whose values change in the opposite direction of the anticipated
cash ﬂows. Derivative instruments related to forecasted transactions are considered to hedge future cash
ﬂows, and the effective portion of any gains or losses is included in other comprehensive income until
earnings are affected by the variability of cash ﬂows. Any remaining gain or loss is recognized currently in
earnings. The cash ﬂows of the derivative instruments are expected to be highly effective in achieving
offsetting cash ﬂows attributable to ﬂuctuations in the cash ﬂows of the hedged risk. If it becomes
probable that a forecasted transaction will no longer occur, the derivative will continue to be carried on the
balance sheet at fair value, and gains and losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income
will be recognized immediately in earnings.
To manage certain of its cash ﬂow exposures, the Company has entered into forward exchange
contracts and interest rate swap agreements. The forward exchange contracts are designated as hedges of
the Company’s foreign currency exposure associated with future cash ﬂows. The change in the value of the
amounts payable or receivable under forward exchange contracts are recorded as adjustments to other
income or expense. The interest rate swap agreements are designated as hedges of the Company’s interest
rate risk associated with certain variable rate debt. The change in the value of the amounts payable or
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receivable under the swap agreements are recorded as adjustments to interest expense. Unrealized gains
or losses resulting from valuing these swaps at fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income.
The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, which is amended by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, ‘‘Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities’’, as of October 2000. Since adoption, there have been no gains or
losses recognized in earnings for hedge ineffectiveness or due to excluding a portion of the value from
measuring effectiveness.
Stock-Based Compensation Awards

Beginning in ﬁscal 2003, the Company began expensing prospective grants of employee stock-based
compensation awards in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’’ as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an Amendment of
SFAS No. 123’’. The fair value of awards granted in ﬁscal 2003 and subsequent years are expensed ratably
over the vesting period, which has historically been three years, except for grants to members of the Board
of Directors, which have a six month vesting period. Prior to ﬁscal 2003, the Company accounted for stock
options under APB 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’’ and, as allowable, adopted only the
disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123.
On March 31, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) issued its Exposure Draft, ‘‘ShareBased Payment’’ which is a proposed amendment to SFAS No. 123. Generally, the approach in the
Exposure Draft is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123. The Exposure Draft would require all
share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options and stock appreciation
rights, to be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Companies would no longer
have the option to account for their share-based awards to employees using APB Opinion No. 25 (the
intrinsic value model) or SFAS No. 123 (the fair value model). As the Company is accounting for its
employee stock-based compensation awards in accordance with SFAS No. 123, adoption of the proposed
amendment is not expected to have a signiﬁcant effect on the Company’s results of operations.
In ﬁscal 2004, the Company granted 59,000 options to executive ofﬁcers and key employees in our
international organization, 76,250 options to members of the Board of Directors and 387,750 stock
appreciation rights to executive ofﬁcers and other key employees in our domestic organization. In ﬁscal
2003, the Company granted 404,500 options to ofﬁcers and key employees, 63,000 options to members
of the Board of Directors, and 239,000 stock appreciation rights to other key employees. The exercise
price for the option awards and the stated price for the stock appreciation rights awards were determined
by the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the date of grant. The related compensation
expense recorded in ﬁscal 2004 and 2003 was $7.8 million and $4.8 million, respectively.
The Black-Scholes value of options granted in ﬁscal 2002 was $10.7 million. The Black-Scholes value
of all stock-based compensation grants awarded during ﬁscal 2004 and ﬁscal 2003 was $11.0 million and
$13.1 million, respectively. Had compensation expense been recognized for the periods ended
September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 in accordance with the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, the

50

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Company would have recorded net income and net income per share as follows (in millions, except per
share data):
For the ﬁscal years ended
September 30,
2004
2003
2002
Net income
Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income,
net of tax
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under
fair value based method for all awards, net of tax

$100.9

$103.8

4.9

2.9

(7.1)

(7.0)

Net income, as adjusted

$ 98.7

$ 99.7

$ 77.6

$ 3.12
$ 3.03

$ 3.36
$ 3.23

$ 2.81
$ 2.61

$ 3.06
$ 2.96

$ 3.23
$ 3.11

$2.65
$ 2.45

Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted
Net income per share, as adjusted:
Basic
Diluted

$82.5

(4.9)

The ‘‘as adjusted’’ amounts shown above are not necessarily representative of the impact on net
income in future periods.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and accompanying disclosures. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions the Company may
undertake in the future, actual results ultimately may differ from the estimates.
Reclassifications

Certain reclassiﬁcations have been made to the prior years’ ﬁnancial statements to conform to ﬁscal
2004 classiﬁcations.
NOTE 2. DETAIL OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENT ACCOUNTS

2004

2003
(in millions)

INVENTORIES, NET:
Finished goods
Raw materials
Total

$ 217.3
72.8
$290.1
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2004
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET:
Land and improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and ﬁxtures
Software
Construction in progress
Less: accumulated depreciation
Total

$ 42.5
128.3
324.8
40.4
75.7
17.7
(301.4)
$ 328.0

ACCRUED LIABILITIES:
Payroll and other compensation accruals
Advertising and promotional accruals
Restructuring accruals
Other
Total

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accrued pension and postretirement liabilities
Legal and environmental reserves
Other
Total

2003
$ 37.4
127.7
316.9
38.9
70.1
17.7
(270.5)
$ 338.2

2004

2003

$ 66.7
85.0
5.3
104.9
$261.9

$ 53.5
107.1
4.5
69.2
$ 234.3

2004

2003

$104.7
6.0
20.4
$ 131.1

$108.1
6.8
36.8
$ 151.7

NOTE 3. MARKETING AGREEMENT

Effective September 30, 1998, the Company entered into an agreement with Monsanto Company
(‘‘Monsanto’’) for exclusive domestic and international marketing and agency rights to Monsanto’s
consumer Roundup˛ herbicide products. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is entitled to
receive an annual commission from Monsanto in consideration for the performance of its duties as agent.
The annual commission is calculated as a percentage of the actual earnings before interest and income
taxes (EBIT), as deﬁned in the agreement, of the Roundup˛ business. Each year’s percentage varies in
accordance with the terms of the agreement based on the achievement of two earnings thresholds and on
commission rates that vary by threshold and program year.
The agreement also requires the Company to make ﬁxed annual payments to Monsanto as a
contribution against the overall expenses of the Roundup˛ business. The annual ﬁxed payment is deﬁned
as $20 million. However, portions of the annual payments for the ﬁrst three years of the agreement are
deferred. No payment was required for the ﬁrst year (ﬁscal 1999), a payment of $5 million was required for
the second year and a payment of $15 million was required for the third year so that a total of $40 million
of the contribution payments were deferred. Beginning in ﬁscal 2003, the ﬁfth year of the agreement, the
annual payments to Monsanto increase to at least $25 million, which include per annum interest charges
at 8%. The annual payments may be increased above $25 million if certain signiﬁcant earnings targets are
exceeded. If all of the deferred contribution amounts are paid prior to 2018, the annual contribution
payments revert to $20 million. Regardless of whether the deferred contribution amounts are paid, all
contribution payments cease entirely in 2018.
The Company is recognizing a charge each year associated with the annual contribution payments
equal to the required payment for that year. The Company is not recognizing a charge for the portions of
the contribution payments that are deferred until the time those deferred amounts are paid. The Company
considers this method of accounting for the contribution payments to be appropriate after consideration of
the likely term of the agreement, the Company’s ability to terminate the agreement without paying the
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deferred amounts, and the fact that a signiﬁcant portion of the deferred amount is never paid, even if the
agreement is not terminated prior to 2018, unless signiﬁcant earnings targets are exceeded.
The express terms of the agreement permit the Company to terminate the agreement only upon
material breach, material fraud or material willful misconduct by Monsanto, as such terms are deﬁned in
the agreement, or upon the sale of the Consumer Roundup˛ business by Monsanto. In such instances, the
agreement permits the Company to avoid payment of any deferred contribution and related per annum
charge. The Company’s basis for not recording a ﬁnancial liability to Monsanto for the deferred portions of
the annual contribution and per annum charge is based on our assessment and consultations with our
legal counsel and the Company’s independent accountants. In addition, the Company has obtained a legal
opinion from The Bayard Firm, P.A., which concluded, subject to certain qualiﬁcations, that if the matter
were litigated, a Delaware court would likely conclude that the Company is entitled to terminate the
agreement at will, with appropriate prior notice, without incurring signiﬁcant penalty, and avoid paying the
unpaid deferred amounts. We have concluded that, should the Company elect to terminate the agreement
at any balance sheet date, it will not incur signiﬁcant economic consequences as a result of such action.
The Bayard Firm was special Delaware counsel retained during ﬁscal 2000 solely for the limited
purpose of providing a legal opinion in support of the contingent liability treatment of the agreement
previously adopted by the Company and has neither generally represented or advised the Company nor
participated in the preparation or review of the Company’s ﬁnancial statements or any SEC ﬁlings. The
terms of such opinion speciﬁcally limit the parties who are entitled to rely on it.
The Company’s conclusion is not free from challenge and, in fact, would likely be challenged if the
Company were to terminate the agreement. If it were determined that, upon termination, the Company
must pay any remaining deferred contribution amounts and related per annum charges, the resulting
charge to earnings could have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and ﬁnancial
position. At September 30, 2004, contribution payments and related per annum charges of approximately
$47.6 million had been deferred under the agreement. This amount is considered a contingent obligation
and has not been reﬂected in the ﬁnancial statements as of and for the year then ended.
Monsanto has disclosed that it is accruing the $20 million ﬁxed contribution fee per year beginning in
the fourth quarter of Monsanto’s ﬁscal year 1998, plus interest on the deferred portion.
The marketing agreement has no deﬁnite term except as it relates to the European Union countries.
With respect to the European Union countries, the initial term of the marketing agreement extends through
September 30, 2005 and may be renewed at the option of both parties for three successive terms ending
on September 30, 2008, 2015 and 2018, with a separate determination being made by the parties at least
six months prior to the expiration of each such term as to whether to commence a subsequent renewal
term. If Monsanto does not agree to the renewal terms with respect to the European countries, the
commission structure will be recalculated in a manner likely to be favorable to Scotts. For countries
outside of the European Union, the agreement continues indeﬁnitely unless terminated by either party. The
agreement provides Monsanto with the right to terminate the agreement for an event of default (as deﬁned
in the agreement) by the Company or a change of control of Monsanto or the sale of the consumer
Roundup˛ business. The agreement provides the Company with the right to terminate the agreement in
certain circumstances including an event of default by Monsanto or the sale of the consumer Roundup˛
business. Unless Monsanto terminates the agreement for an event of default by the Company, Monsanto is
required to pay a termination fee to the Company that varies by program year. If Monsanto terminates the
marketing agreement upon a change of control of Monsanto or the sale of the consumer Roundup˛
business prior to September 30, 2008, we will be entitled to a termination fee in excess of $100 million. If
we terminate the agreement upon an uncured material breach, material fraud or material willful misconduct
by Monsanto, we will be entitled to receive a termination fee in excess of $100 million if the termination
occurs prior to September 30, 2008. The termination fee declines over time from $100 million to a
minimum of $16 million for terminations between September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2018.
In consideration for the rights granted to the Company under the agreement for North America, the
Company was required to pay a marketing fee of $33 million to Monsanto. The Company has deferred this
amount on the basis that the payment will provide a future beneﬁt through commissions that will be
earned under the agreement and is amortizing the balance over ten years, which is the estimated likely
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term of the agreement. The unamortized balance of the deferred marketing fee was $13.2 million as
September 30, 2004.
NOTE 4. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES
2004 Charges

During ﬁscal 2004, the Company recorded $9.7 million of restructuring and other charges. Charges
related to our North America distribution restructuring were classiﬁed as cost of sales in the amount of
$0.6 million. Severance costs related to our International Proﬁt Improvement Plan and the restructuring of
our International team amounted to $6.1 million. The restructuring of our Global Business Information
Services group amounted to $3.0 million and related primarily to severance and outside service costs. The
severance costs incurred in ﬁscal 2004 are related to the reduction of 75 administrative and production
employees. These expenses are classiﬁed as selling, general and administrative costs.
2003 Charges

During ﬁscal 2003, the Company recorded $17.1 million of restructuring and other charges. Costs of
$5.3 million for warehouse lease buyouts and relocation of inventory associated with exiting certain
warehouses in North America, and $3.8 million related to a plan to optimize our International supply chain
were included in cost of sales. Severance and consulting costs of $5.3 million for the continued European
integration efforts that began in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2002, and $2.7 million of administrative facility
exit costs in North America were charged to selling, general and administrative expense. The severance
costs incurred in ﬁscal 2003 are related to the reduction of 78 administrative and production employees.
2002 Charges

During ﬁscal 2002, the Company recorded $8.1 million of restructuring and other charges. The
Company recorded $4.0 million of severance and pension related costs associated with reductions of
headcount from the closure of a manufacturing facility in Bramford, England in selling, general and
administrative costs. Closure of the Bramford facility was completed in May 2003 with the transfer of
United Kingdom fertilizer production to our Howden, United Kingdom facility. Severance costs incurred in
ﬁscal 2002 are related to the reduction of 37 administrative and production employees.
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, certain restructuring
costs related to relocation of personnel, equipment and inventory are to be expensed in the period the
costs are actually incurred. During ﬁscal 2002, inventory relocation costs of approximately $1.7 million
were incurred and paid and were recorded as restructuring and other charges in cost of sales.
Approximately $2.4 million of employee relocation and related costs were also incurred and paid in ﬁscal
2002 and were recorded as restructuring and other charges in operating expenses. These relocation
charges related to a plan to optimize the North America supply chain that was initiated in the third and
fourth quarters of ﬁscal 2001.
The following is a rollforward of the cash portion of the restructuring and other charges accrued in
ﬁscal 2004 and 2003 (in millions).

Description

Type

Severance
Facility exit costs
Other related costs
Total cash

Cash
Cash
Cash

Classiﬁcation
SG&A
SG&A/COS
SG&A
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September,
2003
Balance

Payment

Accrual

$1.6
0.9
2.0
$4.5

$(4.6)
(1.9)
(2.4)
$(8.9)

$ 7.7
1.0
1.0
$9.7

September,
2004
Balance
$ 4.7
0.6
$ 5.3
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Description

Type

Classiﬁcation

Severance
Facility exit costs
Other related costs
Total cash

Cash
Cash
Cash

SG&A
SG&A/COS
SG&A

September,
2002
Balance

Payment

Accrual

$ 6.8
3.5
1.7
$12.0

$(5.4)
(2.6)
(1.3)
$(9.3)

$0.2

September,
2003
Balance

1.6
$ 1.8

$ 1.6
0.9
2.0
$ 4.5

The restructuring activities to which these costs apply are expected to be largely completed in ﬁscal
2005. The balance of the accrued charges at September 30, 2004 and 2003 are included in accrued
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
NOTE 5. ACQUISITIONS

Effective October 2, 2004, Scotts acquired all outstanding shares of Smith & Hawken˛, a leading
brand in the outdoor living and gardening lifestyle category, for a total cost of $74.9 million. Of the total
purchase price, $58.9 million was paid in cash, while debt and other purchase obligations of $16.0 million
were assumed. Final purchase accounting allocations are expected to be completed by the end of the ﬁrst
ﬁscal quarter of 2005. Likewise, the allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition, is also pending. Smith &
Hawken˛ products are sold primarily through 58 retail stores around the United States as well as through
catalog and internet sales. Smith & Hawken˛ competes in several categories, including garden tools,
gardening containers, pottery, live goods and high-end outdoor furniture.
From ﬁscal 2002 through 2004, the Company’s Scotts Lawnservice˛ segment acquired 43 individual
lawn service entities for a total cost of $89.4 million. The following table summarizes the details of these
transactions by ﬁscal year (dollar amounts in millions):

Number of individual acquisitions
Total Cost
Portion of cost paid in cash
Notes Issued and liabilities assumed
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Working capital and property, plant and equipment

2004

Fiscal Year
2003

2002

4
$4.0
3.0
1.0
$3.0
0.6
0.4

22
$30.6
17.2
13.4
$22.3
6.2
2.1

17
$54.8
33.9
20.9
$42.7
8.7
3.4

In addition to the above, the Company acquired the minority interest in the Scotts LawnService˛
business during ﬁscal 2004 for $5.2 million ($2.0 million in cash and $3.2 million in seller notes). The
purchase price was allocated to goodwill in the amount of $5.1 million and other intangible assets in the
amount of $0.1.
Of the goodwill recorded, $3.0 million, $20.4 million, and $42.7 million for ﬁscal years 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively, was deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill is not being amortized for ﬁnancial
reporting purposes. Other intangible assets consist primarily of customer lists and non-compete
agreements, and are being amortized for ﬁnancial reporting purposes over a period of 7 and 3 years,
respectively.
During ﬁscal 2004, the Company acquired the minority interest in a subsidiary for $3.2 million, the
cost of which was allocated to goodwill. The Company’s North America segment acquired two entities to
enter the pottery business in ﬁscal 2003. The aggregate purchase price for these two entities was
$3.2 million, all of which was paid in cash. Goodwill of $0.8 million pertaining to these acquisitions is tax
deductible. Other intangible assets, primarily customer accounts of $1.0 million, and inventory of
$1.4 million were also recorded.
The aforementioned acquisitions made prior to September 30, 2004, individually or in the aggregate,
are deemed immaterial for pro forma disclosure.
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NOTE 6. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Effective October 1, 2001, Scotts adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’’. In accordance with this standard, goodwill and certain other
intangible assets, primarily tradenames, have been classiﬁed as indeﬁnite-lived assets no longer subject to
amortization. Indeﬁnite-lived assets are subject to impairment testing upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 and
at least annually thereafter. The initial impairment analysis was completed in the second quarter of ﬁscal
2002, taking into account additional guidance provided by EITF 02-07, ‘‘Unit of Measure for Testing
Impairment of Indeﬁnite-Lived Intangible Assets’’. The value of all indeﬁnite-lived tradenames as of
October 1, 2001 was determined using a ‘‘royalty savings’’ methodology that was employed when the
businesses associated with these tradenames were acquired but using updated estimates of sales, cash
ﬂow and proﬁtability. As a result, a pre-tax impairment loss of $29.8 million was recorded for the
writedown of the value of the tradenames in our International Consumer businesses in Germany, France
and the United Kingdom. This transitional impairment charge was recorded as a cumulative effect of
accounting change, net of tax, as of October 1, 2001. After completing this initial valuation and impairment
of tradenames, an initial assessment for goodwill impairment was performed. It was determined that a
goodwill impairment charge was not required.
Intangible assets include patents, tradenames and other intangible assets which are valued at
acquisition with the assistance of independent appraisals where material, or through other valuation
techniques. Patents, trademarks and other intangible assets are being amortized on the straight-line
method over periods varying from 7 to 40 years. The useful lives of intangible assets still subject to
amortization were not revised as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142.
Management assesses the recoverability of goodwill, tradenames and other intangible assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable from its discounted future cash ﬂows. Goodwill and unamortizable intangible assets are
reviewed for impairment at least annually. If it is determined that an impairment of intangible assets has
occurred, an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its estimated fair value.
In the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2004, the Company completed its annual impairment analysis and
determined that a charge for annual impairment was not required.
The following table presents goodwill and intangible assets as of September 30, 2004 and 2003
(dollars in millions).
Weighted
Average
Life
Amortizable intangible assets:
Technology
Customer accounts
Tradenames
Other

21
7
16
15

September 30, 2004
Gross
Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount
Amortization
Amount
$69.1
44.4
11.0
56.4

$(26.1)
(8.6)
(3.6)
(41.6)

Total amortizable
intangible assets, net
Unamortizable intangible
assets:
Tradenames
Other
Total intangible assets,
net
Goodwill
Total goodwill and
intangible assets, net
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$ 43.0
35.8
7.4
14.8

September 30, 2003
Gross
Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount
Amortization
Amount
$66.9
42.3
11.3
54.6

$(22.7)
(6.0)
(3.0)
(37.9)

$ 44.2
36.3
8.3
16.7

101.0

105.5

326.6
3.4

320.3
3.2

431.0
417.9

429.0
406.5

$848.9

$835.5
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The changes to the net carrying value of goodwill by segment for the ﬁscal years ended
September 30, 2004 and 2003, are as follows (in millions):
North
America

Scotts
LawnService˛

Balance as of September 30, 2002
Increases due to acquisitions
Reduction of ﬁnal purchase price of previous acquisitions
Other (primarily cumulative translation)

$204.6
0.8
(1.6)
(0.4)

Balance as of September 30, 2003
Increases due to acquisitions
Reduction of ﬁnal purchase price of previous acquisitions
Reclassiﬁcations
Other

203.4
3.2
(1.8)
(1.7)
(4.4)

Balance as of September 30, 2004

$ 198.7

International

Total

$ 68.5
22.3

$104.4

0.6

7.3

$ 377.5
23.1
(1.6)
7.5

91.4
8.9

111.7

406.5
12.1
(4.3)
1.0
2.6

(2.5)
2.7
7.0
$100.3

$118.9

$ 417.9

The total amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$8.3 million, $8.6 million and $5.7 million, respectively.
Estimated amortization expense for the existing amortizable intangible assets for the years ended
September 30, is as follows (in millions)
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

$9.1
8.9
8.7
8.5
7.7

NOTE 7. RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company offers a deﬁned contribution proﬁt sharing and 401(k) plan for substantially all
U.S. employees. The majority of full and part-time employees may participate in the plan on the ﬁrst day
of the month after being hired, with a portion of the workforce being required to wait 60 days. The plan
allows participants to contribute up to 75% of their compensation in the form of pre-tax contributions, not
to exceed the annual Internal Revenue Service (IRS) maximum deferral amount. The Company provides a
matching contribution equivalent to 100% of participants’ initial 3% contribution and 50% of the
participants’ remaining contribution up to 5%. Participants are immediately vested in employee
contributions, the Company’s matching contributions and the investment return on those monies. The
Company also provides a base contribution to employees’ accounts regardless of whether employees are
active in the plan. The base contribution is 2% of compensation up to 50% of the Social Security taxable
wage base plus 4% of compensation in excess of 50% of the Social Security taxable wage base. Domestic
employees of the Company are eligible to receive base contributions on the ﬁrst day of the month
following the date of hire with a portion of the workforce eligible to receive base contributions on the ﬁrst
day of the month after completing one year of service. Participants become fully vested in the Company’s
base contribution after three years of service. The Company recorded charges of $9.7 million, $9.6 million
and $7.3 million under the plan in ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
In conjunction with the decision to offer the expanded deﬁned contribution proﬁt sharing and 401(k)
plan to domestic Company associates, management decided to freeze beneﬁts under certain deﬁned
beneﬁt pension plans as of December 31, 1997 and close the plan to new associates. These pension plans
covered substantially all full-time U.S. associates who had completed one year of eligible service and
reached the age of 21. The beneﬁts under these plans are based on years of service and the associates’
average ﬁnal compensation or stated amounts. The Company’s funding policy, consistent with statutory
requirements and tax considerations, is based on actuarial computations using the Projected Unit Credit
method. The Company also curtailed its non-qualiﬁed supplemental pension plan which provides for
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incremental pension payments from the Company so that total pension payments equal amounts that
would have been payable from the Company’s pension plans if it were not for limitations imposed by
income tax regulations.
The Company also sponsors the following pension plans associated with the International businesses
it has acquired: Scotts International BV (Netherlands), ASEF BV (Netherlands), The Scotts Company Ltd.
(United Kingdom), Miracle Garden Care Ltd. (United Kingdom), Scotts France SAS, Scotts Celaﬂor GmbH
(Germany) and Scotts Celaﬂor HG (Austria). These plans generally cover all associates of the respective
businesses and retirement beneﬁts are generally based on years of service and compensation levels. The
pension plans for Scotts International BV, ASEF BV, The Scotts Company Ltd., and Miracle Garden Care Ltd.
are funded plans. The remaining International pension plans are not funded by separately held plan
assets.
During ﬁscal 2004, the two existing U.K. plans were closed to new participants, with the existing
participants having the option of remaining in the plan and continuing to accrue beneﬁts or converting
their participation to a new deﬁned contribution plan. All newly hired associates of Scotts U.K. will
participate in the new deﬁned contribution plan. In connection with the closure of a manufacturing plant
in Bramford, England, completed in May 2003, special termination beneﬁts of $1.5 million were recorded
as a component of restructuring expense in September 2002.
The following tables present information about beneﬁt obligations, plan assets, annual expense,
assumptions and other information about the Company’s deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans (in millions):
Curtailed
Deﬁned
Beneﬁt Plan
2004
2003
Change in beneﬁt obligation
Beneﬁt obligation at beginning
of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants’ contributions
Curtailment gain
Actuarial loss (gain)
Beneﬁts paid
Foreign currency translation
Beneﬁt obligation at end of
year
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at
beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contribution
Plan participants’ contributions
Beneﬁts paid
Foreign currency translation

$ 86.6

$ 77.0

5.0

4.9

3.5
(5.3)

9.7
(5.0)

International
Beneﬁt Plans
2004
2003

$ 119.0
4.1
6.6
0.9
(0.5)
(3.6)
(4.5)
8.9

$ 101.2
4.0
5.8
0.7

Curtailed
Supplemental
Plan
2004
2003

$ 2.1

$ 2.0

0.1

0.1

0.3
(0.2)

0.2
(0.2)

1.5
(3.8)
9.6

$ 89.8

$ 86.6

$ 130.9

$ 119.0

$ 2.3

$ 2.1

$ 59.2
6.2
9.5

$ 49.8
7.7
6.7

$ 63.6
8.9
6.1
0.9
(4.5)
5.0

$ 51.0
6.1
5.2
0.7
(3.8)
4.4

$

$

(5.3)

(5.0)

0.2

0.2

(0.2)

(0.2)

Fair value of plan assets at end
of year

$ 69.6

$ 59.2

$ 80.0

$ 63.6

$

$

Amounts recognized in the
statement of ﬁnancial
position consist of:
Funded status
Unrecognized losses

$(20.2)
34.8

$(27.4)
35.6

$ (50.9)
31.9

$ (55.4)
38.3

$(2.3)
0.8

$ (2.1)
0.6

Net amount recognized

$ 14.6

$ 8.2

$ (19.0)

$ (17.1)

$ (1.5)

$ (1.5)
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Curtailed
Deﬁned
Beneﬁt Plan
2004
2003
Weighted average assumptions:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

5.75%
n/a

6.00%
n/a

5.0-5.5%
5.25%
3.0-4.0% 3.0-4.0%

Curtailed
Deﬁned
Beneﬁt Plan
2004
2003
2002
Components of net periodic
beneﬁt cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization and deferral
Curtailment gain
Net periodic beneﬁt cost

$

$
5.0
(4.5)
2.6

$ 3.1

$
4.9
(3.8)
1.9

$ 3.0

5.1
(4.4)
0.7
$ 1.4

Curtailed
Deﬁned
Beneﬁt Plan
2004
2003
2002
Weighted average assumptions:
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

6.0%
8.0%
n/a

6.75%
8.0%
n/a

Curtailed
Supplemental
Plan
2004
2003

International
Beneﬁt Plans
2004
2003

International
Beneﬁt Plans
2004
2003
2002
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6.00%
n/a

Curtailed
Supplemental
Plan
2004
2003
2002

$ 4.2
6.6
(5.3)
1.8
(0.3)

$ 4.0
5.8
(4.0)
2.2

$ 3.1
4.5
(4.0)
0.7

$
0.1

0.1

0.1

$ 7.0

$ 8.0

$ 4.3

$ 0.1

$ 0.1

$ 0.1

2004

7.5%
8.0%
n/a

5.75%
n/a

International
Beneﬁt Plans
2003

5.25%
6.0-8.0%
3.0-4.0%

5.5%
7.0-8.0%
3.0-4.0%

2002
5.5-6.5%
4.0-8.0%
2.5-4.0%

$

$

Curtailed
Supplemental
Plan
2004
2003 2002
6.0% 6.75%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

7.5%
n/a
n/a
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Other Information:
Curtailed
Deﬁned
Beneﬁt Plan
Plan asset allocations:
Target for September 30, 2005:
Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
September 30, 2004:
Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
September 30, 2003:
Equity securities
Debt securities
Other
Expected contributions in ﬁscal 2005:
Company
Employee
Expected future beneﬁt payments:
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Total 2010 to 2014

$

International
Beneﬁt
Plans

55-65%
35-45%
up to 5%

67%
33%

60%
39%
1%

84%
12%
4%

57%
40%
3%

89%
9%
2%

5.3
5.4
5.5
5.6
5.7
30.7

Curtailed
Supplemental
Plan

$ 6.9
0.7

$0.2

$ 4.4
4.6
4.7
4.8
5.0
27.3

$0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.9

Investment Strategy:
The Scotts Company maintains target allocation percentages among various asset classes based on an
individual investment policy established for each of the various pension plans which are designed to
achieve long term objectives of return, while mitigating against downside risk and considering expected
cash ﬂows. Our investment policies are reviewed from time to time to ensure consistency with our longterm objectives.
Basis for Long-Term Rate of Return on Assets Assumption:
The Company’s expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions are derived from studies
conducted by our actuaries. The studies include a review of anticipated future long-term performance of
individual asset classes and consideration of the appropriate asset allocation strategy given the
anticipated requirements of the plan to determine the average rate of earnings expected on the funds
invested to provide for beneﬁts under the various pension plans. While the studies give appropriate
consideration to recent fund performance and historical returns, the assumptions are primarily a long-term,
prospective rate.
NOTE 8. ASSOCIATE BENEFITS

The Company provides comprehensive major medical beneﬁts to certain of its retired associates and
their dependents. Substantially all of the Company’s domestic associates who were hired before January 1,
1998 become eligible for these beneﬁts if they retire at age 55 or older with more than ten years of
service. The plan requires certain minimum contributions from retired associates and includes provisions to
limit the overall cost increases the Company is required to cover. The Company funds its portion of retiree
medical beneﬁts on a pay-as-you-go basis.
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The following table sets forth the information about the retiree medical plan for domestic associates
(in millions):

Change in Accumulated Plan Beneﬁt Obligation (APBO)
Beneﬁt obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants’ contributions
Actuarial loss
Beneﬁts paid
APBO at end of year
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Employer contribution
Plan participants’ contributions
Beneﬁts paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

2004

2003

$ 31.8
0.5
2.0
0.5
1.3
(2.3)
$ 33.8

$ 20.8
0.4
1.9
0.5
10.4
(2.2)
$ 31.8

$

$
1.8
0.5
(2.3)

Amounts recognized in the statement of ﬁnancial position
consist of:
Funded status
Unrecognized prior service costs
Unrecognized prior loss
Net amount recognized

1.7
0.5
(2.2)

$

$

$ (33.8)

$ (31.8)
(0.4)
7.9
$ (24.3)

8.8
$ (25.0)

Net periodic post retirement beneﬁt cost amounted to $2.5 million, $1.8 million, and $0.8 million for
ﬁscal 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act (the ‘‘Act’’) became law. The Act provides for a federal subsidy to
sponsors of retiree health care beneﬁt plans that provide a prescription drug beneﬁt that is at least
actuarially equivalent to the beneﬁt established by the Act. On May 19, 2004, the FASB issued Staff
Position No. 106-2, ‘‘Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003’’ (the ‘‘FSP’’). The FSP provides guidance on accounting for
the effects of the Act, which resulted in a reduction in the APBO for the subsidy related to beneﬁts
attributed to past service. The reduction in the APBO represents a deferred actuarial gain in the amount of
$1.5 million as of July 1, 2004 because the Company elected prospective adoption. Net periodic post
retirement beneﬁt cost for the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2004 was reduced by approximately $0.1 million as
a result of the amortization of the actuarial gain and reduction of service and interest costs.
The discount rates used in determining the accumulated postretirement beneﬁt obligation were 5.75%
and 6.00% in ﬁscal 2004 and 2003, respectively. For measurement as of September 30, 2004,
management has assumed pre-65 health care cost trend at an annual rate of 7.50% in ﬁscal 2005 (period
from October 1, 2004, to September 30, 2005), decreasing 0.50% per year to 5.50% in 2009 before
reaching an ultimate trend of 5.25% in 2010. The assumed post-65 health care cost trend assumption is
8.50% in ﬁscal 2005, decreasing 0.50% per year to 2011 before reaching an ultimate trend rate of 5.25%
in 2012. A 1% increase in health cost trend rate assumptions would increase the APBO as of
September 30, 2004 and 2003 by $0.9 million and $2.5 million, respectively. A 1% decrease in health cost
trend rate assumptions would decrease the APBO as of September 30, 2004 and 2003 by $1.0 million and
$2.2 million, respectively. A 1% increase or decrease in the same rate would not have a material effect on
service or interest costs.
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Estimated Future Beneﬁt Payments
The following beneﬁt payments under the plan are expected to be paid by the Company and the
retirees for the ﬁscal years indicated (in millions):
Company

Retiree

$ 2.2
2.2
2.3
2.5
2.5
13.9

$0.6
0.6
0.7
0.7
0.8
5.6

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010-2014

The Company also provides comprehensive major medical beneﬁts to its associates. The Company is
self-insured for certain health beneﬁts up to $0.3 million per occurrence per individual. The cost of such
beneﬁts is recognized as expense in the period the claim is incurred. This cost was $17.0 million,
$15.4 million, and $15.8 million in ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
NOTE 9. DEBT

September 30,
2004

September 30,
2003
(in millions)

Former Credit Agreement:
Revolving loans
Term loans
New Credit Agreement:
Revolving loans
Term loans
Senior Subordinated Notes:
85/8% Notes
65/8% Notes
Notes due to sellers
Foreign bank borrowings and term loans
Other

$

$
326.5

399.0
393.1

Less current portions

200.0
13.2
10.8
7.6

21.6
6.3
10.1

630.6
22.1

757.6
55.4

$608.5

$702.2

Maturities of short- and long-term debt for the next ﬁve ﬁscal years and thereafter are as follows (in
millions):
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

$ 22.1
6.8
15.1
45.3
194.4
346.9
$630.6

Interest paid on debt (net of amount capitalized) amounted to $50.9 million, $66.7 million and
$68.1 million in ﬁscal 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
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In October 2003, the Company substantially completed a reﬁnancing of the former Credit Agreement
(‘‘Credit Agreement’’) and its $400 million 85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes (‘‘85/8% Notes’’) in a series of
transactions. On October 8, 2003, the Company issued $200 million of 65/8% Senior Subordinated Notes
due November 15, 2013 (‘‘65/8% Notes’’). On October 21, 2003, $386.8 million of the outstanding
85/8% Notes were tendered at 106.05% per $1,000 Note. The Company redeemed the remaining
$13.2 million of 85/8% Notes, that were not tendered, on the ﬁrst call date of January 15, 2004 at
104.313% per $1,000 Note plus accrued interest. On October 22, 2003, the Company consummated a
series of transactions which included the repayment of the term loans outstanding under the former Credit
Agreement, the termination of the Credit Agreement, the execution of the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement (‘‘New Credit Agreement’’), and the borrowing of $500 million in the form of term loans
under the New Credit Agreement. The cost recognized in ﬁscal 2004 on the extinguishment of the former
Credit Agreement and retirement of the 85/8% Notes was $44.3 million, of which $19.4 million related to
the write-off of deferred costs, $24.0 million related to premiums paid on the redemption of the
85/8% Notes and $0.9 million related to transaction fees.
The New Credit Agreement was entered into with a syndicate of commercial banks and institutional
lenders. The New Credit Agreement initially consisted of a $700 million multi-currency revolving credit
commitment expiring October 17, 2008, and a $500 million term loan facility expiring September 30, 2010.
Borrowings under the New Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and substantially all of its
domestic subsidiaries. Collateral consists of pledges by the Company and substantially all of its domestic
subsidiaries of substantially all of their personal, real and intellectual property assets. The Company and
its subsidiaries also pledged a majority of the stock in foreign subsidiaries that borrow under the New
Credit Agreement.
The revolving credit facilities under the New Credit Agreement provide for a $700 million commitment,
which can be increased to $750 million based on the borrowing requirements of the Company, expiring on
October 22, 2008. Borrowings may be made in U.S. dollars and optional currencies including, but not
limited to, Euros, British Pounds Sterling, Canadian Dollars and Australian Dollars. The revolving credit
facilities provide that up to $65 million of the $700 million commitment may be used for letters of credit.
Interest rate spreads under the New Credit Agreement are determined by a pricing grid corresponding to a
quarterly calculation of the Company’s leverage ratio comprised of averaged components for the most
recent four quarters.
The term loan facility under the New Credit Agreement initially consisted of a $500 million loan with
minimum quarterly principal payments of $0.5 million beginning on March 31, 2004. On June 24, 2004,
the Company prepaid without penalty $100 million of the $499.5 million outstanding at that time. On
August 13, 2004, the Company reﬁnanced the term loan facility under the New Credit Agreement with new
term loans (the ‘‘New Term Loans’’) consisting of a Tranche A term loan of $250 million expiring on
September 30, 2009 and a Tranche B term Loan of $150 million expiring on September 30, 2010. In
conjunction with the early repayment and reﬁnancings of the term loan facility under the New Credit
Agreement, the Company wrote-off $1.2 million of deferred costs. The Company may, subject to certain
minimum senior secured leverage ratios, borrow up to three additional incremental term loans aggregating
no more than $150 million and having ﬁnal maturities no earlier than September 30, 2010.
Repayment of the Tranche A Term Loan commenced on September 30, 2004 with minimum quarterly
installments of $625,000 for the ﬁrst twelve payments, $9.375 million for the next four payments,
$13.75 million for the following four payments, and a balloon maturity of $150 million due on
September 30, 2009. Repayment of the Tranche B Term Loan commenced on September 30, 2004 with
minimum quarterly installments of $375,000 for the initial twenty-four quarters with a balloon maturity of
$141 million on September 30, 2010.
The New Term Loans carry a variable interest rate based on prime or LIBOR at the Company’s
election (currently LIBOR) plus a spread. The Company has interest rate swap agreements with major
ﬁnancial institutions to effectively convert a portion of the variable rate New Term Loans to a ﬁxed rate.
The notional amount and the terms of the swap agreements vary. At September 30, 2004, swap
agreements with a total notional amount of $175 million were in effect. Under the terms of these swap
agreements, the Company pays ﬁxed rates ranging from 2.76% to 3.77%, plus a spread based on the
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pricing grid contained in the New Credit Agreement, and receives payments based on three-month LIBOR
in return.
The 65/8% Notes were sold at par, pay interest semi-annually on May 15 and November 15, have a tenyear maturity, and are guaranteed by certain current and future domestic restricted subsidiaries of the
Company (see Note 23). Such guarantees are unsecured senior subordinated obligations of the Company.
The Notes may be called after November 2008, at a premium to par value of 3.313%, with the call
premium declining each year thereafter. The covenants contained in the 65/8% Notes indenture are less
restrictive than those contained in the 85/8% Notes indenture. Financing costs approximating $4.5 million
incurred with the issuance of the 65/8% Notes have been deferred and are being amortized over the term
of the Notes.
Both the New Credit Agreement, as amended, and the 65/8% Notes indenture (collectively the ‘‘Debt
Agreements’’) contain covenants limiting or restricting Scotts in certain types of transactions. Limitations or
restrictions affect transactions involving liens, contingent obligations, capital expenditures, acquisitions,
investments, loans and advances, indebtedness, subsidiary distributions, asset sales, sale and leasebacks,
and dividends. These covenants are less restrictive than those contained in the former Credit Agreement.
The Debt Agreements also contain cross default language typically included in similar instruments that
would effectively create an event of default if certain events were to occur under either the New Credit
Agreement, the 65/8% Notes indenture or certain other agreements. Cross defaults may occur should the
Company default in the observance or performance of other indebtedness or covenants, causing the
obligations therein to become immediately due and payable prior to the stated maturity thereof upon
passing of a cure period. As of September 30, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all covenants
under the terms of its Debt Agreements.
NOTE 10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2004

2003
(in millions)

STOCK
Preferred shares, no par value:
Authorized
Issued
Common shares, no par value
Authorized
Issued

0.2 shares
0.0 shares

0.2 shares
0.0 shares

100.0 shares
32.8 shares

100.0 shares
32.0 shares

In ﬁscal 1995, the Company merged with Stern’s Miracle-Gro Products, Inc. (Miracle-Gro). At
September 30, 2004, the former shareholders of Miracle-Gro, including Hagedorn Partnership L.P., owned
approximately 33% of The Scotts Company’s outstanding common shares and, thus, have the ability to
signiﬁcantly inﬂuence the election of directors and approval of other actions requiring the approval of The
Scotts Company’s shareholders.
Under the terms of the Miracle-Gro merger agreement, the former shareholders of Miracle-Gro may not
acquire, directly or indirectly, beneﬁcial ownership of Voting Stock (as that term is deﬁned in the MiracleGro merger agreement) representing more than 49% of the total voting power of the outstanding Voting
Stock, except pursuant to a tender offer for 100% of that total voting power, which tender offer is made at
a price per share which is not less than the market price per share on the last trading day before the
announcement of the tender offer and is conditioned upon the receipt of at least 50% of the Voting Stock
beneﬁcially owned by shareholders of The Scotts Company other than the former shareholders of MiracleGro and their afﬁliates and associates.
Under The Scotts Company 1992 Long Term Incentive Plan (the ‘‘1992 Plan’’), stock options and
performance share awards were granted to ofﬁcers and other key employees of the Company. The 1992
Plan also provided for the grant of stock options to non-employee directors of Scotts. The maximum
number of common shares that may be issued under the 1992 Plan is 1.7 million, plus the number of
common shares surrendered to exercise options (other than non-employee director options) granted under
the 1992 Plan, up to a maximum of 1.0 million surrendered common shares. Vesting periods under the
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1992 Plan vary and were determined by the Compensation and Organization Committee of the Board of
Directors.
Under The Scotts Company 1996 Stock Option Plan (the ‘‘1996 Plan’’), stock awards may be granted
to ofﬁcers and other key employees of the Company and non-employee directors of The Scotts Company.
The maximum number of common shares that may be issued under the 1996 Plan is 5.5 million. Vesting
periods under the 1996 Plan vary. Generally, a 3-year cliff vesting schedule is used unless decided
otherwise by the Compensation and Organization Committee of the Board of Directors. The Company also
has a phantom option plan for certain management employees which is payable in cash based on the
increase in the Company’s share price over a three-year vesting period.
Under The Scotts Company 2003 Stock Option and Incentive Equity Plan (the ‘‘2003 Plan’’), stock
awards (including stock appreciation rights) may be granted to ofﬁcers and other key employees of the
Company and non-employee directors of The Scotts Company. The maximum number of common shares
that may be issued under the 2003 Plan is 1.8 million. Vesting periods under the 2003 Plan vary.
Generally a three-year cliff vesting schedule is used unless decided otherwise by the Compensation and
Organization Committee of the Board of Directors.
Aggregate stock award activity consists of the following (options/SARs in millions):

2004
Number of
Options/SARs
Beginning balance
Awards granted
Awards exercised
Awards forfeited
Ending balance
Exercisable

4.1
0.6
(0.8)
(0.1)
3.8
2.3

Fiscal Year ended September 30,
2003
2002
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Avg.
Avg.
Avg.
Exercise
Number of
Exercise
Number of
Exercise
Price
Options/SARs
Price
Options/SARs
Price
$ 35.00
$ 58.81
$ 29.34
$ 48.55
$ 39.74
$ 33.94

4.2
0.7
(0.7)
(0.1)
4.1
2.4

$ 31.25
$ 49.07
$ 27.14
$ 36.43
$ 35.00
$ 31.31

4.6
0.6
(0.9)
(0.1)
4.2
2.8

$ 27.94
$40.69
$ 21.45
$28.78
$ 31.25
$ 29.01

The following summarizes certain information pertaining to stock awards outstanding and exercisable
at September 30, 2004 (shares in millions):

Range of
Exercise Price
$15.00 – $20.00
$20.00 – $25.00
$25.00 – $30.00
$30.00 – $35.00
$35.00 – $40.00
$40.00 – $45.00
$45.00 – $50.00
$50.00 – $55.00
$55.00 – $65.15

Awards Outstanding
No. of
WTD. Avg. WTD. Avg.
Options / Remaining Exercise
SARS
Life
Price
0.2
0.1
0.1
0.9
1.1
0.1
0.4
0.3
0.6
3.8

1.95
1.41
3.02
4.93
6.03
5.05
8.04
8.34
9.17

$18.69
21.59
26.60
31.01
38.06
40.18
47.82
50.72
58.83
$39.74

Awards Exercisable
WTD. Avg.
No. of
Options / Exercise
SARS
Price
0.2
0.1
0.1
0.8
0.6
0.1
0.1
0.2
0.1
2.3

$ 18.69
21.59
26.60
31.02
36.59
40.19
47.46
50.88
61.51
$ 33.94

In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123, ‘‘Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,’’ which changes the measurement, recognition and disclosure standards for
stock-based compensation. The Company, as allowable, had originally adopted SFAS No. 123 for disclosure
purposes only. However, effective October 1, 2002, the Company began expensing options and stock
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appreciation rights granted after that date in accordance with the SFAS No. 123 recognition and
measurement provisions as amended by SFAS No. 148.
The fair value of each award granted has been estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model based on the following weighted average assumptions for those granted in ﬁscal
2004, 2003 and 2002: (1) expected market-price volatility of 24.3%, 30.1% and 29.7%, respectively;
(2) risk-free interest rates of 3.3%, 3.5% and 3.35%, respectively; and (3) expected life of options of
6.2 years for ﬁscal 2004 and 7 years for ﬁscal 2003 and 2002. Awards are generally granted with a tenyear term. The estimated weighted-average fair value per share of options and stock appreciation rights
granted during ﬁscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $17.71, $19.35 and $15.83, respectively.
NOTE 11. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The following table presents information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per
common share. Basic earnings per common share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per common share are computed by
dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus all potentially
dilutive securities. Options to purchase 0.1 million, 0.1 million and 0.1 million shares of common stock for
the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, were not included in the computation
of diluted earnings per common share. These options were excluded from the calculation because the
exercise price of these options was greater than the average market price of the common shares in the
respective periods, and therefore, they were anti-dilutive (in millions, except per share data).
2004
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
intangible assets, net of tax
Net income
BASIC EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
during the period
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
intangible assets, net of tax
Basic earnings per common share
DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
during the period
Potential common shares:
Assuming exercise of options/SARs
Assuming exercise of warrants
Weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding and dilutive potential common
shares
Net income from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting for
intangible assets, net of tax
Diluted earnings per common share

66

Year ended September 30,
2003

2002

$ 100.5
0.4

$ 103.2
0.6

$ 100.5
0.5

—
$ 100.9

—
$ 103.8

(18.5)
$ 82.5

32.3

30.9

29.3

$ 3.11
0.01

$ 3.34
0.02

$ 3.43
0.01

—
$ 3.12

—
$ 3.36

(0.63)
$ 2.81

32.3

30.9

29.3

1.0
—

1.2
—

1.1
1.3

33.3

32.1

31.7

$ 3.02
0.01

$ 3.21
0.02

$ 3.18
0.01

—
$ 3.03

—
$ 3.23

(0.58)
$ 2.61
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NOTE 12. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in millions):

Currently payable:
Federal
State
Foreign
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign

Year ended September 30,
2004
2003

2002

$33.4
4.9
4.5

$ 7.9
0.9
5.3

$34.8
3.7
1.9

14.9
0.2
0.1
$58.0

41.3
3.8

19.4
1.8

$59.2

$ 61.6

The domestic and foreign components of income before taxes are as follows (in millions):

2004
Domestic
Foreign
Income before taxes

Year ended September 30,
2003

$143.2
15.3
$158.5

$ 150.7
11.7
$162.4

2002
$ 159.9
2.2
$ 162.1

A reconciliation of the federal corporate income tax rate and the effective tax rate on income before
income taxes from continuing operations is summarized below (in millions):
Year ended September 30,
2004
2003
2002
Statutory income tax rate
Effect of foreign operations
State taxes, net of federal beneﬁt
Change in deferred state effective tax rate
Change in state NOL carry forwards
Change in valuation allowance
Other
Effective income tax rate

35.0%
(0.4)
2.1
(0.8)
(0.6)
1.3
36.6%

35.0%
(0.1)
1.9
(1.8)
0.6
0.8
36.4%

35.0%
0.2
2.2

0.6
38.0%

The net current and non-current components of deferred income taxes recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets at September 30 are (in millions):
September 30,
2004
2003
Net current deferred tax asset
Net non-current deferred tax liability (classiﬁed with other
liabilities)
Net assets
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The components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows (in millions):
September 30,
2004
2003
ASSETS
Inventories
Accrued liabilities
Postretirement beneﬁts
Accounts receivable
Other
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets
LIABILITIES
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other
Deferred tax liability
Net deferred tax asset

$ 14.8
38.2
32.5
10.6
16.4
112.5
112.5
(50.6)
(48.8)
(6.8)
(106.2)
$ 6.3

$ 13.3
32.9
36.1
10.7
15.9
108.9
(1.0)
107.9
(45.3)
(35.2)
(3.5)
(84.0)
$ 23.9

State net operating loss carryforwards were $5.3 million and $4.4 million at September 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively. State net operating loss carryforward periods range from 5 to 20 years. Any losses not
previously utilized within a speciﬁc state’s carryforward period will expire. State tax credits were
$2.1 million and $2.8 million at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Any credits not previously
utilized will begin to expire starting in ﬁscal 2006.
The valuation allowance of $1.0 million at September 30, 2003 was to provide for capital losses of
$1.0 million for which the beneﬁts were not expected to be realized. Both the deferred tax asset and
associated valuation allowance were written off in 2004.
Deferred taxes have not been provided on unremitted earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries and
foreign corporate joint ventures that arose in ﬁscal years ending on or before September 30, 2004 in
accordance with APB 23 since such earnings have been permanently reinvested.
Income taxes paid amounted to $34.7 million, $19.5 million, and $33.4 million in ﬁscal 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.
NOTE 13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A description of the Company’s ﬁnancial instruments and the methods and assumptions used to
estimate their fair values is as follows:
Long-Term Debt

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, The Scotts Company had $200 million outstanding, of 65/8% Senior
Subordinated Notes due 2013 and $400 million outstanding of 85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due
2009, respectively. The fair value of these notes was estimated based on recent trading information.
Variable rate debt outstanding at September 30, 2004 and 2003 consisted of term loans under the
Company’s credit agreement and local bank borrowings for certain of the Company’s foreign operations.
The carrying amounts of these borrowings are considered to approximate their fair values.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, Scotts had nine and ﬁve interest rate swaps outstanding,
respectively, with major ﬁnancial institutions that effectively convert a portion of its variable-rate debt to a
ﬁxed rate. The swaps outstanding at September 30, 2004, have notional amounts between $10 million
and $50 million ($175 million and $75 million in total, respectively) with three to seven-year terms
commencing in October 2001. Under the terms of these swaps, the Company pays swap rates ranging from
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2.76% to 3.77% plus a spread based on the pricing grid contained in the credit agreement and receives
three-month LIBOR in return.
Scotts enters into interest rate swap agreements as a means to hedge its interest rate exposure on
debt instruments. Since the interest rate swaps have been designated as hedging instruments, their fair
values are reﬂected in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Net amounts to be received or paid
under the swap agreements are reﬂected as adjustments to interest expense. Unrealized gains or losses
resulting from valuing these swaps at fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income. The fair
value of the swap agreements was determined based on the present value of the estimated future net
cash ﬂows using implied rates in the applicable yield curve as of the valuation date.
Interest Rate Locks

The Scotts Company entered into the interest rate locks to hedge its interest rate exposure on the
offering of the 85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2009, which were tendered in ﬁscal 2004. The net
amount paid under the interest rate locks is reﬂected as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the
85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes.
The estimated fair values of the Company’s ﬁnancial instruments are as follows for the ﬁscal years
ended September 30 (in millions):

Revolving and term loans under Credit Agreement
Senior Subordinated Notes
Foreign bank borrowings and term loans
Interest rate swap agreements

2004
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value

2003
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value

$399.0
200.0
10.8
0.5

$326.5
400.0
6.3
2.1

$399.0
211.8
10.8
0.5

$326.5
424.0
6.3
2.1

Excluded from the fair value table above are the following items that are included in the Company’s
total debt balances at September 30, 2004 and 2003 (in millions):

Amounts paid to settle treasury locks
Notes due to sellers
Other

2004

2003

$

$ (6.9)
21.6
10.1

13.2
7.6

The fair value of the non-interest bearing notes is not considered determinable since there is no
established market for notes with similar characteristics and since they represent notes that were
negotiated between the Company and the seller as part of transactions to acquire businesses.
NOTE 14. OPERATING LEASES

The Company leases buildings, land and equipment under various noncancellable lease agreements
for periods of two to fourteen years. The lease agreements generally provide that the Company pay taxes,
insurance and maintenance expenses related to the leased assets. Certain lease agreements contain
purchase options. At September 30, 2004, future minimum lease payments were as follows (in millions):
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$ 16.3
13.8
12.2
9.1
6.3
5.3
$63.0
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The Company also leases transportation and production equipment under various one-year operating
leases, which provide for the extension of the initial term on a monthly or annual basis. Total rental
expenses for operating leases were $44.8 million, $40.8 million and $33.6 million for ﬁscal 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.
Aircraft Lease

In late January 2004, the Company took ﬁnal delivery of a used aircraft in a synthetic operating lease
transaction. The lease agreement provides that the Company pays taxes, insurance and maintenance on
the aircraft. The lease term expires in August 2008, but provides for a purchase option and two one-year
renewal options at a fair market rental value, as deﬁned in the lease agreement. The Company also has a
maximum contingent obligation approximating $9.3 million based on the provisions of a residual value
guarantee.
NOTE 15. COMMITMENTS

The Company has the following unconditional purchase obligations due during each of the next ﬁve
ﬁscal years that have not been recognized on the balance sheet at September 30, 2004 (in millions):

Purchase obligations (primarily seed commitments)
Smith & Hawken acquisition
Annual contribution payment under Roundup@
marketing agreement

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

$ 84.1
74.8

$44.3

$21.0

$ 11.3

$ 4.4

25.0

25.0

25.0

25.0

25.0

$183.9

$69.3

$46.0

$36.3

$29.4

NOTE 16. CONTINGENCIES

Management continually evaluates the Company’s contingencies, including various lawsuits and
claims which arise in the normal course of business, product and general liabilities, worker’s
compensation, property losses and other ﬁduciary liabilities for which the Company is self-insured or
retains a high exposure limit. Insurance reserves are established within an actuarially determined range.
Legal costs incurred in connection with the resolution of claims, lawsuits and other contingencies generally
are expensed as incurred. In the opinion of management, its assessment of contingencies is reasonable
and related reserves, in the aggregate, are adequate; however, there can be no assurance that future
quarterly or annual operating results will not be materially affected by ﬁnal resolution of these matters.
The following matters are the more signiﬁcant of the Company’s identiﬁed contingencies.
Environmental Matters

In June 1997, the Ohio EPA initiated an enforcement action against us with respect to alleged surface
water violations and inadequate treatment capabilities at our Marysville, Ohio facility and seeking
corrective action under the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The action relates to several
discontinued on-site disposal areas which date back to the early operations of the Marysville facility that
we had already been assessing and, in some cases, remediating, on a voluntary basis. On December 3,
2001, an agreed judicial Consent Order was submitted to the Union County Common Pleas Court and was
entered by the court on January 25, 2002.
Pursuant to the Consent Order, we have paid a $275,000 ﬁne and must satisfactorily remediate the
Marysville site. We have continued our remediation activities with the knowledge and oversight of the Ohio
EPA. We completed an updated evaluation of our expected liability related to this matter based on the ﬁne
paid and remediation actions that we have taken and expect to take in the future.
In addition to the dispute with the Ohio EPA, we are negotiating with the Philadelphia District of the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers regarding the terms of site remediation and the resolution of the Corps’ civil
penalty demand in connection with our prior peat harvesting operations at our Lafayette, New Jersey
facility. We are also addressing remediation concerns raised by the Environment Agency of the United
70

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Kingdom with respect to emissions to air and groundwater at our Bramford (Suffolk), United Kingdom
facility. We have reserved for our estimates of probable losses to be incurred in connection with each of
these matters.
At September 30, 2004, $6.0 million was accrued for the environmental and regulatory matters
described herein, the majority of which is for site remediation. Most of the costs accrued as of
September 30, 2004, are expected to be paid in ﬁscal 2005 and 2006; however, payments could be made
for a period thereafter.
We believe that the amounts accrued as of September 30, 2004 are adequate to cover our known
environmental exposures based on current facts and estimates of likely outcome. However, the adequacy
of these accruals is based on several signiﬁcant assumptions:
) that we have identiﬁed all of the signiﬁcant sites that must be remediated;
) that there are no signiﬁcant conditions of potential contamination that are unknown to us; and
) that with respect to the agreed judicial Consent Order in Ohio, that potentially contaminated soil
can be remediated in place rather than having to be removed and only speciﬁc stream segments
will require remediation as opposed to the entire stream.
If there is a signiﬁcant change in the facts and circumstances surrounding these assumptions, it could
have a material impact on the ultimate outcome of these matters and our results of operations, ﬁnancial
position and cash ﬂows.
During ﬁscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 we have expensed approximately $3.3 million, $1.5 million, and
$5.4 million for environmental matters.
AgrEvo Environmental Health, Inc.

On June 3, 1999, AgrEvo Environmental Health, Inc. (‘‘AgrEvo’’) (which subsequently changed its name
to Aventis Environmental Health Science USA LP) ﬁled a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York (the ‘‘New York Action’’), against The Scotts Company, a subsidiary of The
Scotts Company and Monsanto seeking damages and injunctive relief for alleged antitrust violations and
breach of contract by The Scotts Company and its subsidiary and antitrust violations and tortious
interference with contract by Monsanto. The Scotts Company purchased a consumer herbicide business
from AgrEvo in May 1998. AgrEvo claims in the suit that The Scotts Company’s subsequent agreement to
become Monsanto’s exclusive sales and marketing agent for Monsanto’s consumer Roundup˛ business
violated the federal antitrust laws. AgrEvo contends that Monsanto attempted to or did monopolize the
market for non-selective herbicides and conspired with The Scotts Company to eliminate the herbicide The
Scotts Company previously purchased from AgrEvo, which competed with Monsanto’s Roundup˛. AgrEvo
also contends that The Scotts Company’s execution of various agreements with Monsanto, including the
Roundup˛ marketing agreement, as well as The Scotts Company’s subsequent actions, violated
agreements between AgrEvo and The Scotts Company.
AgrEvo is requesting speciﬁc damages as well as afﬁrmative injunctive relief, and seeking to have the
court invalidate the Roundup˛ marketing agreement as violative of the federal antitrust laws. Under the
indemniﬁcation provisions of the Roundup˛ marketing agreement, Monsanto and The Scotts Company each
have requested that the other indemnify against any losses arising from this lawsuit.
On January 10, 2003, The Scotts Company ﬁled a supplemental counterclaim against AgrEvo for breach
of contract. The Scotts Company alleges that AgrEvo owes The Scotts Company for amounts that The Scotts
Company overpaid to AgrEvo. The Scotts Company’s counterclaim is now part of the underlying litigation. A
trial date has been set for February 22, 2005.
The Scotts Company believes that AgrEvo’s claims in these matters are without merit and is vigorously
defending against them. If the above actions are determined adversely to The Scotts Company, the result
could have a material adverse effect on The Scotts Company’s results of operations, ﬁnancial position and
cash ﬂows. Any potential exposure that The Scotts Company may face cannot be reasonably estimated.
Therefore, no accrual has been established related to these matters.
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Central Garden & Pet Company
The Scotts Company v. Central Garden, Southern District of Ohio

On June 30, 2000, The Scotts Company ﬁled suit against Central Garden & Pet Company (‘‘Central
Garden’’) in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Ohio (the ‘‘Ohio Action’’) to recover
approximately $24 million in accounts receivable and additional damages for other breaches of duty.
Central Garden ﬁled counterclaims including allegations that The Scotts Company and Central Garden
had entered into an oral agreement in April 1998 whereby The Scotts Company would allegedly share with
Central Garden the beneﬁts and liabilities of any future business integration between The Scotts Company
and Monsanto. The court dismissed a number of Central Garden’s counterclaims as well as The Scotts
Company’s claims that Central Garden breached other duties owed to The Scotts Company. On April 22,
2002, a jury returned a verdict in favor of The Scotts Company of $22.5 million and for Central Garden on
its remaining counterclaims in an amount of approximately $12.1 million. Various post-trial motions were
ﬁled. As a result of those motions, the trial court has reduced Central Garden’s verdict by $750,000,
denied Central Garden’s motion for a new trial on two of its counterclaims and granted the parties prejudgment interest on their respective verdicts. On September 22, 2003, the court entered a ﬁnal judgment,
which provided for a net award to The Scotts Company of approximately $14 million, together with interest
at 2.31% through the date of payment. Central Garden has appealed and The Scotts Company has crossappealed from that ﬁnal judgment. Therefore, no accrual has been established related to the claims
brought against The Scotts Company by Central Garden, except for amounts ordered paid to Central Garden
in the Ohio Action. The ﬁnancial statements have not been adjusted to reﬂect any potential recoveries with
respect to this matter.
Central Garden v. Scotts & Pharmacia, Northern District of California

On July 7, 2000, Central Garden ﬁled suit against The Scotts Company and Pharmacia in the
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California (San Francisco Division) alleging various claims,
including breach of contract and violations of federal antitrust laws, and seeking an unspeciﬁed amount of
damages and injunctive relief. On April 15, 2002, The Scotts Company and Central Garden each ﬁled
summary judgment motions in this action. On June 26, 2002, the court granted summary judgment in
favor of The Scotts Company and dismissed all of Central Garden’s then remaining claims. That judgment
has been afﬁrmed by the United States Court of Appeals.
Although The Scotts Company has prevailed consistently and extensively in the litigation with Central
Garden, some of the decisions in The Scotts Company’s favor are subject to appeal and possible further
proceedings. If, upon appeal or otherwise, the above actions are determined adversely to The Scotts
Company, the result could have a material adverse effect on The Scotts Company’s results of operations,
ﬁnancial position and cash ﬂows. The Scotts Company believes that it will continue to prevail in the
Central Garden matters and that any potential exposure that The Scotts Company may face cannot be
reasonably estimated. Therefore, no accrual has been established related to the claim.
U.S. Horticultural Supply, Inc. (F/K/A E.C. Geiger, Inc.)

On February 7, 2003, U.S. Horticultural Supply (‘‘Geiger’’) ﬁled suit against The Scotts Company in the
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. Geiger alleged claims of breach of contract,
promissory estoppel, and a violation of federal antitrust laws, and seeks an unspeciﬁed amount of
damages. Geiger’s promissory estoppel claims have been dismissed. The parties have commenced
discovery on the antitrust and breach of contract claims. No trial date has been set.
On February 2, 2004, Geiger ﬁled for bankruptcy protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of the United
States Bankruptcy Code. Geiger has ﬁled an adversary proceeding as part of the bankruptcy alleging that
The Scotts Company interfered with an agreement between Geiger and the purchaser of its operating
assets and seeks damages in an unspeciﬁed amount.
On November 5, 2004, Geiger ﬁled another suit against The Scotts Company in the U.S. District Court
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. This complaint alleges that Scotts conspired with another
distributor, Grifﬁn Greenhouse Supplies, Inc. to restrain trade in the horticultural products market, in
violation of Sections 1 and 57 of the Sherman Antitrust Act.
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The Scotts Company believes that all of Geiger’s claims are without merit and intends to vigorously
defend against them. If any of the above actions are determined adversely to The Scotts Company, the
result could have a material adverse effect on The Scotts Company’s results of operations, ﬁnancial
position and cash ﬂows. Any potential exposure that The Scotts Company may face cannot be reasonably
estimated. Therefore, no accrual has been established related to this matter.
Other

The Scotts Company has been named a defendant in a number of cases alleging injuries that the
lawsuits claim resulted from exposure to asbestos-containing products, apparently based on The Scotts
Company’s historic use of vermiculite in certain of its products. The complaints in these cases are not
speciﬁc about the plaintiffs’ contacts with The Scotts Company or its products. The Scotts Company in
each case is one of numerous defendants and none of the claims seeks damages from The Scotts
Company alone. The Scotts Company believes that the claims against it are without merit and is vigorously
defending them. It is not currently possible to reasonably estimate a probable loss, if any, associated with
the cases and, accordingly, no accrual or reserves have been recorded in The Scotts Company’s
consolidated ﬁnancial statements. There can be no assurance that these cases, whether as a result of
adverse outcomes or as a result of signiﬁcant defense costs, will not have a material adverse effect on The
Scotts Company, its ﬁnancial condition or its results of operations.
The Scotts Company is reviewing agreements and policies that may provide insurance coverage or
indemnity as to these claims and is pursuing coverage under some of these agreements, although there
can be no assurance of the results of these efforts.
We are involved in other lawsuits and claims which arise in the normal course of our business. In our
opinion, these claims individually and in the aggregate are not expected to result in a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, ﬁnancial position or cash ﬂows.
NOTE 17. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of trade accounts receivable. The Company sells its consumer products to a wide variety of
retailers, including mass merchandisers, home centers, independent hardware stores, nurseries, garden
outlets, warehouse clubs and local and regional chains. Professional products are sold to commercial
nurseries, greenhouses, landscape services, and growers of specialty agriculture crops.
At September 30, 2004, 71% of the Company’s accounts receivable was due in North America, with
6% related to on-going litigation documented in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Approximately 84% of the North American accounts receivable was generated from the Company’s
consumer business. The most signiﬁcant concentration of receivables within the North American consumer
business was from our top 3 customers, which accounted for 68% of the total.
The remaining 16% of North American accounts receivable was generated from customers of Scotts
LawnService˛ and North American Professional businesses. Nearly all of the accounts receivable for the
North America Professional business at September 30, 2004 were due from distributors.
The 29% of accounts receivable generated outside of North America was due from retailers,
distributors, nurseries and growers. No concentrations of customers or individual customers within this
group account for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance at September 30, 2004.
At September 30, 2004, the Company’s concentrations of credit risk were similar to those existing at
September 30, 2003.
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The Company’s two largest customers accounted for the following percentage of net sales in each
respective period:
Largest
Customer
2004
2003
2002

2nd Largest
Customer

25.9%
24.8%
25.8%

13.3%
13.9%
13.2%

Sales to the Company’s two largest customers are reported within Scotts’ North America segment. No
other customers accounted for more than 10% of ﬁscal 2004, 2003 or 2002 net sales.
NOTE 18. OTHER EXPENSE (INCOME)

Other expense (income) consisted of the following for the ﬁscal years ended September 30 (in
millions):

Royalty income
Gain from peat transaction
Franchise fees
Foreign currency (gains) losses
Other, net
Total

2004

2003

2002

$ (5.4)
(2.4)
(1.0)
(0.7)
(0.7)
$(10.2)

$ (5.0)
(2.4)
(2.1)
(0.2)
(1.1)
$(10.8)

$ (4.1)
(6.3)
(1.3)
0.2
(0.5)
$(12.0)

NOTE 19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On September 30, 2004, the Company consummated the sale of the intangibles comprising its
U.S. professional growing media business for $6.0 million. A gain of $4.1 million was recognized after
associated goodwill in the amount of $1.9 million was written off. As a result of the sale, the Company
shut down a manufacturing facility and severed the associates employed in the business. In accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal Of
Long-Lived Assets,’’ these transactions have been accounted for as the disposal of a component of the
Company. The gain on the sale of the intangibles and the result of operations of the component are being
reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying statements of operations. The detail comprising
the discontinued operations is as follows (in millions):

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross proﬁt
Selling, general and administrative
Other income
Income from discontinued operations
before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income from discontinued operations

2004

2003

2002

$ 17.7
(18.9)
(1.2)
(1.1)
4.1

$ 22.4
(20.5)
1.9
(1.0)

$ 25.0
(23.2)
1.8
(1.0)

1.8
(1.4)
$ 0.4

0.9
(0.3)
$ 0.6

0.8
(0.3)
$ 0.5

NOTE 20. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation 46,
‘‘Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51’’ (FIN 46). In December 2003,
the FASB modiﬁed FIN 46 to make certain technical corrections and address certain implementation issues
that had arisen. FIN 46 provides a new framework for identifying variable interest entities (VIEs) and
determining when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of
activities of a VIE in its consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
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In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, or any other legal
structure used to conduct activities or hold assets that either (1) has an insufﬁcient amount of equity to
carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated ﬁnancial support, (2) has a group of equity
owners that are unable to make signiﬁcant decisions about its activities, or (3) has a group of equity
owners that do not have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its
operations.
FIN 46 requires a VIE to be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other ﬁnancial
interest in the VIE (a variable interest holder) is obligated to absorb a majority of the risk of loss from the
VIE’s activities, is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE’s residual returns (if no party absorbs a majority
of the VIE’s losses), or both. A variable interest holder that consolidates the VIE is called the primary
beneﬁciary. Upon consolidation, the primary beneﬁciary generally must initially record all of the VIE’s
assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests at fair value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it
were consolidated based on majority voting interest. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs that the
variable interest holder is not required to consolidate but in which it has a signiﬁcant variable interest.
The Company’s Scotts LawnService˛ business sells new franchise territories, primarily in small to midsize markets, under arrangements where approximately one-third of the franchise fee is paid in cash with
the balance due under a promissory note. The Company believes that it may be the primary beneﬁciary for
certain of its franchisees initially, but ceases to be the primary beneﬁciary as the franchisees develop their
businesses and the promissory notes are repaid. At September 30, 2004, the Company had approximately
$2.5 million in notes receivable from such franchisees. The effect of consolidating the entities where the
Company may be the primary beneﬁciary for a limited period of time is not material to either the
consolidated statement of operations or the consolidated balance sheet.
NOTE 21. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For ﬁscal 2004, the Company is divided into three reportable segments — North America, Scotts
LawnService˛ and International. The North America segment primarily consists of the Lawns, Gardening
Products, Ortho˛, Canada and North American Professional business groups. These segments differ from
those used in the prior year due to the absorption of the Global Professional segment into the North
America and International segments based on geography. This new division of reportable segments is
consistent with how the segments report to and are managed by senior management of the Company. The
prior year amounts have been reclassiﬁed to conform with the ﬁscal 2004 segments.
The North America segment manufactures, markets and sells dry, granular slow-release lawn fertilizers,
combination lawn fertilizer and control products, grass seed, spreaders, water-soluble and controlledrelease garden and indoor plant foods, plant care products, potting soils, pottery, barks, mulches and
other growing media products, pesticide products and a line of horticulture products. Products are
marketed to mass merchandisers, home improvement centers, large hardware chains, warehouse clubs,
distributors, nurseries, gardens centers and specialty crop growers in the United States, Canada, Latin
America and South America.
The Scotts LawnService˛ segment provides lawn fertilization, insect control and other related services
such as core aeration primarily to residential consumers through company-owned branches and franchises.
In most company operated locations, Scotts LawnService˛ also offers tree and shrub fertilization, disease
and insect control treatments and, in our larger branches, an exterior barrier pest control service.
The International segment provides products similar to those described above for the North America
segment to consumers outside of the United States, Canada, Latin America and South America.
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The following table presents segment ﬁnancial information in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 131, ‘‘Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information’’.
Pursuant to SFAS No. 131, the presentation of the segment ﬁnancial information is consistent with the
basis used by management (i.e., certain costs not allocated to business segments for internal management
reporting purposes are not allocated for purposes of this presentation) (in millions).
North
America

Scotts
LawnService˛

International

2004
2003
2002

$1,483.2
1,388.9
1,311.9

$135.2
110.4
75.6

$ 419.5
388.4
336.2

$

$2,037.9
1,887.7
1,723.7

2004
2003
2002

$ 308.9
282.8
277.2

$ 9.8
6.2
8.8

$ 27.3
23.9
25.3

$ (84.9)
(72.7)
(67.3)

$

Corporate

Total

Net Sales:

Operating Income (loss):
261.1
240.2
244.0

Operating Margin:
2004
2003
2002

20.8%
20.4%
21.1%

7.2%
5.6%
11.6%

6.5%
6.2%
7.5%

nm
nm
nm

12.8%
12.7%
14.2%

Depreciation and Amortization:
2004
2003
2002

$

24.9
26.2
20.9

$ 3.9
3.5
2.1

$ 12.6
8.1
8.5

$ 16.3
14.4
12.0

$

57.7
52.2
43.5

2004
2003
2002

$

21.4
24.7
41.4

$

$

$

$

35.1
51.8
57.0

2004
2003

$ 699.6
753.9

$113.0
106.5

$304.8
262.9

$ 59.5
50.4

$ 1,176.9
1,173.7

2004
2003

$ 1,251.3
1,387.1

$134.5
115.5

$526.7
418.1

$ 135.3
109.6

$2,047.8
2,030.3

Capital Expenditures:
1.5
0.8
2.4

9.2
13.3
4.2

3.0
13.0
9.0

Long-Lived Assets:

Total Assets:

nm — Not meaningful
Operating income (loss) from operations reported for Scotts’ three segments represents earnings
before amortization of intangible assets, interest and taxes, since this is the measure of proﬁtability used
by management. Accordingly, the Corporate loss from operations for the ﬁscal years ended September 30,
2004, 2003 and 2002 includes amortization of certain intangible assets, unallocated corporate general
and administrative expenses, certain other income/expense not allocated to the business segments and
North America restructuring charges. International restructuring charges of approximately $5.3 million,
$9.1 million and $4.5 million are included in International’s income (loss) from operations in ﬁscal 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
Long-lived assets reported for Scotts’ operating segments include goodwill and intangible assets as
well as property, plant and equipment within each segment.
Total assets reported for Scotts’ operating segments include the intangible assets for the acquired
businesses within those segments. Corporate assets primarily include deferred ﬁnancing and debt issuance
costs, corporate intangible assets as well as deferred tax assets.
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NOTE 22. QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations for ﬁscal 2004 and 2003
(in millions, except per share data).
1st Qtr

2nd Qtr

3rd Qtr

4th Qtr

Full Year

$181.4

$723.7

$769.2

$363.6

$2,037.9

49.0

289.6

307.5

123.6

769.7

(70.6)

72.9

100.1

FISCAL 2004
Net sales
Gross proﬁt
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

—

(1.9)

0.2

—

(70.6)

73.1

100.1

(1.7)

$ (2.21)

$ 2.27

$ 3.09

$ (0.06)

—

—

$ 2.27

$ 3.09

100.5

0.2

0.4
100.9

Basic earnings (loss) per common share
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued operations

—

$

0.01
$ (0.05)

3.11
0.01

Basic earnings (loss) per share

$ (2.21)

$

3.12

Common shares used in basic EPS
calculation

32.0

32.2

32.5

32.6

32.3

(2.21)

2.21

3.01

(0.06)

3.02

—

—

0.01

0.01

$ 2.21

$ 3.01

33.0

33.3

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued operations

—

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

$ (2.21)

Common shares and dilutive potential
common shares used in diluted EPS
calculation

32.0
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1st Qtr

2nd Qtr

3rd Qtr

4th Qtr

Full Year

FISCAL 2003
Net sales

$174.8

$667.8

$705.1

$340.0

$1,887.7

Gross proﬁt

36.5

257.0

280.3

115.1

688.9

Net income (loss) from continuing
operations

(47.1)

Net income from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

62.0

91.0

(2.7)

103.2

0.3

0.5

0.2

(0.4)

0.6

(46.8)

62.5

91.2

(3.1)

103.8

$ (1.55)

$ 2.02

$ 2.93

$ (0.10)

Basic earnings (loss) per common share
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Common shares used in basic EPS
calculation

$

0.02
$ (1.55)
30.2

3.34
0.02

$ 2.04

$ 2.93

30.7

31.1

$ 1.92

$ 2.81

$ (0.10)

$

31.6

3.36
30.9

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations

$ (1.55)

Net income from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Common shares and dilutive potential
common shares used in diluted EPS
calculation

$ (0.10)

$

0.02
$ (1.55)

30.2

3.21
0.02

$ 1.94

$ 2.81

32.2

32.4

$ (0.10)

$

31.6

3.23

32.1

Common stock equivalents, such as stock awards and warrants, are excluded from the diluted loss
per share calculation in periods where there is a net loss because their effect is anti-dilutive.
Scotts’ business is highly seasonal with over 73% of sales occurring in the second and third ﬁscal
quarters combined.
NOTE 23. FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS AND NON-GUARANTORS

The 65/8% Senior Subordinated Notes are general obligations of The Scotts Company and are
guaranteed by all of the existing wholly-owned, domestic subsidiaries and all future wholly-owned,
signiﬁcant domestic subsidiaries of The Scotts Company. These subsidiary guarantors jointly and severally
guarantee The Scotts Company’s obligations under the 65/8% Senior Subordinated Notes. The guarantees
represent full and unconditional general obligations of each subsidiary that are subordinated in right of
payment to all existing and future senior debt of that subsidiary but are senior in right of payment to any
future junior subordinated debt of that subsidiary.
The following information presents consolidated Statements of Operations and Statements of Cash
Flows for the three years ended September 30, 2004, and Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
September 30, 2004 and 2003. Separate audited ﬁnancial statements of the individual guarantor
subsidiaries have not been provided because management does not believe they would be meaningful to
investors.
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The Scotts Company
Statement of Operations
for the ﬁscal year ended September 30, 2004
(in millions)
Parent

Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring and other charges
Gross proﬁt
Gross commission earned from
marketing agreement
Amortization of deferred marketing
fee
Contribution expenses under
marketing agreement
Net commission earned from
marketing agreement
Advertising
S,G&A –including lawn service
business and stock-based
compensation
Restructuring and other charges
Amortization of intangible assets
Equity (income) loss in nonguarantors
Intercompany allocations
Other income, net
Income from operations
Costs related to reﬁnancings
Interest (income) expense
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued
operations
Net income (loss)

$1,032.4
654.0
0.2
378.2

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantors

$543.1
321.7

$462.4
291.9
0.4
170.1

221.4

54.7

Eliminations

$

Consolidated

$2,037.9
1,267.6
0.6
769.7

3.5

58.2

3.3

3.3

26.4

26.4

25.0
70.8

7.5

3.5
26.7

28.5
105.0

275.0
4.1
(0.2)

48.1
0.2
3.8

110.1
4.8
4.7

433.2
9.1
8.3

(107.2)
(27.7)
(1.9)
190.3
45.5
52.1
92.7
(8.2)

107.2
6.7
(4.5)
159.6

21.0
(3.8)
10.1

(13.1)
172.7
66.1

9.8
0.3
0.1

(107.2)

100.9

106.6

0.2

(107.2)

100.5

$ 100.9

0.4
$107.0

0.2

$(107.2)

0.4
$ 100.9
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The Scotts Company
Statement of Cash Flows
for the ﬁscal year ended September 30, 2004
(in millions)
Parent
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Costs related to reﬁnancings
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation
Amortization
Deferred taxes
Equity income in non-guarantors
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquired
businesses:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes and liabilities
Restructuring reserves
Other assets
Other liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in available for sale securities
Redemption of available for sale securities
Investment in property, plant and equipment
Investments in acquired businesses, net of cash
acquired
Payments on seller notes
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings under revolving and bank lines of
credit
Repayment of term loans
Proceeds from issuance of term loans
Redemption of 85/8% Senior Subordinated Notes
Proceeds from issuance of 65/8% senior
subordinated notes
Financing and issuance fees
Cash received from exercise of stock options
Intercompany ﬁnancing
Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$ 100.9

Subsidiary
NonGuarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
$107.0

45.5
7.8
26.4
0.4
17.6
(107.2)

11.3
7.0

$ 0.2

$(107.2)

$ 100.9

45.5
7.8
46.1
11.6
17.6

8.4
4.2
107.2

14.6
10.9
(3.3)
(8.4)
25.2
0.6
(3.9)
(5.2)
6.6
128.5

(20.2)
(7.2)
(2.2)
(10.7)
2.8
(0.5)
1.3
0.1
3.2

3.7
(17.7)
(11.4)
0.4
1.5
0.7
3.1
(1.2)
1.9

(1.9)
(14.0)
(16.9)
(18.7)
29.5
0.8
0.5
(6.3)
11.7

91.9

(6.2)

214.2
(121.4)
64.2
(35.1)

(121.4)
64.2
(10.7)

(15.2)

(9.2)

(0.3)
(2.0)

(4.7)
(10.3)

(3.2)

(8.2)
(12.3)

(70.2)

(30.2)

(12.4)

(112.8)

2.0

2.0
(827.5)
900.0
(418.0)

(827.5)
900.0
(418.0)
200.0
(13.0)
23.5
27.0

(61.6)

34.6

(108.0)

(61.6)

36.6
(8.7)

(133.0)
(8.7)

(49.7)
132.1

0.1
1.2

9.3
22.6

(40.3)
155.9

1.3

$ 31.9

$ 82.4
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The Scotts Company

Balance Sheet
As of September 30, 2004
(in millions)
Subsidiary
Guarantors

Parent

NonGuarantors

Eliminations

Consolidated

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Current deferred tax asset
Prepaid and other assets

$

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Investment in afﬁliates
Intracompany assets

82.4
57.2
88.7
132.8
23.2
19.5

$

403.8
191.2
18.8
5.7
46.0
1,176.0

1.3

$ 31.9

120.0
57.5
0.2
5.5

83.7
99.8
1.5
25.1

184.5
92.8
244.6
279.1

242.0
44.0
154.5
146.2
(5.4)

$

$1,841.5

$1,195.9

$581.3

115.6
57.2
292.4
290.1
24.9
50.1

(1,176.0)
(394.9)

830.3
328.0
417.9
431.0
40.6
—
—

$(1,570.9)

$2,047.8

$

$

394.9

Total assets

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current portion of debt
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes

$

5.0
61.6
133.3
18.3

$

6.2
16.2
29.8
0.8

$ 10.9
52.5
98.8
0.2

22.1
130.3
261.9
19.3

162.4
0.1
15.7
364.9

(394.9)

433.6
608.5
131.1
—

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Intracompany liabilities

218.2
604.8
113.9
30.0

53.0
3.6
1.5

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity:
Investment from parent
Common shares, no par value per
share, $.01 stated value per share,
issued 32.8 shares in 2004
Deferred compensation — stock awards
Capital in excess of stated value
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss)

966.9

58.1

543.1

(394.9)

1,173.2

517.8

62.5

(580.3)

—

Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

0.3
(10.4)
443.0
499.5

621.8

(57.8)

(1.8)

3.0
(27.3)

(624.8)
29.1

0.3
(10.4)
443.0
499.5
(57.8)

874.6

1,137.8

38.2

(1,176.0)

874.6

$1,841.5

$1,195.9

$581.3

$(1,570.9)

$2,047.8
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The Scotts Company
Statement of Operations
for the ﬁscal year ended September 30, 2003
(in millions)

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantors

$962.0
612.1
5.2

$504.1
304.6

$421.6
273.0
3.9

344.7

199.5

144.7

688.9

2.5

45.9

Parent
Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring and other charges
Gross proﬁt
Gross commission earned from
marketing agreement
Amortization of deferred marketing
fee
Contribution expenses under
marketing agreement
Net commission earned from
marketing agreement
Advertising
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring and other charges
Amortization of intangible assets
Equity (income) loss in nonguarantors
Intercompany allocations
Other income, net

43.4

Eliminations
$

Consolidated
$1,887.7
1,189.7
9.1

3.3

3.3

25.0

25.0

15.1
68.7
231.5
2.7
0.5

7.3
45.0
0.8
3.9

2.5
21.7
94.9
4.5
4.2

17.6
97.7
371.4
8.0
8.6

(97.0)
(18.8)
(2.3)

6.0
(5.0)

12.8
(3.5)

Income (loss) from operations
Interest (income) expense

174.5
70.6

141.5
(15.4)

12.6
14.0

(97.0)

231.6
69.2

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (income)

103.9
0.1

156.9
59.6

(1.4)
(0.5)

(97.0)

162.4
59.2

103.8

97.3

(0.9)

(97.0)

103.2

Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued
operations
Net income (loss)

97.0
(10.8)

0.6
$ 103.8

$ 97.9
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The Scotts Company
Statement of Cash Flows
for the ﬁscal year ended September 30, 2003
(in millions)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation
Amortization
Deferred taxes
Equity income in subsidiaries
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of
acquired businesses:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes and liabilities
Restructuring reserves
Other assets
Other liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities

Parent

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantors

Eliminations

Consolidated

$103.8

$ 97.9

$ (0.9)

$(97.0)

$ 103.8

4.8
25.3
3.8
48.3
(97.0)

10.7
3.9

4.8
40.3
11.9
48.3

4.3
4.2
97.0

(6.0)
2.1
0.8
10.1
(0.5)
(4.0)
(3.9)
8.7
12.4

(12.7)
(7.5)
0.4
10.0
(2.2)
0.6
(1.3)

(8.6)
0.1
2.5
6.2
9.3
(3.1)
7.0
(10.8)
(2.6)

(27.3)
(5.3)
3.7
26.3
6.6
(7.1)
3.7
(3.4)
9.8

108.7

99.8

7.6

216.1

(19.3)

(20.0)

(12.5)

(51.8)

(3.8)
(11.5)

(16.6)
(10.4)

(14.8)

(20.4)
(36.7)

Net cash used in investing activities

(34.6)

(47.0)

(27.3)

(108.9)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net repayments under revolving and bank
lines of credit
Net repayments under term loans
Financing and issuance fees
Cash received from exercise of stock
options
Intercompany ﬁnancing

(18.0)
(0.4)

(17.6)
(44.4)

(17.6)
(62.4)
(0.4)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in property, plant and
equipment
Investments in acquired businesses, net of
cash acquired
Payments on seller notes

Net cash provided by (used in) ﬁnancing
activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

21.4
0.3

(53.6)

53.3

21.4

3.3

(53.6)

(8.7)
8.0

(59.0)
8.0

77.4

(0.8)

(20.4)

56.2

54.7

2.0

43.0

99.7

$ 132.1

$ 1.2

$ 22.6
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$

$ 155.9

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Scotts Company

Balance Sheet
As of September 30, 2003
(in millions)

Parent

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantors

Eliminations

Consolidated

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Current deferred tax asset
Prepaid and other assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Investment in afﬁliates
Intracompany assets
Total assets

$ 132.1
103.3
143.6
56.8
16.2
452.0
206.8
20.6
5.7
44.8
1,066.3
$1,796.2

$

1.2
99.8
50.4
0.4
3.2
155.0
90.6
294.2
281.9
1.5

275.2
$1,098.4

$ 22.6
87.4
82.1
(0.3)
13.8
205.6
40.8
91.7
141.4
(2.3)

$477.2

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current portion of debt
$ 38.9
$
9.9
$ 6.6
Accounts payable
70.0
27.0
52.0
Accrued liabilities
111.4
25.8
97.1
Accrued taxes
7.6
2.3
(0.4)
Total current liabilities
227.9
65.0
155.3
Long-term debt
603.8
9.7
88.7
Other liabilities
137.2
14.5
Intracompany liabilities
99.1
176.1
Total liabilities
1,068.0
74.7
434.6
Shareholders’ Equity:
Investment from parent
510.7
65.3
Common shares, no par value per
share, $.01 stated value per
share, issued 32.0 shares in
2003
0.3
Deferred compensation — stock
awards
(8.3)
Capital in excess of stated value
398.4
Retained earnings
398.6
514.8
2.8
Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)
(60.8)
(1.8)
(25.5)
Total shareholders’ equity
728.2
1,023.7
42.6
Total liabilities and shareholders’
equity
$1,796.2
$1,098.4
$477.2
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$

$

(1,066.3)
(275.2)
$(1,341.5)

$2,030.3

$

$

(275.2)
(275.2)

155.9
290.5
276.1
56.9
33.2
812.6
338.2
406.5
429.0
44.0

55.4
149.0
234.3
9.5
448.2
702.2
151.7
1,302.1

(576.0)

0.3

(517.6)

(8.3)
398.4
398.6

27.3
(1,066.3)

(60.8)
728.2

$(1,341.5)

$2,030.3

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Scotts Company
Statement of Operations
for the ﬁscal year ended September 30, 2002
(in millions)

Parent
Net sales
Cost of sales
Restructuring and other charges
Gross proﬁt
Gross commission earned from
marketing agreement
Amortization of deferred marketing fee
Contribution expenses under marketing
agreement
Net commission earned from marketing
agreement
Advertising
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring and other charges
Amortization of intangible assets
Equity (income) loss in subsidiaries
Intercompany allocations
Other income, net
Income (loss) from operations
Interest (income) expense
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income (loss) from continuing
operations
Net income from discontinued
operations
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting for intangible assets, net
of tax
Net income (loss)

$899.4
611.0
1.5
286.9

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantors

$423.5
207.2

$400.8
270.6
0.2
130.0

216.3

37.2
3.4

Eliminations
$

$1,723.7
1,088.8
1.7
633.2

2.4

39.6
3.4

20.0

20.0

13.8
47.1
198.0
1.9
0.4
(70.1)
(21.7)
(1.2)
146.3
73.0
73.3
2.1

16.2
47.7
0.6
1.7

2.4
18.9
83.0
3.9
3.6

13.3
(5.3)
142.1
(14.3)
156.4
58.6

8.4
(5.5)
20.1
17.6
2.5
0.9

71.2

97.8

1.6

16.2
82.2
328.7
6.4
5.7
70.1

(70.1)
(70.1)

(70.1)

0.5
11.3
$ 82.5

Consolidated

(3.3)
$ 95.0
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(12.0)
238.4
76.3
162.1
61.6
100.5
0.5

(26.5)
$ (24.9)

$(70.1)

(18.5)
$ 82.5

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Scotts Company
Statement of Cash Flows
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002
(in millions)
Parent
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
$ 82.5
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
for intangible assets, pre-tax
Depreciation
18.3
Amortization
3.8
Deferred taxes
21.2
Equity income in subsidiaries
(70.1)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of
acquired businesses:
Accounts receivable
(3.9)
Inventories
92.8
Prepaid and other current assets
(0.3)
Accounts payable
(15.3)
Accrued taxes and liabilities
1.3
Restructuring reserves
(20.5)
Other assets
(14.9)
Other liabilities
32.4
Other, net
(10.6)
Net cash provided by operating activities
116.7
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in property, plant and equipment
(34.1)
Investments in acquired businesses, net of
cash acquired
Payments on seller notes
(2.1)
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
(36.2)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net repayments under revolving and bank
lines of credit
(1.8)
Net repayments under term loans
(1.0)
Issuance of 85/8% senior subordinated notes,
net of issuance fees
70.2
Financing and issuance fees
(2.2)
Cash received from exercise of stock options
19.7
Intercompany ﬁnancing
(114.1)
Net cash provided by (used in)ﬁnancing
activities
(29.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase (decrease) in cash
51.3
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period
3.4
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
$ 54.7
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Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantors

Eliminations

Consolidated

$ 95.0

$(24.9)

$(70.1)

$ 82.5

3.3
9.2
1.7

26.5
6.9
3.6

29.8
34.4
9.1
21.2
70.1

(27.3)
3.7
(0.4)
(2.4)
9.5
0.7
4.1
0.2
(0.4)
96.9

2.3
2.9
(2.9)
(4.3)
6.7
(8.1)
6.3
1.0
9.3
25.3

(28.9)
99.4
(3.6)
(22.0)
17.5
(27.9)
(4.5)
33.6
(1.7)
238.9

(17.3)

(5.6)

(57.0)

(11.4)
7.0
(10.0)

(31.0)
(32.0)
7.0
(113.0)

(95.8)
(30.9)

(97.6)
(31.9)

(31.0)
(18.5)
(66.8)

70.2
(2.2)
19.7
(29.1)
(29.1)
1.0
1.0
$ 2.0

143.2
16.5
(3.1)
28.7
14.3
$ 43.0

(41.8)
(3.1)
81.0

$

18.7
$ 99.7

GOVERNANCE DOCUMENTS
In accordance with the requirements of Section 303A.10 of the New York Stock Exchange’s Listed
Company Manual, the Board of Directors of the Registrant has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics covering the Registrant’s Board members and associates, including, without limitation, the
Registrant’s principal executive ofﬁcer, principal ﬁnancial ofﬁcer and principal accounting ofﬁcer. The
Registrant intends to disclose the following on its Internet website located at
http://www.investor.scotts.com within four business days following their occurrence: (A) the date and
nature of any amendment to a provision of its Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that (i) applies to the
Registrant’s principal executive ofﬁcer, principal ﬁnancial ofﬁcer, principal accounting ofﬁcer or controller,
or persons performing similar functions, (ii) relates to any element of the code of ethics deﬁnition
enumerated in Item 406(b) of SEC Regulation S-K, and (iii) is not a technical, administrative or other nonsubstantive amendment; and (B) a description (including the nature of the waiver, the name of the person
to whom the waiver was granted and the date of the waiver) of any waiver, including an implicit waiver,
from a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to the Registrant’s principal executive ofﬁcer,
principal ﬁnancial ofﬁcer, principal accounting ofﬁcer or controller, or persons performing similar functions
that relates to one or more of the items set forth in Item 406(b) of SEC Regulation S-K.
The text of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Registrant’s Corporate Governance
Guidelines, the Audit Committee charter, the Governance and Nominating Committee charter and the
Compensation and Organization Committee charter are posted on the Registrant’s Internet website located
at http://www.investor.scotts.com. Interested persons may also obtain copies of each of these documents
without charge by writing to The Scotts Company, Attention: Corporate Secretary, 14111 Scottslawn Road,
Marysville, Ohio 43041.
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Shareholder Information
World Headquarters
14111 Scottslawn Road
Marysville, Ohio 43041
(937) 644-0011
www.scotts.com

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders
will be held at The Berger Learning Center,
14111 Scottslawn Road, Marysville, Ohio
43041, on Thursday, January 27, 2005, at
10:00 a.m. (EST).

in light of conditions then existing,
including the Company’s earnings, financial
condition and capital requirements, restrictions in financing agreements, business
conditions and other factors.

Stock Price Performance
See chart at right for stock price performance. The Scotts Company common
shares have been publicly traded since
January 31, 1992.

Shareholders
NYSE Symbol
The common shares of The Scotts
Company trade on the New
York Stock Exchange under
the symbol SMG.

As of November 1, 2004, there were
approximately 12,700 shareholders, including holders of record and The Scotts
Company’s estimate of beneficial holders.

Publications for Shareholders
Transfer Agent and Registrar
National City Bank
Corporate Trust Operations
P.O. Box 92301
Cleveland, Ohio 44193-0900

Shareholder and Investor
Relations Contacts
Paul F. DeSantis
Vice President, Treasurer
James D. King
Director, Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications
The Scotts Company
14111 Scottslawn Road
Marysville, Ohio 43041
(937) 644-0011

Dividends
The Scotts Company has not paid dividends
on its common shares in the past. Given
the Company’s rapidly improving financial
condition and levels of cash generated
by the business, The Scotts Company is
currently evaluating alternatives for the use
of cash generated in the future including
the potential payment of dividends and
share repurchases. The payment of future
dividends and share repurchases, if any, on
common shares will be determined by the
Board of Directors of The Scotts Company

In addition to this 2004 Annual Report,
The Scotts Company informs shareholders
about the Company through the
Form 10-K Report, the Form 10-Q Reports,
the Form 8-K Reports and the Notice of
Annual Meeting of Shareholders and
Proxy Statement.
Copies of any of these documents
may be obtained without charge on
our Investor Relations Web Site at
http://investor.scotts.com or by
writing to:
The Scotts Company
Attention: Corporate Secretary
14111 Scottslawn Road
Marysville, Ohio 43041

Certifications
The Scotts Company has filed the certifications of its chief executive officer and its
chief financial officer, required by Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as exhibits to its
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2004.
On March 8, 2004, The Scotts Company
submitted to the New York Stock Exchange
the annual certification of the chief executive officer of The Scotts Company required
by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York
Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

Stock Price Range
Fiscal year ended
September 30, 2004

High

Low

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$60.19
$63.95
$68.55
$64.20

$55.25
$57.83
$61.86
$56.02

Fiscal year ended
September 30, 2003

High

Low

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$49.97
$55.19
$57.70
$57.15

$43.54
$47.49
$46.65
$49.48

Safe Harbor Statement under
the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995:
Certain of the statements contained in
this 2004 Annual Report, including, but
not limited to, information regarding the
future financial performance and financial
condition of the Company, the plans and
objectives of the Company’s management,
and the Company’s assumptions regarding
such performance and plans are forwardlooking in nature. Actual results could
differ materially from the forward-looking
information in this 2004 Annual Report,
due to a variety of factors. Additional
detailed information concerning a number
of the important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the
forward-looking information contained in
this 2004 Annual Report is readily available
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended September
30, 2004, which is filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

The Scotts Company
14111 Scottslawn Road
Marysville, Ohio 43041
(937) 644-0011
www.scotts.com

